

1 if Mr. Peabody doesn't mind. He may have more  
 2 familiarity with the issue than I do, that specific  
 3 issue.  
 4 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Mr. Peabody, what do you say to  
 5 Ms. Bladen White?  
 6 MR. PEABODY: I would say, first, is it amazes me  
 7 that this building can be sold to another and go  
 8 through the tenants and not be under rent control. It  
 9 doesn't make sense.  
 10 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, it might've been built  
 11 after 1978?  
 12 MR. PEABODY: Well, why would the tenants be  
 13 allowed to purchase it?  
 14 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: All of the buildings constructed  
 15 after 1975 are not subject to rent control.  
 16 MR. PEABODY: Well, I agree with Mr. Krause in  
 17 this regard, and that is that there are bad actors  
 18 elsewhere.  
 19 I might point out that tenants and landlords alike  
 20 are drawn from the same morality pool, and it's,  
 21 therefore, up to the Council to be able to be in the  
 22 center and not go one side or the other.

1 And then there's the services and facilities, you know,  
 2 petition as well.  
 3 All of this is available --  
 4 MR. PEABODY: Can I --  
 5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: -- and --  
 6 MR. PEABODY: Can I respond?  
 7 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: May I state the question first?  
 8 MR. PEABODY: Yeah, mm-hmm.  
 9 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: May I state the question first?  
 10 MR. PEABODY: Yes, absolutely. Mm-hmm.  
 11 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And yet, what we're finding is  
 12 that these petitions are little used -- little used.  
 13 We've had two hardship petitions filed in the last two  
 14 years.  
 15 Now, maybe there's something -- and we've also got  
 16 strictures in the law requiring the Rent Administrator  
 17 to act within 60 days of a completed application.  
 18 I mean, I'm allowing for the possibility that this  
 19 is something that we should inquire into, and I'm  
 20 planning on inquiring into it today. But the fact of  
 21 the matter is that these mechanisms are there. You  
 22 have a guarantee of a 12 percent rate of return. I'd

1 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, I found your example of  
 2 comparing these rent control proposals to the  
 3 clearances in Southwest to be extreme, to say the  
 4 least.  
 5 You know, the thing that has puzzled me throughout  
 6 this hearing, so much so that I'm going to -- has Ms.  
 7 Zapata left?  
 8 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: She's in the hallway.  
 9 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Oh, because I'm actually going  
 10 to go back with her on this -- these issues of these  
 11 various petitions because you've heard me say over and  
 12 over again that landlords are entitled to a 12 percent  
 13 guaranteed rate of return on their investments. There  
 14 is a hardship petition which can be filed. They also  
 15 have available to them capital improvement petitions,  
 16 substantial rehab petitions. They can work with the  
 17 tenants to figure out -- you know, they can meet with  
 18 the tenants to say we're just not making it here, we  
 19 need some additional rents, and perhaps with an  
 20 exchange for various services. It's easy to imagine a  
 21 situation where the tenants would say, yes, it's okay,  
 22 and then they can come in with a voluntary agreement.

1 like a 12 percent rate of return guaranteed by law, you  
 2 know. And it's not a complex formula; in fact, it's  
 3 very simple once you pay attention to it. I mean, I  
 4 get one percent on my savings account.  
 5 MR. PEABODY: Can I respond?  
 6 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Why isn't 12 percent enough?  
 7 MR. PEABODY: Because it ain't 12 percent, and the  
 8 only way you're going to find out what it really is is  
 9 by going and putting on a landlord hat and trying it  
 10 yourself in a role play situation. Then you will begin  
 11 to find out how the thing really works. And you can  
 12 try not only the hardship, but the capital improvement,  
 13 and many of those other petitions, and you will start  
 14 finding out that they are illusory, and that they are  
 15 so difficult that, indeed, people haven't used the  
 16 comparables and the 12 percents to get the increases  
 17 they need without going through those things.  
 18 And if you want to really be honest about it, the  
 19 '85 Act, which increased those two, the 12 percent and  
 20 the comparable, was really, as you say it, an  
 21 evisceration of the rent control law because there were  
 22 quite a few people that want to get rid of it, but

Page 350

1 couldn't figure out a way to do it politically, and,  
 2 therefore, they did it on this basis, which is on a  
 3 rolling average.  
 4 So now, what's happening is that without that, we  
 5 sink back into the old rent control law, which nobody  
 6 uses today because it's too difficult. And it is going  
 7 to be much too difficult to use in the future, which  
 8 this legislation is going to force them to do.  
 9 So, before you put us back into that mess --  
 10 before you put us back into that mess, do the  
 11 responsible thing and really understand the -- both  
 12 sides of the issue. At this moment, it doesn't seem  
 13 that you do because you keep saying we get the 12  
 14 percent, but we all tell you that it's an illusion.  
 15 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Mr. Peabody, have you filed a  
 16 hardship petition?  
 17 MR. PEABODY: Didn't have to.  
 18 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Have you filed a hardship  
 19 petition?  
 20 MR. PEABODY: Years ago, I did, in fact, file on.  
 21 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Do you own or manage rental  
 22 buildings --

Page 351

1 MR. PEABODY: I do.  
 2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: -- subject to rent control?  
 3 MR. PEABODY: I do.  
 4 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Okay. And have you made capital  
 5 improvements in those buildings?  
 6 MR. PEABODY: I have.  
 7 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And have you filed a capital  
 8 improvement petition?  
 9 MR. PEABODY: No, it wasn't necessary for me  
 10 because, indeed, the rents that I was getting under the  
 11 12 percent -- I'm getting market rents because, indeed,  
 12 I've had a higher -- the ceilings are higher than what  
 13 the market is.  
 14 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And, you see, that is what I --  
 15 you weren't here earlier, but I made that point  
 16 earlier. That's the principle reason. I mean, there  
 17 may be procedural issues. There may be paperwork  
 18 issues. But the principle reason is that the more  
 19 hardship petitions or capital improvement petitions  
 20 have not filed. The principle reason, is it you're  
 21 getting the rents that you want through the operation  
 22 of these amendments which were passed in 1985?

Page 352

1 Please, Mr. Peabody, don't come before me and tell  
 2 me I don't understand something. I have spent, if I  
 3 may. I've been chairman of this committee since  
 4 January the 1st. I've spent an enormous amount of time  
 5 understanding these laws. And the way to start this is  
 6 with a feeling of respect mutually exchanged. You  
 7 don't respect me when you tell me that what this is  
 8 about is the Southwest clearances. You don't respect  
 9 me. And you don't respect me when you tell me I don't  
 10 know what I'm doing, okay? So, thank you very much for  
 11 your testimony.  
 12 The next panel -- let's see. We have some people  
 13 that we passed earlier -- yes, I know. We have Mary  
 14 HUEG. Is she here? Am I mispronouncing your name?  
 15 MS. HUEG: HUEG.  
 16 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: HUEG, all right, come on  
 17 forward, please. Campbell Johnson, I saw Campbell  
 18 Johnson. We had passed him earlier. Is Commissioner  
 19 Lindeman here?  
 20 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Yes.  
 21 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Oh, come forward, please,  
 22 Commissioner. We passed you, too. And Lorena Cubanans,

Page 353

1 Rittenhouse Tenants Association. Are you -- wait just  
 2 a minute. Okay. We want to give everybody a chance  
 3 here. Just one second.  
 4 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Can I be on the ballot?  
 5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You want to be on the ballot  
 6 again?  
 7 [Laughter.]  
 8 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: If ever there was a Freudian  
 9 slip. You can be on the ballot. Now, wait a minute,  
 10 let me get myself clear here. Here's Commissioner  
 11 Lindeman. There you are, right?  
 12 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Yes.  
 13 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Okay, good. And I know Campbell  
 14 Johnson is here now. And Mary HUEG?  
 15 MS. HUEG: HUEG.  
 16 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Could you spell your name for  
 17 me, please?  
 18 MS. HUEG: H-U-E-G  
 19 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: HUEG, yes, good.  
 20 MS. HUEG: Thank you.  
 21 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Okay, that makes it very clear.  
 22 Thank you so much.

Page 354	Page 356
<p>1 MS. HUEG: You're welcome.</p> <p>2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And now, yes, your name again?</p> <p>3 MR. SILVERS: Frederick Silvers.</p> <p>4 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Oh, here you are, Bojan?</p> <p>5 MR. SILVERS: Yes.</p> <p>6 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Is that correctly pronounced?</p> <p>7 MR. SILVERS: Say it once more.</p> <p>8 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Bojan?</p> <p>9 MR. SILVERS: Bojan.</p> <p>10 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Bojan.</p> <p>11 MR. SILVERS: Bojan.</p> <p>12 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Okay. Will you come forward,</p> <p>13 please?</p> <p>14 All right. Commissioner Lindeman, you're up</p> <p>15 first, and then Mr. Silvers, and then Mary Hueg, and</p> <p>16 then Campbell Johnson. So, it's a perfect order,</p> <p>17 actually, the way you sat.</p> <p>18 So, Commissioner?</p> <p>19 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Yes. Thank you,</p> <p>20 Councilmember.</p> <p>21 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, wait, I have to ask. Are</p> <p>22 you representing ANC 3C?</p>	<p>1 apologize for being late. I heard you call my name</p> <p>2 before the school day was out, and I was just getting</p> <p>3 ready to leave my classroom. And, I'm like, oh, my</p> <p>4 goodness, I can't be in two places at once. But I</p> <p>5 appreciate you waiting.</p> <p>6 We passed a resolution in ANC 3C. It's Resolution</p> <p>7 2005-063, which you should have a copy there. We were</p> <p>8 unaware at the time that there were five bills before you, so</p> <p>9 it only addressed 16457 and 458. But it has</p> <p>10 information that actually pertains to a few of the</p> <p>11 other bills that are before you today. And we would</p> <p>12 have included all of them had we known that there were</p> <p>13 five.</p> <p>14 But I'll read the resolution. "Whereas, it is not</p> <p>15 in the best interests of the District of Columbia</p> <p>16 government to discourage the tens of thousands of</p> <p>17 taxpaying residents/renters, who reside in the</p> <p>18 District, to flee to neighboring jurisdictions in an</p> <p>19 attempt to find affordable renting housing, and whereas</p> <p>20 there is a need to strengthen rent control for the tens</p> <p>21 of thousands of taxpaying residents/renters in the</p> <p>22 District of Columbia, and whereas the potential</p>
Page 355	Page 357
<p>1 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Yes, I am.</p> <p>2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: The Commission?</p> <p>3 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Yes, and since I'm a</p> <p>4 District government official, do you need me sworn in?</p> <p>5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: No, I'm not going to swear you</p> <p>6 in.</p> <p>7 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Okay. I'm just checking.</p> <p>8 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Fred Silvers, are you</p> <p>9 representing Bojan?</p> <p>10 MR. SILVERS: Yes.</p> <p>11 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Okay. You get five minutes.</p> <p>12 Mary Hueg, are you representing Sawyer Realty Holdings?</p> <p>13 MS. HUEG: Yes.</p> <p>14 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You get five minutes. And,</p> <p>15 Campbell Johnson, are you representing the Urban</p> <p>16 Housing Alliance?</p> <p>17 MR. JOHNSON: Yes, and Dorchester Tenants</p> <p>18 Association.</p> <p>19 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And the Dorchester, okay. So,</p> <p>20 you don't get 10 minutes, though. You just get -- so</p> <p>21 everybody gets five minutes.</p> <p>22 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: And I just want to</p>	<p>1 negative impact of passing rent control legislation</p> <p>2 needs to be properly and expertly researched or</p> <p>3 assessed from a tenant perspective, and, whereas</p> <p>4 tenants should fully be protected in their right to</p> <p>5 organize; therefore, be it resolved, that ANC 3C</p> <p>6 supports Bill 16-458, Right of Tenants to Organize</p> <p>7 Amendment Act of 2005 in its entirety, and, be it</p> <p>8 further resolved that ANC 3C supports Bill 16-457 with</p> <p>9 the following exceptions: (1) ANC 3C urges the Council</p> <p>10 to repeal the concept of the rent ceiling and replace</p> <p>11 it with a more straightforward and transparent method</p> <p>12 of limiting vacancy increases, and/or to allow a look</p> <p>13 back provision to tenants as far back as is necessary</p> <p>14 to establish a rent ceiling that has not been inflated</p> <p>15 artificially and/or capriciously by multiple vacancy</p> <p>16 comparable increases, flexible lease terms, or other</p> <p>17 landlord friendly tactics; (2) The percentage by which</p> <p>18 the suggested new paragraph 1(a) of Section 208(h) D.C.</p> <p>19 Official Code 42-3502.08(h) should be limited to a</p> <p>20 percentage equal to or less than the normal cost of</p> <p>21 living index for Washington, D.C., the CPIW only; and,</p> <p>22 be it further resolved, that ANC 3C urges the Mayor to</p>

Page 358

1 appoint a tenant advocate as soon as possible, and  
 2 urges the Council to research this matter with due  
 3 diligence, and to continue dialogue and further  
 4 hearings on this matter in the interim; and, be it  
 5 further resolved, that ANC 3C authorizes the ANC 3C  
 6 chair, the chair of the ANC 3C Committee on Consumer  
 7 and Regulatory Affairs" -- that's me -- "and/or their  
 8 designees to represent ANC 3C on this matter. Attested  
 9 by our Chair, Nancy McWood, October 17, 2005, passed  
 10 unanimously 8-0 by a quorum of eight of nine  
 11 commissioners." And we would have had more to say had  
 12 we known there were three other bills.

13 Now, may I change hats just for a moment? As a  
 14 tenant, obviously I'm extremely interested in tenants'  
 15 rights. I've been listening to your testimony in  
 16 between classes today. I did get a chance to hear Mr.  
 17 Martin, who represents my tenant association. When he  
 18 mentioned about three apartments that had vacancy  
 19 increases on renewal, I'm one of those.

20 And not only that, but I've been doing research.  
 21 I've been down at DCRA. I've gone through about 265  
 22 out of nearly 500 files for our building thus far. And

Page 359

1 I have found our landlord double dipping, in some cases  
 2 in my present apartment taking the annual increase and  
 3 the vacancy increase at the same time; in many  
 4 apartments, taking a vacancy increase, in one case 947  
 5 percent on a vacancy because an elderly lady vacated  
 6 her apartment. It went up from about \$800 something to  
 7 \$8,800 and something. Right now, mine is \$8,330, and  
 8 I'm paying \$1,565 in rent, which I think is still  
 9 excessive, but unless -- I'm like other tenants allowed  
 10 to go back and challenge all the illegal increases on  
 11 all the apartments for the comparable increases were  
 12 taken, we'll never really find out what really was  
 13 supposed to take place in the building.

14 And it's really atrocious that landlords are  
 15 getting away with sticking us, and at the same time,  
 16 not providing services. And I wanted to say thank you  
 17 to you and your staff for assisting in our turmoil this  
 18 week with no heat in the building for rents like that.

19 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Yes, thank you very much. We  
 20 have been involved with your building this week.

21 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Intimately, and not just  
 22 this week, but over the course of several months. And

Page 360

1 there's more to come, Councilmember Graham. You  
 2 deserve gold stars. And Mr. Cohen deserves gold stars,  
 3 and everybody else on your staff.

4 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, we like gold stars.

5 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: And teachers give away  
 6 gold stars.

7 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And that reminds me of an  
 8 earlier time in my life. But thank you very much,  
 9 Commissioner. We appreciate that.

10 And now, we go to Mr. Silvers -- Mr. Silvers, for  
 11 your testimony. Silvers.

12 MR. SILVERS: Silvers -- yes, it's Silvers.

13 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I beg your pardon.

14 MR. SILVER: Most of my friends call me Silverman,  
 15 so that's okay.

16 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Could you speak into the  
 17 microphone?

18 MR. SILVER: Oh, sorry about that.

19 Mr. Graham, I have worked in Washington in  
 20 property management since 1987. Prior to starting my  
 21 professional career in real estate, I worked with the  
 22 Adams Morgan Community Development as a volunteer, H

Page 361

1 Street Community Development Corporation as a  
 2 volunteer. And even though I work professionally with  
 3 the real estate company and the property management,  
 4 I've always considered myself a tenant advocate.

5 And with that said, I, like many landlords and  
 6 property managers, are advocates of affordable housing  
 7 and sensible rent control. Many of the properties in  
 8 Washington, particularly my properties, we have tenants  
 9 which have resided in those properties since 1969. So,  
 10 the rents have been suppressed for a long, long time.

11 Oftentimes when the tenants move out, our only  
 12 hope of recovering is really the vacancy increase, you  
 13 know, in particularly the 213(b), being able to push  
 14 that rent up to the highest comparable level.

15 Our properties, like many of the properties and  
 16 many of the landowners in Washington, have faced  
 17 increasing costs of utilities, 18 percent with --

18 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You're not being picked up on  
 19 the -- you have to speak directly into the microphone.

20 MR. SILVER: Oh, okay. Sorry about that. Is that  
 21 better?

22 With my group of properties, we've faced

Page 362

1 incredible increases across the board, 18 percent  
 2 increase with Pepco. Over the last few years, we've  
 3 faced a 10 percent increase in water with WASA, a 30  
 4 percent increase in gas this year with Washington Gas  
 5 and Light alone, and we anticipate that that's going up  
 6 considerably.  
 7 When a tenant moves out of the unit, our only hope  
 8 of being able to address these ever increasing costs is  
 9 the 213(b), being able to go up on the rent to the  
 10 highest comparable unit.  
 11 In any event, in many of our properties, like I  
 12 was saying before, we have tenants that have resided in  
 13 these properties for 30, 35 years, so these rents have  
 14 been suppressed for a long time. And if we're  
 15 permitted only that one percent increase for each year  
 16 since the last vacancy increase, for us that's going to  
 17 be hard because we haven't -- that's a long time to go  
 18 without being able to push your rents up to market.  
 19 With many of our properties, we've been able to  
 20 keep the rents down on the older tenants, which is sort  
 21 of our goal. Many of us recognize the fact that our  
 22 older tenants are usually the ones on fixed incomes;

Page 363

1 thus, they're the ones who can least afford a cap to  
 2 pay the rents on a capital improvement, a hardship  
 3 petition, or any other type of special petition that  
 4 allows their rent to go up beyond the normal CPL  
 5 If landlords are faced with this one percent since  
 6 the last vacancy increase, they're going to lose  
 7 income. They're going to lose income. They're not  
 8 going to be able to do -- make major improvements in  
 9 their properties, such as -- for example, right now  
 10 with the utilities costs being what they are, most  
 11 landlords are really focusing on preventive maintenance  
 12 with respect to their heating and air systems, trying  
 13 to make them run as efficiently as humanly possible.  
 14 However, with that said, with that said, there are  
 15 times when you simply have to replace these units. And  
 16 as units become vacant, you typically make the decision  
 17 then to go in and to gut the unit out, to replace the  
 18 unit with a more effective, more efficient unit. If  
 19 you're only allowed that one percent since the last  
 20 vacancy increase, it's really going to put you in a  
 21 shell. It's going to make it much more difficult for  
 22 you to do that.

Page 364

1 Most landlords enjoy the 213(b) because it allows  
 2 them to pass the buck onto the newer tenants and allow  
 3 their older tenants to pay the lower rents.  
 4 We've been -- I mean, we had a tenant who just  
 5 this past Friday, she lived in one of our buildings  
 6 since 1968. In our particular case, not only do we  
 7 manage our buildings, but we've built all of our  
 8 buildings from scratch. So, we have a real affinity  
 9 for most of our tenants, and we really try to work with  
 10 them.  
 11 And we've never had a complaint with DCRA on an  
 12 illegal rent increase. We rarely ever get -- we rarely  
 13 ever have inspectors at the properties for housing  
 14 infractions.  
 15 Sorry. That's it. Thank you.  
 16 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Thank you, Mr. Silvers.  
 17 And now we go to Mary Hueg.  
 18 MS. HUEG: Thank you for seeing me today. I am  
 19 here to oppose Bill Number B. 16-457, the Rent Control  
 20 Reform Amendment Act of 2005.  
 21 I manage two mid-size apartment communities in the  
 22 Northeast district. The buildings are very old. They

Page 365

1 were built in the early 30s. And they're very costly  
 2 to maintain.  
 3 In addition to the costs just to maintain the  
 4 buildings, our rents include utilities.  
 5 At this time looking into the near future, we are  
 6 experiencing substantial increased costs in the utility  
 7 area as well as the property taxes and the increased  
 8 insurance premiums.  
 9 I have many long-term residents in both locations  
 10 that are considerably under market rents. This bill  
 11 force the housing providers to raise the rents on these  
 12 long-term residents more aggressively than we would  
 13 have otherwise.  
 14 The highest comparable provision allows us to  
 15 catch up the rent on the vacant apartment that was just  
 16 occupied by a long-term resident. The new resident  
 17 would pay an amount closer to what the actual market  
 18 rent would be. When this process is done, there is  
 19 less pressure to raise rents on existing residents.  
 20 Without the ability to balance the rents in my  
 21 building, to charge the new residents the higher rents,  
 22 I would have no choice but to raise the rents of my

Page 366

1 current residents.  
 2 Both buildings have had significant improvements  
 3 -- new front entrance, monitoring cameras, trash  
 4 compactors, renovated building lobbies, and even more  
 5 for the year 2006. This work was done without  
 6 substantial rent increases on current residents because  
 7 the vacancy turnover provision that has been a part of  
 8 an essential part of housing providers' ability to  
 9 invest in upgrades and maintenance of our buildings has  
 10 allowed us to recover more of the costs from the new  
 11 residents.  
 12 If I don't have the ability to charge the higher  
 13 rents on the vacant units and this bill puts new more  
 14 severe restrictions on increases than we can hand out  
 15 to the current residents, the Council would be ensuring  
 16 that less money will be spent on maintaining and  
 17 improving the city's rental housing.  
 18 None of the buildings all around my communities  
 19 have been converted to luxury condominium buildings.  
 20 It's also affecting the prospective renter coming into  
 21 Washington, D.C. to have less of an opportunity to a  
 22 moderately priced rental in the District.

Page 367

1 I didn't add that I'm new to the area, so I am  
 2 learning the Washington law and have been going through  
 3 seminars to grasp how this whole system works. But  
 4 that's all I had to add today.  
 5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Thank you very much, Ms. Hueg.  
 6 Mr. Johnson?  
 7 MR. JOHNSON: Yes. Thank you very much, Chairman  
 8 Graham. I'll just briefly state that I'm President of  
 9 the Dorchester Tenants Association. I've been a tenant  
 10 and a board member for 26 years. I also -- I am Chair  
 11 of the Urban Housing Alliance, which is a community  
 12 based organization that's concerned with displacement  
 13 of low and moderate income persons.  
 14 In regard to Bill 1648, Disclosure of the Rent  
 15 Ceiling Calculation, this bill is essential is rent  
 16 control or rent stabilization is to have a meaning.  
 17 First, I must say that rent ceilings should be removed.  
 18 However, in regard to this bill, it's essential that  
 19 the rent ceiling information be provided not just to  
 20 current tenants, but to prospective tenants upon  
 21 application for a rent control unit.  
 22 Secondly, I would add that it's critical that the

Page 368

1 purpose and approval dates of all capital improvement  
 2 petitions that have not been applied, that this  
 3 information would be included in the information that  
 4 the tenant or prospective tenant would receive.  
 5 Additionally, the need to focus on the exploration  
 6 of capital improvements because despite the long time  
 7 that I've lived in the Dorchester and the 16 years  
 8 during which there have been very aggressive capital  
 9 improvements, there's been nothing that has been a  
 10 reduction in our rents. So, that's, I think, a  
 11 critical issue.  
 12 With regard to Bill 1651, there's no public  
 13 benefit or justice in allowing a landlord to continue  
 14 charging an illegal rent or using an illegal rent  
 15 ceiling because of the amount of time that's passed  
 16 between the current time and since the calculation was  
 17 made. I have to refer to this as the stop stealing  
 18 act, and I think that it's critical that landlords in  
 19 that regard who are taking unfair advantage stop  
 20 stealing from tenants.  
 21 There's a case that you may be well aware of, TP  
 22 3788, that goes back to 1978, and it's follow-on cases.

Page 369

1 These are all based on findings that DCRA  
 2 substantiated of charges -- rent charges that were made  
 3 inappropriately.  
 4 Housing providers must be held accountable for the  
 5 rent ceiling calculations if the tenant is to have a  
 6 possibility of confirming or disputing the rent  
 7 ceiling. Often used opposing argument is that the  
 8 building was recently sold and a new buyer may not have  
 9 records. In a rent control city, a buyer has, as part  
 10 of its due diligence, a requirement to get this kind of  
 11 information so that there would be these kinds of  
 12 records available.  
 13 With regard to Bill 16-109, and I'm sprinting  
 14 through rather quickly to just hit the highlights of  
 15 these. Over the course of a lease, most rents amount  
 16 to the greatest expense facing a tenant. There's no  
 17 legitimate reason to deny tenants the right to  
 18 essential identified information in the bill. We have  
 19 a truth in lending bill that relates to the purchase of  
 20 major property, such as cars, such as homes. This is  
 21 effectively the same kind of thing for renter.  
 22 In regards to the Bill 16-457, the Rent Control

Page 370

1 Reform Amendment Act of 2005, I think that Section 213  
 2 should be amended in favor of the bill, but there's  
 3 need for amendment. The one percent increase should be  
 4 made on the rent charge, not on the rent ceiling.  
 5 Secondly, the total amount of such an increase  
 6 should be capped at 10 percent. Thirdly, there should  
 7 be a \$50 limit on any rent increase. These kinds of  
 8 egregious rent increases that people have had to face  
 9 in the absence of this bill really help to displace low  
 10 and moderate income persons.  
 11 Making the changes I requested will benefit  
 12 tenants and discourage the practice of some housing  
 13 providers to push out long-term and senior tenants so  
 14 they can reap a bonus in aggressively pushing for  
 15 vacancy increases. And I frankly know of many abuses,  
 16 including a Dorchester resident manager who reportedly  
 17 often angrily told elderly tenants that they should go  
 18 into a nursing home just to get them out of their  
 19 apartments that they've lived in a for a long period of  
 20 time.  
 21 With regards to Bill 16-458, the Tenants Right to  
 22 Organize, while we endorse it, we certainly believe

Page 371

1 that there are several important additions that need to  
 2 be made. First, the right to organize should be  
 3 available to all tenants in the District, not just  
 4 those in buildings built before 1975.  
 5 Additionally, this right should be made available  
 6 to tenants and subsidized in public housing. There's  
 7 no reason for them to be disenfranchised, and I think  
 8 we're looking at a constitutional problem in this  
 9 regard.  
 10 And I will wrap up with just these final points.  
 11 In Section 606(c)(5), it should be expanded to include  
 12 permitting meetings in lobbies. In many buildings,  
 13 lobbies are the only available common space. That, I  
 14 think, is a key element.  
 15 Additionally, housing providers should be required  
 16 to allow tenant organizations and tenant organizers to  
 17 use the building's non-postal internal mailboxes for  
 18 the distribution of communications associated with  
 19 tenant associations. Mailboxes are a reasonable  
 20 accommodation that's often denied organizations and  
 21 tenant associations.  
 22 Tenants should be able to sue for damages

Page 372

1 additionally in regard to the penalties for a violation  
 2 of this law. And these damages include lost revenue  
 3 expenses and non-attorney costs for tenants.  
 4 Lastly, the \$10,000 base fine should be indexed to  
 5 the CPI so that its significance will not diminish over  
 6 time.  
 7 Thank you for the opportunity to present these  
 8 issues and concerns. I'd be pleased to respond to your  
 9 questions and to work with you in regard to  
 10 strengthening these bills.  
 11 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, thank you very much.  
 12 We're going to want to go over your very thoughtful and  
 13 specific suggestions, Mr. Johnson. I do believe,  
 14 though, that the right of tenants to organize applies  
 15 to any tenant in the District of Columbia.  
 16 MR. JOHNSON: Okay.  
 17 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: So, I know, you know, that would  
 18 be very problematic. I immediately got alarmed to  
 19 think that we were just applying it to rent control  
 20 buildings. But we will look very carefully at your  
 21 other points as well.  
 22 And we did also -- I have now confirmed that the

Page 373

1 base fine is linked to the CPI.  
 2 MR. JOHNSON: Okay.  
 3 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And so, it will increase over  
 4 time. So, we'll look at all of those points, but we  
 5 very much appreciate you making them.  
 6 And thank you very much for your ANC Commission  
 7 resolution.  
 8 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Thank you. And, you know,  
 9 working diligently as a renter, my single member  
 10 district in Woodley Park is predominantly rental  
 11 housing, or I should say larger buildings. Most of my  
 12 constituents do not live in private homes, although  
 13 there are a lot of group homes in the neighborhood that  
 14 have been turned into apartments. The minority of my  
 15 constituency actually live in properties that they own,  
 16 and so I'm representing a lot of people.  
 17 And, you know, the 10 percent cap would be  
 18 wonderful. If you'll bear with me for one moment, last  
 19 year I was faced with an increase in my own apartment  
 20 if I didn't sign on to one of these flexible leases  
 21 where then they took this, you know, vacancy increase.  
 22 I would've had a \$631 rent increase. That was nearly

1 50 percent.  
 2 And if I chose to continue on 12 months with one  
 3 of these outrageous flexible leases, which I think  
 4 should not even be legal, I was given \$261 increase.  
 5 And the apartment in which I just moved, I asked about  
 6 all the information, the breakdown on what the possible  
 7 increases could be in the future. I had to move for a  
 8 number of reasons, a defective apartment. But now I'm  
 9 faced with one of the multiple choices that the  
 10 landlord can take of a potential \$2,900 increase  
 11 legally because there's not just the rent that you're  
 12 charged and the rent ceiling, there's the highest  
 13 allowable, maximum allowable rent. And they could if  
 14 they want to hit this very active tenant with an  
 15 increase to drive me out of the building. They could  
 16 hit me with a \$2,900 rent increase next year. That's  
 17 just outrageous.  
 18 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, Commissioner, I want to --  
 19 you know, you've testified that you received a vacancy.  
 20 You were treated as if you were vacant.  
 21 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: And I wasn't vacant; I was  
 22 in the very same apartment behind the same door with

1 the same furniture.  
 2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Right. We have --  
 3 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: And it's part of the  
 4 tenant -- it's not part of this tenant petition, but  
 5 that just shouldn't be allowed. And the double dipping  
 6 where they've taken a vacancy increase and they've  
 7 taken the annual increase on the same documents that  
 8 DCRA has on file, or where they take a vacancy  
 9 increase, but then they didn't like it and they have  
 10 another higher comparable apartment a few months later  
 11 when the apartment's still vacant, they'll take another  
 12 vacancy increase to a different highest comparable.  
 13 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, I'm just going to suggest,  
 14 Commissioner, Ms. Zapata is here. I think --  
 15 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Ms. Zapata and I know each  
 16 other quite well.  
 17 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well then, I think you should  
 18 further enhance that relationship because I would like  
 19 to know what's going on here.  
 20 Now, let me just say --  
 21 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: And, like I said, this is  
 22 from analyzing 265 documents.

1 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: No, let me speak. Commissioner.  
 2 Commissioner, please.  
 3 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Sure.  
 4 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Please, please, please. You  
 5 must permit me to be the chairman.  
 6 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: I'm sorry.  
 7 [Laughter.]  
 8 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You know. Mary Hueg, you know,  
 9 I think you have put your finger on this dilemma that  
 10 we have, I really do. And just testimony and just a  
 11 few words actually. I think you have really nailed  
 12 this for me. And, you know, because there is a dilemma  
 13 here, you know, and we're going to look into this whole  
 14 petition process and why it's not being used, and how  
 15 efficient or inefficient it is.  
 16 But you make the point that the vacancy turnover  
 17 provision has been extremely important to landlords to  
 18 catch up. Others have said that same thing.  
 19 MS. HUEG: Yes.  
 20 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: The problem is that by --  
 21 through the process of catching up, we no longer have  
 22 these affordable units. So, you see, when people have

1 testified here, oh, Councilmember, the sky is going to  
 2 fall, all of this is going to be condo, it's all going  
 3 to be sold off, you won't have any rental housing  
 4 that's affordable.  
 5 You know, the fact of the matter is that if we  
 6 maintain the status quo, it's happening. And I can  
 7 tell you I don't need any study, although the studies  
 8 are helpful, I know from Ward 1 that it's happening, is  
 9 that apartment by apartment, whole buildings are  
 10 becoming luxury that previously were affordable.  
 11 So, you see, if we do nothing, it's going to be  
 12 the same result under one theory of how to -- well, of  
 13 what's going to happen. Do you understand what I'm  
 14 saying?  
 15 MS. HUEG: Yes.  
 16 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Because, you know, we have  
 17 somewhat stood by. And I've only been chairman of this  
 18 committee since January 1st of this year. I think I've  
 19 moved with -- this is an immodest statement, so brace  
 20 yourself -- with remarkable, you know, speed, you know,  
 21 in terms of addressing a whole raft of issues that  
 22 heretofore were unaddressed. So, I've had only 10



1 months of this, you know, and we've done a lot in 10  
2 months, and we're going to do more in the next 10  
3 months.

4 But the fact of the matter is that for a long  
5 period of time in a red hot real estate market, you  
6 know, this government did nothing about these rent  
7 control strictures. And what has resulted is these  
8 luxury apartment buildings where previously they were  
9 affordable apartment buildings.

10 So, I can look into the future somewhat, and I  
11 know what the future holds. Now, we had a witness  
12 earlier here who had no rent control. She wasn't  
13 subject to rent control. So, she's subject to sky high  
14 increases. We're very sorry, but that's just your  
15 reality. At least we have a vestige of control here  
16 that is actually benefiting people.

17 So, I think for me, you know, you really opened  
18 the door to really understanding this, because if we do  
19 nothing, we're going to lose these affordable units.

20 In any neighborhood that has a red hot real estate  
21 market, which is all of Ward 1, these units are going  
22 to vanish or continue to vanish. And if we do

1 up some of the work that we've been doing here, but  
2 very little. We've taken most of it on ourselves. And  
3 I'm just here to speak today to say that we're, you  
4 know, we've been good with what we have now. We're  
5 just trying to find a way that works.

6 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: If you look with me, and I know  
7 you don't have this, but, of course, the Commissioner  
8 knows this. But Alex Martin put together this really  
9 some helpful, you know, factual information.

10 If you look at this, which is the Cleveland House  
11 apartments, you know, you have 200 -- more than 240  
12 apartments here. And I haven't studied this. I  
13 obviously haven't had time to study this. But I'd say  
14 there were not a half a dozen apartments than this list  
15 of rent ceilings that had a rent ceiling under \$1,000,  
16 not a half a dozen.

17 And what you're also saying in your testimony --  
18 I'm sorry to emphasize your testimony so much, but it  
19 was really very good.

20 MS. HUEG: Well, thank you.

21 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Is what you're also saying, and  
22 you're right, is that some of these few apartments, and

1 something, well, maybe there will be more buildings  
2 that will go condo. Maybe there will be buildings that  
3 will be sold and that the historic owners give up.  
4 Maybe that will happen. But I think there's a better  
5 chance of maintaining affordability that route than  
6 doing nothing. And I would appreciate -- your  
7 testimony is so thoughtful on this point.

8 MS. HUEG: Thank you.

9 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I'd appreciate your response.

10 MS. HUEG: Thank you.

11 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: What do you say?

12 MS. HUEG: I mean, I'm learning the process  
13 myself. We actually use RCC to help us to keep the  
14 guidelines, you know, forward and, you know, so that  
15 we've kind of taken it out of the hands of the  
16 operation of the office so that we stay tight with the  
17 rent control there.

18 You know, just learning, taking on the vacants  
19 with the increases rather than looking for something  
20 from the current residents, because we do have some  
21 long-term residents in these buildings. That's where  
22 we've been using some of the funds to, you know, make

1 there are very few indeed, they will no longer be  
2 having these terribly low rent ceilings because as we  
3 encourage people to file petitions for one reason or  
4 another, you know, the rent ceilings in a specific unit  
5 or building wide, and it can be either, are going to go  
6 up. They're going to go up because the fact of the  
7 matter is, that is what the law provides unless we  
8 change that portion of the law. And the owners in that  
9 case would have, you know, even less incentive to do  
10 anything at all.

11 MS. HUEG: Right.

12 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Councilmember, in one  
13 apartment in that building, it's not quite accurately  
14 reflected there because they took the increase before.  
15 I believe it's apartment 307.

16 The previous rent charged was about \$843 a month.

17 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I don't have a 307.

18 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: 306 then.

19 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Okay.

20 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: The elderly tenant died.  
21 As soon as she left, the rent ceiling went up to  
22 \$8,111, and then up to \$8,330 before a new tenant

1 rented at a rent of probably about \$1,600 a month.  
 2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: As you see.  
 3 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: That's just outrageous.  
 4 That's almost 1,000 percent.  
 5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: That's the point, Commissioner.  
 6 So, we have to surrender us in the -- I'm so glad you  
 7 mentioned that specific apartment. You know, to do  
 8 nothing is to surrender to that reality, is to say it's  
 9 all gone, and that the Cleveland -- I mean, I would say  
 10 that the Cleveland House is really -- I mean, you talk  
 11 about and you want a case for a -- you want to see  
 12 gentrification, you see it right here, you know.  
 13 And what's the other side, if you will, and there  
 14 has been two sides to this discussion today, saying,  
 15 leave us alone so that we can -- so that all of these  
 16 affordable units, when they're in red hot real estate  
 17 markets, are going to vanish.  
 18 And what I'm saying in response, and I am willing  
 19 to work on this. I am willing to have a dialogue about  
 20 this. I think we have to do it in mutual respect, but  
 21 you've got to understand that that's what's at stake.  
 22 And I can give you building after building, Mr.

1 Johnson, you know what I'm talking about.  
 2 MR. JOHNSON: Absolutely.  
 3 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Building after building in my  
 4 neighborhood where we've lost them irretrievably, and  
 5 that affects the diversity of the neighborhood. It  
 6 affects who lives in the neighborhood. I mean, this is  
 7 a key issue for us.  
 8 So, if what I presented is no good for whatever  
 9 reason, tell me what you want to do that will have as a  
 10 result the preservation of affordable housing in these  
 11 rental units. Mr. Johnson?  
 12 MR. JOHNSON: Yes. Councilmember Graham, it  
 13 wasn't too many years ago that the Nathanson report was  
 14 very highly touted by our control board. And one of  
 15 the conclusions that they came out with was that the  
 16 rents in the District were comparable to those in the  
 17 suburbs. Now, as a result of that conclusion, they  
 18 said we don't need control.  
 19 Well, I think another conclusion could be drawn  
 20 from that fact, and that is that rent control is  
 21 totally and completely impotent at that time, and we  
 22 desperately need rent control, and we need to have it

1 strengthened.  
 2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, if I may say, Mr. Johnson,  
 3 I mean, the testimony -- let me get this right -- of  
 4 Lauren Bladen White, you know, that was a little  
 5 glimpse. I mean, she came here from a non-rent control  
 6 building to report that, you know, the owner decided,  
 7 well, for whatever reason your rents are going up 60  
 8 percent. And, you know, and there you have it.  
 9 And so, as weak as our current rent control might  
 10 be, and I think a lot of people do consider it weak,  
 11 it's a thumb in the dyke.  
 12 Now, let's -- we can come back to you,  
 13 Commissioner. I know you have a great many thoughts on  
 14 this issue, but let's see what Mr. Silvers has to say.  
 15 MR. SILVERS: Well, my concern with this -- I'm  
 16 listening to her regarding the unit where the rent went  
 17 up by \$8,000. Oftentimes when you see these increased  
 18 rents on the vacancy increase, it's a reflection of  
 19 turnover. It's a reflection there have been a lot of  
 20 evictions. It's a reflection of a lot of move outs.  
 21 The landlord has to be given the opportunity to  
 22 recover from these losses. I mean, vacancy increases

1 on the flip side, it says the landlord is losing  
 2 income. Tenants are moving. They're vacating the  
 3 premises whether they're moving on their own or whether  
 4 they're being evicted from the premises. There are  
 5 actual losses being incurred by the landlord. The  
 6 vacancy increases have traditionally allowed the  
 7 landlord to recover those losses.  
 8 If you're a tenant and you're paying that, it's  
 9 one thing. But vacancy increases are few and far in  
 10 between. In her particular case, I'm not certain what  
 11 happened there because that doesn't seem to be too  
 12 kosher. However, in most instances, a tenant will move  
 13 out. You have the costs of making the unit ready for  
 14 the next tenant. You have the loss of income while the  
 15 unit is vacant. The vacancy increase is the perfect  
 16 mechanism to allow the landlord to recover that income.  
 17 Most landlords -- I mean, think about this. The  
 18 average -- the CPI has for the last couple of years  
 19 below three points. The cost across the table has been  
 20 skyrocketing. There has to be some means test whereas  
 21 landlords are allowed the opportunity to recover their  
 22 losses.

Page 386

1 If you don't have the vacancy increase, what are  
 2 you going to do? Most landlords don't want to do a  
 3 hardship if they can avoid it. Most landlords don't  
 4 want to do a capital improvement.  
 5 If you're giving -- if the only opportunity you're  
 6 giving us to recover income is a capital improvement or  
 7 a hardship, then all the tenants are being hurt versus  
 8 a rare few. I mean, when you look at -- I think we  
 9 have probably 30 percent turnover per year. In that 30  
 10 percent, do you want to know what our costs are with  
 11 respect to refurbishing those units or the money that  
 12 we lose? And not even to speak to the process of  
 13 getting tenants who are not responsible out of these  
 14 units. So, that's a totally different issue.  
 15 But the vacancy increase is really the only  
 16 mechanism we have. The ceilings -- the tenants have  
 17 been the benefits of low CPIs for the last couple of  
 18 years. Most of my tenants are paying -- most of my  
 19 properties are in Ward 7 and in Ward 8. I think on  
 20 average they pay \$650 for a two bedroom. Their rent  
 21 includes everything. If the gas goes up by a million  
 22 dollars, they could care less. It's not their

Page 387

1 responsibility, you know.  
 2 So, the question is, who helps -- who assists the  
 3 landlord in trying to maintain affordable rents? If  
 4 you don't give us this mechanism, then perhaps the  
 5 landlord is faced with no other choice but to sell the  
 6 building because contrary to what many tenants think,  
 7 all landlords are not wealthy landlords.  
 8 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: But, Mr. Silvers, the current  
 9 message in the status quo to a lot of people is -- and  
 10 I'm talking about the neighborhoods I know, the message  
 11 is you can't live here anymore; go somewhere else. We  
 12 don't know where you're going. We don't know whether  
 13 you're leaving the District of Columbia. We don't know  
 14 nothing. But there is no place for you in fill in the  
 15 blank. And, you know, I had someone involved in this  
 16 business say that to me the other day. He said, well,  
 17 you're just not in this building anymore. That's it.  
 18 And, you see, that's -- if we do nothing, and I'm  
 19 not saying I have the best idea in the whole world.  
 20 But if we do nothing, that's going to be the result, as  
 21 sure as I am sitting in this seat, in terms of  
 22 affordable rentals in the neighborhoods I know best.

Page 388

1 MR. SILVERS: Right.  
 2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And that I've worked in for  
 3 seven years.  
 4 MR. SILVERS: Well, my concern --  
 5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And so, I can't do that.  
 6 MR. SILVERS: No, and my concern, too, is sort of  
 7 this immediate translation that if you sell, it's going  
 8 to turn to condos. I mean, tenants rights are still --  
 9 last --  
 10 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I'm less concerned about the  
 11 sale because now that we've got the Tenant Opportunity  
 12 to Purchase Act in place correctly, and we've got the  
 13 other protections for tenants, I mean, the worst case  
 14 -- and we've got the Housing Production Trust Fund with  
 15 \$80 million in it. I mean, the worst case in many  
 16 cases is going to be that those people who are renting  
 17 become owners.  
 18 Now, you know, that isn't terribly troubling to  
 19 me, you know. I'd rather there be affordable rentals,  
 20 but on the other hand, if people have the opportunity  
 21 to have -- own their apartments, own their homes, you  
 22 know, there's much to be said for that.

Page 389

1 MR. SILVERS: No, I understand that, and I respect  
 2 it. I've lived in Washington since 1968, and I say  
 3 this --  
 4 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Now, I got to say something  
 5 else. Now, if the landlords seriously neglect their  
 6 building, then we've got another response because we've  
 7 got a far more aggressive DCRA. Our fines are higher  
 8 than ever, you know. We'll be on these guys in a way  
 9 that they don't -- they've never experienced from DCRA.  
 10 MR. SILVERS: Right. Well, as a matter of fact, I  
 11 don't want to come to that, but since you mentioned it,  
 12 I deal with -- I live in DCRA. I think I should set up  
 13 a bed in the lobby of 941 North Capitol I spend so much  
 14 time there. And the one thing I can say, with respect  
 15 to just -- if we're talking a moment on code  
 16 enforceability issues, I was watching one of your  
 17 hearings regarding a property where the -- you could  
 18 not -- permit inspectors could not gain access to  
 19 inspect units.  
 20 And as a landlord, the one issue I run into, which  
 21 is a major problem, I have no issue with a tenant  
 22 calling an inspector or even occasionally, I will call

Page 390

1 the housing inspector if I think is being destructive  
 2 to the property or to the premises.  
 3 The issue is I have is a very basic one. I've had  
 4 minor infractions of vegetation, chipped paint,  
 5 batteries that were -- a smoke detector was chirping.  
 6 We're diligent about correcting things. We communicate  
 7 with DCRA. We communicate with the inspectors.  
 8 The issue I've noticed is that it is rocket  
 9 science to get an abatement letter to -- now oftentimes  
 10 things are closed out without abatement just because  
 11 the failure -- as a result of the failure to reenter  
 12 and to conclude that the new infraction has been  
 13 corrected.  
 14 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, you know, Mr. Silvers, I'm  
 15 going to interrupt you.  
 16 MR. SILVERS: Okay. We'll stop there. We'll stop  
 17 there, but --  
 18 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And let me thank you all for  
 19 being here today. I appreciate your testimony.  
 20 Now, we've spent a lot of time on this panel,  
 21 Commissioner. Please if you have a very brief closing  
 22 remark, please.

Page 391

1 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: Very brief. The atrocity  
 2 with this highest comparable is that one bedroom  
 3 apartments do turn over a lot more often. Our  
 4 building, that \$8,000 some odd dollar figure is what  
 5 they're trying to bring every one bedroom apartment to.  
 6 The two bedrooms, the maximum is about \$6,000, a three  
 7 bedroom about \$4,000. And that's just absolutely  
 8 upside down from what it should be there. There's no  
 9 reason that a one bedroom should have a, you know,  
 10 twice as high a rent ceiling as perhaps, you know, a  
 11 much larger apartment.  
 12 And the comparable thing is what's driving it up,  
 13 especially when you add in flexible lease terms, or  
 14 where you limit tenants in some cases, like in our  
 15 building, to only being able to renew for six months so  
 16 that they can then renew you for 12 months in the  
 17 middle of the summer at the highest rental rate.  
 18 And when you limit people to two months, three  
 19 months --  
 20 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I'm going to cut you --  
 21 Commissioner, we have to --  
 22 COMMISSIONER LINDEMAN: It's just comparable

Page 392

1 increase after comparable.  
 2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I was giving you a brief  
 3 opportunity, but I do appreciate your contribution. I  
 4 appreciate everybody's contribution to this. And, you  
 5 know, we will continue to have discussions about this.  
 6 We're going to try to figure this out.  
 7 Thank you very much.  
 8 Lorena Cabanas. Is Lorena Cabanas still here?  
 9 Rittenhouse. Femi Akanbi, are you here? Okay. John  
 10 B. Margolo, Vice President of the Aldon Management  
 11 Corporation. Okay, Mr. Margolo, please take a seat.  
 12 Chad Hill, Senior Vice President of Horning Brothers.  
 13 Is Mr. Hill here? Karen Williamson. I see Ms.  
 14 Williamson is here. Jeffrey Gehlmann, Chair to the  
 15 CDBIA Housing. Jeffrey Gehlmann, are you here? Will  
 16 you please come forward? Olivia Clayben, we've heard  
 17 from. William Stokes? William Stokes? Natalie Labal.  
 18 Natalie Label. Stephanie Clipper? Are you here, Ms.  
 19 Clipper? All right, good. All right.  
 20 Now, let's see what we've got here. Mr. Margolo  
 21 from Alban Management.  
 22 MR. MARGOLO: Yes, sir?

Page 393

1 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Are you representing Alban  
 2 Management?  
 3 MR. MARGOLO: Yes, sir.  
 4 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: So, you have five minutes.  
 5 Karen Williamson, President of the Barclay Tenants  
 6 Association, are you representing Barclay?  
 7 MS. WILLIAMSON: Yes.  
 8 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You have five minutes. Jeffrey  
 9 Gehlmann from the D.C. Building Industry Association?  
 10 MR. GEHLMANN: Yes.  
 11 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You have five minutes.  
 12 MR. GEHLMANN: Thank you.  
 13 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And Stephanie Clipper, are you  
 14 representing anyone?  
 15 MS. CLIPPER: No.  
 16 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Okay. You have three minutes.  
 17 MS. CLIPPER: Thank you.  
 18 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: So, did you get that, Mr. Adams?  
 19 So, the first three witnesses have five minutes, and  
 20 then Ms. Clipper, who is representing herself, has  
 21 three minutes. It sounds like we're discriminating or  
 22 something, but that's the rule of the Council.

Page 394

1 So, let's now go to John B. Margolo, Vice  
 2 President, Alban Management Corporation.  
 3 MR. MARGOLO: Okay, thank you. I'm here today  
 4 representing Aldon Management Corporation, which is a  
 5 family owned management company which primarily manages  
 6 buildings owned substantially by various members of the  
 7 same family. These buildings have been owned and  
 8 managed continuously since the 50s and 60s.  
 9 We have less turnover than many other landlords.  
 10 As a result, we have a substantial number of long-term  
 11 tenants in both of our properties in and around 14th  
 12 and Aspen and upper Connecticut Avenue. Part of the  
 13 reason is that we have historically raised the rental  
 14 rates on existing tenants much less than street tenants  
 15 to new tenants at turnover.  
 16 The 14th and Aspen properties have had new windows  
 17 installed approximately two years ago. Our rent  
 18 increases to the new tenants have helped to set off  
 19 that expense. Those windows add to the appearance, but  
 20 also save energy.  
 21 We have begun a renovation program at the Upper  
 22 Connecticut Avenue property. The unit renovations are

Page 395

1 being done at the turnover. These units have not been  
 2 renovated since the initial construction in 1963. We  
 3 have had a building contract to renovate the units and  
 4 the rent increases, which would be within the ceiling  
 5 limitations, would make it feasible to make such  
 6 changes. To change the economic assumptions for the  
 7 property after the contract has been started would seem  
 8 to create a difficult situation.  
 9 I'd like to make the point that it makes little  
 10 sense to change the rules at a time when utility costs  
 11 are rising much faster than rents. The increase in  
 12 costs wholly outside our control, real estate taxes,  
 13 electric, water, gas, and oil is the real issue for  
 14 those with older buildings such as ours which do not  
 15 have separate meters.  
 16 The profit squeeze created by an arbitrary  
 17 limitation without regard for the increased cost  
 18 landlord must deal with seems unreasonable.  
 19 In addition, some of the renovations should cause  
 20 a property to be more energy efficient. That would  
 21 seem to be more to the benefit of all concerned.  
 22 Just a brief comment on some of the other bills.

Page 396

1 Bill 16-458, this was seen to create a legitimate  
 2 organizer somewhat akin to a labor organization. It is  
 3 hard to imagine what benefit there would be to invite  
 4 such a third party intervener. There are a number of  
 5 attorneys in this town who are quite proficient to  
 6 assist tenants who want help with these issues.  
 7 Bill 16-109, this would be incredibly burdensome  
 8 to manage. Each unit has a separate history. This  
 9 creates an enormous paperwork, and on balance is far  
 10 more work than any perceived benefit to the recipient.  
 11 Bill 1651, allowing a tenant to challenge rent  
 12 adjustments from the original base makes the tenant  
 13 into a bounty hunter. Why is the current tenant  
 14 entitled to anything related to a time prior to his  
 15 tenancy? Certainly the current tenant is entitled to  
 16 an adjustment to the current rent level and to a refund  
 17 for any amounts that the current rent paid, which were  
 18 improper within the statute of limitations.  
 19 Thank you.  
 20 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, thank you, Mr. Aldon.  
 21 Now, let's see, we got to do this in order. No,  
 22 Mr. Margolo representing Aldon. I beg your pardon.

Page 397

1 MR. MARGOLO: Right. I wish I was Mr. Aldon.  
 2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Yes. You'd probably be in  
 3 Capris or something.  
 4 MR. MARGOLO: Yeah.  
 5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Let's see, Karen Williamson,  
 6 President of the Barclay Tenants Association.  
 7 MS. WILLIAMSON: Is this right to talk like this?  
 8 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You should really bring it  
 9 closer.  
 10 MS. WILLIAMSON: Like that?  
 11 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Yeah.  
 12 MS. WILLIAMSON: Okay. Okay. My name is Karen  
 13 Williamson, and I'm testifying on behalf of the Barclay  
 14 Tenants Association, which is located at 1616 16th  
 15 Street, Northwest, in Ward 2.  
 16 I want to thank you, Mr. Graham, and all the other  
 17 councilmembers for introducing this rent control  
 18 legislation. I agree with the Washington Post when it  
 19 said that this is the first rent control legislation to  
 20 be introduced that strengthens rent control in about 20  
 21 years. So, I want to thank you very much for  
 22 introducing the legislation and for the other

Page 398

1 councilmembers for doing that.  
 2 And I want to thank you for the work that you did  
 3 recently on the 95/5 legislation since you know that my  
 4 building is, you know, one of the ones that was  
 5 affected by that.  
 6 I would like to say that I've lived in my building  
 7 since 1975, and my rent is about \$700 a month now.  
 8 During the time that I have lived in my building, I've  
 9 seen the rents raised to -- for a one bedroom it is  
 10 \$1,500 a month for the same one bedroom that I pay \$700  
 11 for. For a two bedroom, the rent is currently now  
 12 \$2,500 a month, and for an efficiency, the rent is  
 13 \$1,000 a month. And this is in an older building that  
 14 doesn't have a lot of modern amenities, like central  
 15 air conditioning. It has a lot of repair work that  
 16 needs to be done.  
 17 I represent a moderate income tenant. I work in a  
 18 social service agency, and I make about \$35,000 a year.  
 19 Mr. Graham, do you think that I could afford to pay  
 20 \$1,500 a month rent on a \$35,000 a year salary? No.  
 21 So, what has happened is -- fortunately for me I like  
 22 my neighborhood and I like my apartment. But if I

Page 399

1 wanted to move anywhere in this city, I couldn't move  
 2 because I can't afford to pay the kind of rents that  
 3 they're charging now.  
 4 My neighbors that live in the building don't live  
 5 alone; they live together so that they can afford the  
 6 rent. And even then, they often can't afford the rent.  
 7 They have to borrow from their parents to pay for the  
 8 rent.  
 9 The only way that this can be stopped is the  
 10 passage of Bill 16-457, which does away with the  
 11 highest comparable rent increases. That's why this has  
 12 happened. My building has a rapid turnover, and every  
 13 time it turns over, the rates go up. So, that's why  
 14 the rent is so high.  
 15 The tenant advocacy groups that I've worked with  
 16 have a phrase that they use for this. They call it de  
 17 facto vacancy de-control, and that's actually what has  
 18 happened.  
 19 Also, I want to say that many tenants that live  
 20 here in D.C. would like to become homeowners, but how  
 21 they can stay here and become homeowners when because  
 22 of the rents, they're forced to leave D.C. and go to

Page 400

1 the suburbs, way far out where they can afford. And,  
 2 of course, they're not going to come back downtown once  
 3 they get used to living out there.  
 4 Also, I feel that as a native Washingtonian and a  
 5 long-term tenant and resident of Washington, D.C., I  
 6 feel that Washington, D.C. should be an inclusive city.  
 7 It should be a city for low income, moderate income,  
 8 and high income people to live. And what I see going  
 9 on all around me is it's a city for high income people.  
 10 And I see that low income and even moderate income  
 11 people are being forced out. Like I said, the people  
 12 in my building, they live together; they don't live  
 13 alone. They borrow from their parents. They're just  
 14 barely scraping the money together to pay these rents  
 15 -- \$2,500 a month for a young professional that's just  
 16 starting out? I mean, it's crazy. So, we have to pass  
 17 this bill I think.  
 18 So, I don't think that we should be put in this  
 19 position, and I don't think people should have to leave  
 20 D.C. and go to the suburbs. I don't think people  
 21 should have to stay in their one apartment and not be  
 22 able to move to another neighborhood because they can't

Page 401

1 afford it. I don't think people should be locked in  
 2 like this.  
 3 Also, I want to add that as a resident of D.C. and  
 4 a tenant, I feel that many people, despite what you  
 5 hear on the news about D.C. being an awful place to  
 6 live and all that, many of us want to live here. We  
 7 want to buy homes here. We want to be put in a  
 8 position where we can, and I don't think that these  
 9 rising rents are going to let us do it.  
 10 The last thing I'd like to say is I've heard a lot  
 11 of talk about long-term tenants living buildings that  
 12 pay a small amount. How many of these long-term  
 13 tenants are there? Who knows how many they are. The  
 14 tenant advocacy groups that I've worked with -- and  
 15 this is nothing against you, Mr. Graham, because you  
 16 weren't the head of DCRA then, but we asked DCRA to  
 17 tell us how many rent control buildings there are,  
 18 where these tenants are. They don't even know.  
 19 There's no numbers to show how many of these so-called  
 20 tenants that are getting away with low rents exist. My  
 21 guess is that there are not very many of them because  
 22 of what's happened.

Page 402

1 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Thank you very much, Ms.  
 2 Williamson. We want to complete our panel, and then  
 3 we'll have questions.  
 4 Jeffrey Gehlmann from the D.C. Building Industry  
 5 Association.  
 6 MR. GEHLMANN: Thank you. Chairman Graham and  
 7 members of the Committee on Consumer and Regulatory  
 8 Affairs, I am Jeff Gehlmann with the Law Firm of  
 9 Greenstein, DeLorme & Luchs. I also serve as Chairman  
 10 of the Housing Committee of the D.C. Building Industry  
 11 Association. DCBIA is a non-profit association  
 12 comprised over 400 firms representing thousands of  
 13 professionals engaged in the residential and commercial  
 14 real estate industry in the District of Columbia.  
 15 I am testifying today on behalf of the members of  
 16 DCBIA to express our strong opposition to the five  
 17 proposed legislative amendments to the rent control  
 18 law. My remarks will be of a general nature because  
 19 it's not realistic to believe that I can substantively  
 20 address the issues and complexities raised by these  
 21 unwise amendments in the few minutes allotted to me as  
 22 a spokesperson for the building industry in this

Page 403

1 hearing.  
 2 The rent control is a complex and anachronistic  
 3 law which was enacted in panic and haste because no  
 4 other solutions appeared available to address the  
 5 effects of rapidly rising rents. Who would think after  
 6 these many decades wiser concepts and programs would  
 7 not have arisen to truly address the needs of lower  
 8 income residents in the city? Why is the rent control  
 9 law an anachronism, abandoned by nearly every other  
 10 jurisdiction in this country? Because rent control is  
 11 an efficient and wasteful public policy and program.  
 12 Simply stated, it is not based on a tenant's income and  
 13 assets. Rent control is the only rental subsidy  
 14 program that I know of that has not one thread that  
 15 connects it to the income of the tenants. It is, in  
 16 great part, welfare for the rich.  
 17 This is rarely spoken about. Rent control applies  
 18 to approximately 100,000 units in the city. Assuming  
 19 the average occupancy of these units is 1.5 persons per  
 20 unit, then rent control applies to approximately  
 21 150,000 residents of the city. But neither I nor you  
 22 have any clue how many of these tenants are lower

Page 404

1 income.  
 2 Assuming that 50 percent are lower income, then  
 3 rent control results in subsidizing 75,000 residents  
 4 that do need assistance. Do the higher income tenants  
 5 benefit from the free and unnecessary rental subsidy,  
 6 and, thus, support rent control? You bet they do.  
 7 This unnecessary subsidy the government makes housing  
 8 providers pay for the benefit of higher income tenants  
 9 creates a political constituency of support for  
 10 politicians.  
 11 If the government were to bear the costs of  
 12 subsidizing 75,000 tenants that did not qualify for  
 13 assistance as lower income residents, it would be  
 14 considered scandalous, government at its worst.  
 15 Every politician which supported a program would  
 16 be run out of town. But because the government makes  
 17 the private sector housing provider pay for it, this  
 18 wasteful subsidy somehow becomes less scandalous to  
 19 everyone, except, of course, to the housing provider.  
 20 Let me remind this committee that it has been the  
 21 housing providers that have been providing the rental  
 22 subsidies under rent control since its earliest

Page 405

1 inception in the early 1970s and not the government.  
 2 Would this committee's support government subsidy  
 3 program that used public tax dollars to subsidize the  
 4 rents of \$75,000 that did not need assistance? Of  
 5 course not. So, why would you support Band-Aid  
 6 amendments that further hurt housing providers, the  
 7 very providers and subsidizers of rent control housing?  
 8 The current chair of this committee has repeatedly  
 9 stated for the record that this government has no  
 10 business subsidizing housing units for tenants earning  
 11 \$60,000 or \$70,000 or more, but that is exactly what  
 12 rent control does, except it forces the housing  
 13 provider to pay the subsidy.  
 14 Where are the government rental subsidy programs  
 15 that would provide assistance to lower income  
 16 residents, with the cost of the subsidy being spread  
 17 over all taxpayers and not just housing providers.  
 18 This committee and the Council should be thanking  
 19 housing providers for their commitment and dedication,  
 20 for providing housing to the residents of this city,  
 21 and for providing rent control subsidies. The Federal  
 22 government has such rental subsidies, but the District

<p style="text-align: right;">Page 406</p> <p>1 government does not. You should take time to listen to 2 the housing providers.</p> <p>3 The prior chairperson of this committee very 4 wisely understood the many complexities of the laws and 5 the problems raised by tenants and landlords, and knew 6 that the law needed comprehensive review and 7 improvement, not Band-Aid fixes. These proposed 8 amendments will do very little to benefit tenants and 9 are being promoted by a small group of tenant 10 advocates.</p> <p>11 This committee is racing down a one-way street in 12 the wrong direction. It is a misconception to believe 13 that these piecemeal amendments designed to impose new 14 burdens and restrictions on rental housing will somehow 15 increase the availability of affordable rental housing.</p> <p>16 Far more productive would be a comprehensive review of 17 this serious policy and problematic floors of the rent 18 control law from both the landlord and tenant 19 perspectives, and to responsibly develop programs that 20 address the affordable housing shortage in this city.</p> <p>21 Thank you for the opportunity to provide these 22 remarks.</p>	<p style="text-align: right;">Page 408</p> <p>1 building as was recommended by D.C. government. 2 I moved 12 blocks away at a cost of \$3,000, and a 3 long-term loss of perhaps \$200,000 because I had to 4 adjust my retirements savings to absorb the new rent. 5 On the day of my move, D.C. inspectors came and shut 6 down the elevators. I overheard one say, hit them with 7 the same list from last year, fire code violations. 8 They levied several thousand more dollars in fines 9 against the building.</p> <p>10 Meanwhile, the rents continued to go up as 11 unsuspecting residents, some from other parts of the 12 country, moved in knowing nothing of the building's 13 history or their right to a clean and safe environment 14 as ordered by law.</p> <p>15 After I moved, one tenant said, the rents rise 16 inexorably while the overall quality of life here has 17 sunk to the lowest level possible.</p> <p>18 I've heard a lot today about a lot of different 19 things, and one thing I wanted to mention is that this 20 problem in this building could have been solved had the 21 management company simply called a different vendor 22 from the one they were using for extermination. So,</p>
<p style="text-align: right;">Page 407</p> <p>1 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Thank you very much, Mr. 2 Gehlmann. 3 Stephanie Clipper. 4 MS. CLIPPER: Thank you. I've hung in there with 5 you for seven hours I think. My comments today concern 6 what I call rollover code violations.</p> <p>7 For 14 years, I occupied successfully three units 8 in a Ward 2 high rise. The building was plagued by a 9 number of problems, including vermin.</p> <p>10 In 2003, there was an escalation of the vermin 11 problem when a bed bug problem was disclosed. 12 Management's approach to the problem stood in contrast 13 to free and valuable advice offered by city 14 authorities. By mid-September there were 30 affected 15 units up from two in the span of a month. One person 16 said it hit rock bottom this weekend as I awoke at 3:00 17 a.m. covered with bed bugs sucking my blood.</p> <p>18 Tenant-led attempts to get DCRA inspectors into 19 the building did not meet with success. When 20 authorities did get into the building, they levied 21 fines for failure to provide extermination of insect 22 vermin. There were no plans to treat the whole</p>	<p style="text-align: right;">Page 409</p> <p>1 very often there is a far simpler fix than what some of 2 the suggestions are that we've heard today. 3 I do think the time for reform has come, and I 4 have a few very quick extraneous comments that involve 5 things that have not been mentioned today.</p> <p>6 At one point there was mention, I think, by you 7 about ownership information, information about who owns 8 a building. If you look at the list of witnesses, 9 numbers 46 and 48 should give you an idea of how 10 sometimes the name of the company may be posted in the 11 lobby, but it really doesn't tell you anything about 12 who owns the building.</p> <p>13 Secondly, I heard you say a couple of times 14 references to if tenants want a 24-hours secretarial 15 desk, they might be able to bring this up. I've never 16 been in the position to have been offered any kind of 17 discussion like that.</p> <p>18 And, secondly -- lastly, I think some apartment 19 companies that manage buildings for owners may have 20 good intentions, but they have promised a certain rate 21 of return to the owner and are under pressure to 22 deliver.</p>



Page 410

1 Thank you.

2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Thank you very much, Ms.

3 Clipper. I appreciate your testimony. And your photos

4 -- we can return your photos if you'd like them back.

5 MS. CLIPPER: You can keep them as a souvenir.

6 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Okay, good.

7 I think, you know, again, I want to emphasize two

8 things. Number one, and we can discuss still again,

9 but I think we're really waiting now for Ms. Zapata's

10 testimony to see what's going on with all these

11 petitions that are available under existing law, and

12 that are undisturbed by anything that we're proposing.

13 But the second thing I would put to you, Mr.

14 Margolo, and to you, Mr. Gehlmann, is -- and you're

15 right, Mr. Gehlmann. I don't have a clue as to how

16 many of these 150,000 people are at what income or

17 another, but neither do you. You have chosen for your

18 testimony to suggest it's 50 percent. Well, I could

19 choose 30 percent. I could choose 10 percent. I could

20 choose one percent.

21 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: That's my exact point.

22 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You chose 50 percent for

Page 411

1 dramatic impact, but it is meaningless to me because we

2 don't have the information. But what we do know is

3 that there are -- excuse me for pointing. My mother

4 would be aghast.

5 [Laughter.]

6 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I was thinking, do you think of

7 your mother a great deal? I do from time to time. But

8 anyway, there are Karen Williamsons, and I know a lot

9 of Karen Williamsons in Ward 1 who are in old buildings

10 that are subject to rent control.

11 What do you say to the Karen Williamsons, because

12 this is the quest of this hearing is to say these

13 affordable rentals are vanishing. They're vanishing

14 with incredible rapidity. They're going, going, gone.

15 So, you come here and make up numbers and have

16 aggressive testimony and all of the rest of that, but

17 the fact of the matter is, once again, we have a

18 perfect panel because Karen Williamson is sitting next

19 to you. She cannot afford to live in this building.

20 Where are you going to send her? What are you going to

21 say to her? This is the issue, and you've got it right

22 next to you. You've got a human being, you know, who

Page 412

1 cannot afford the \$2,500 -- are you in a one bedroom?

2 MS. CLIPPER: I'm in a one bedroom.

3 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: She cannot afford the \$2,500.

4 So, do you say that, well, Karen Williamson is

5 expendable? Do you say, well, Karen Williamson, you

6 find somewhere else? Send us a postcard when you're --

7 is that what you're saying?

8 MR. GEHLMANN: Chairman Graham, as you well know,

9 most of my career is dedicated to the creation and

10 preservation of affordable housing. So, I think you

11 should helping Karen Williamson much more than you're

12 proposing, because it's such a waste to subsidize

13 people who are not in need. You could take the great

14 tax revenues that have been generated by all of this

15 new economic development from housing and pour it back

16 into rental subsidies to the Karen Williamsons of this

17 city. And I think it is a cop out to just tweak an

18 old, obsolete law and say that's going to fix the

19 problem.

20 I'm a student a practitioner of affordable housing

21 programs at the Federal and local levels here and

22 around the country, and rent control is the biggest,

Page 413

1 inefficient, wasteful kind of subsidy program you can

2 imagine. You're not gearing resources, whether it's

3 private or public resources, to those who need it.

4 If you stop the subsidies for the people in

5 Karen's Williamson's building that don't need it and

6 direct greater resources to her, she and others will

7 have much greater benefit. And that's my point.

8 And I put out assumptions to show that no one

9 knows to what degree people --

10 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I think, Mr. Gehlmann, that's a

11 shibboleth.

12 MR. GEHLMANN: A what, I'm sorry?

13 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: A shibboleth. You know, I think

14 that what's going on here, and I have as much

15 entitlement -- I've worked in my ward for seven years

16 hands on with these buildings. And I would say that

17 maybe 10 percent -- 10 percent, you know, don't need

18 these affordable rents. I would say 90 percent need

19 them. And without them, they're gone. That's what I

20 would say. And I think I know at least as much about

21 this as you do.

22 And they're gone. And I don't want Ward 1 -- I

Page 414

1 don't want the neighborhoods of Ward 1 to be composed  
 2 just of people who can afford to pay \$2,500 a month for  
 3 a one bedroom apartment. I don't want that --  
 4 MR. GEHLMANN: I totally agree.  
 5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: -- in our neighborhoods.  
 6 MR. GEHLMANN: But on Connecticut Avenue, you  
 7 could pick a building where only 10 percent need it,  
 8 too.  
 9 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I'll be glad to listen to you  
 10 momentarily. Let me be the chairman of this committee,  
 11 if you don't mind. Is it -- you know, what I'm saying  
 12 to you, if you have a concept, you know, that is better  
 13 than what we have presented here today, I'd like to  
 14 hear it, you know. But I'm not hearing it. I'm just  
 15 hearing, for example, here are the Business Industry  
 16 Association coming and saying you're against all the  
 17 bills. You're against all the bills. You don't even  
 18 give us details on why you're against all of the bills.  
 19 You pick out one thing based on a number which is pure  
 20 hypothesis and expect us to say, oh, well, in that  
 21 case.  
 22 That doesn't wash. If you want to come in -- we

Page 415

1 struggled with these issues. We've met with tenant  
 2 associations. We've met with landlords. We've met  
 3 with a lot of people, and this is our best thinking on  
 4 how to save our neighborhoods. And if you have better  
 5 thinking on how to save our neighborhood, let's have  
 6 it. And I say that to you also, Mr. Margolo.  
 7 I think it's fair of me to put this question to  
 8 you in this direct manner. What -- how are you going  
 9 to -- what are you going to say to the Karen  
 10 Williamsons who, I think, are 90 percent of the people  
 11 in these rent controlled units? What are you going to  
 12 say?  
 13 MR. MARGOLO: Well, let's take our Ward 4  
 14 properties where we have about 300 units. About  
 15 somewhere between 30 and 35 percent of those people are  
 16 still under the original rent control. They're -- I  
 17 mean, that goes back to the 70s. And all of them need  
 18 that rent control, and I'm happy for them to have it.  
 19 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: All of -- let me interrupt you.  
 20 MR. MARGOLO: In other words, we're not -- they're  
 21 being, of course, subsidized in the same manner that  
 22 Mr. Gehlmann stated.

Page 416

1 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: All right. But what percentage  
 2 is that?  
 3 MR. MARGOLO: Somewhere between 30 and 35 percent  
 4 of the --  
 5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: People who need the --  
 6 MR. MARGOLO: Yeah, and all of them that are under  
 7 rent control are worthy of it. I mean, I'm -- they're  
 8 usually older people on fixed incomes, and, you know,  
 9 some of them have been there 50 years. I mean, these  
 10 buildings go back to the 50s.  
 11 But the point is that, as was said by Mr. Watson  
 12 or whatever his name was a little earlier, that the  
 13 1985 amendment to the Rent Control, in effect,  
 14 decontrols units at turnover. I mean, that's what  
 15 happened with the rent ceilings. We don't have rent  
 16 control, you know. We have this complicated scheme,  
 17 which I think was probably done for political reasons  
 18 to eliminate rent control. And if we stay where we  
 19 are, there will be no more rent control when all the  
 20 turnover ends. I mean, it's just that simple.  
 21 But I think the solution is to say to her, to get  
 22 back to your question, is I think that we have to work

Page 417

1 together to try to preserve affordable housing. But  
 2 the landlords cannot do it, you know. We can't -- we  
 3 have to have -- you know, like they do in the other  
 4 counties and our neighboring jurisdictions. There has  
 5 to be more tenant assisted programs and things of that  
 6 nature.  
 7 And I would say, no, that -- I'm not going to say  
 8 that I don't -- you know, I'm against everything in  
 9 these bills. I'm against these bills in total in the  
 10 way they're written right now. But if the -- if it's  
 11 -- we have to preserve affordable housing, then we have  
 12 to work together and come to a compromise. So, I hope  
 13 we can continue the dialogue and you will listen to us.  
 14 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, and I'm certainly prepared  
 15 to do that. But here's what I'm struggling with.  
 16 There is -- if we do nothing, it's just going to be --  
 17 there's going to be no new Karen Williamsons in my  
 18 neighborhood, and it's just a matter of time. And  
 19 that's the fact of the matter. And I'm not willing to  
 20 accept that -- excuse me for keep repeating your name,  
 21 Ms. Williamson.  
 22 MS. WILLIAMSON: That's okay.

1 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: But you're perfectly placed on  
 2 this panel. And that's what I want to avoid, and  
 3 that's what motivates me today. And all of the various  
 4 comments that I've heard during this hearing  
 5 questioning my motives and questioning the motives of  
 6 this Council, and how we're doing this and doing that,  
 7 I find very objectionable. And I've sat and listened  
 8 to all that.

9 But the days of the property owners, of apartment  
 10 buildings coming to this Council and instructing us  
 11 what to do are over. Now, we can find a way to work  
 12 together. We can find a way to work together. You've  
 13 had a very comfy relationship here. That's finished.  
 14 We can find a way to work together. We can find a way  
 15 to maintain the affordability of these apartments, or  
 16 we're going to proceed forward.

17 There are 12 people of 13 on this Council who  
 18 support this legislation, and that's the reality.  
 19 That's something that this industry has never  
 20 heretofore dealt with.

21 MR. GEHLMANN: Chairman Graham, you've  
 22 mischaracterized our position. We cannot support these

1 amendments because we feel that all sides are  
 2 dissatisfied with the rent control law. And until it  
 3 is thoroughly analyzed -- our recommendation, and I've  
 4 given you concrete recommendations, a comprehensive  
 5 review of the rent control law from all perspectives to  
 6 improve it for all concerned, to phase it out for  
 7 people who do not need it, and use greater tax revenues  
 8 and resources to help the Karen Williamsons of the  
 9 world. I have given you concrete proposals, and I can  
 10 give you more specifics.

11 And I've been testifying before this committee for  
 12 nearly 15 plus years giving the committee  
 13 recommendations. And until -- the Council recently  
 14 started funding the Housing Production Trust Fund. The  
 15 District put almost no District dollars into housing.  
 16 It was Federal dollars. And I was the one coming here  
 17 repeatedly asking the Council to put dollars in  
 18 housing. And much of our membership are affordable  
 19 housing providers.

20 That is our motivation. We think it can be  
 21 better. This is just a baby step. We can do much  
 22 better than these pieces of legislation.

1 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Then why, Mr. Gehlmann, would  
 2 you come here without so much as giving us any details  
 3 and oppose all five bills? Because all five bills  
 4 don't relate to the issue that you've just presented.  
 5 This broad brush opposition, you know, this broad brush  
 6 no, you know, is what you've done in your testimony.

7 MR. GEHLMANN: Chairman Graham --

8 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And I want you to understand  
 9 what I'm saying when I say --

10 MR. GEHLMANN: I do, but you're missing my point  
 11 that what --

12 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: No, I think I got your point.

13 MR. GEHLMANN: -- that what is inherently wrong  
 14 with rent control --

15 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I think you're in favor of the  
 16 status quo.

17 MR. GEHLMANN: No, I'm not.

18 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And I think the status quo --  
 19 you know, you've reached a point with rent control  
 20 where many people are happy with it simply because it  
 21 doesn't work very well. But we're here to say, let's  
 22 make it work well. Let's give it some teeth. Let's

1 really have it impact. I'm not saying you, Mr.  
 2 Gehlmann, but there are others who have testified where  
 3 that's what they want to keep. They want to keep --  
 4 since they can't abolish it entirely -- that's out of  
 5 the question -- they want to keep a law that was  
 6 eviscerated -- that's the word I've used several times  
 7 -- eviscerated in 1985. We want to reverse those  
 8 amendments that were made in 1985. That's the gist of  
 9 this.

10 MR. GEHLMANN: But why can't --

11 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Now, if you have other concepts,  
 12 Mr. Gehlmann, I have met with you on various occasions,  
 13 I'm willing to continue to meet with you and hear what  
 14 you have to say.

15 But, please, you know, not no to five bills  
 16 without giving us any details.

17 MR. GEHLMANN: Look, Chairman Graham, I would not  
 18 have anything else to add what others had testified  
 19 about what they felt were the deficiencies in the bill.  
 20 I thought it was more important that, particularly  
 21 going into the very end of the day, to talk about the  
 22 bigger picture, what we feel is a problem with the law

1 in general, because until that is fixed, it is -- that  
 2 is what's causing the distress to the housing  
 3 providers. If they only had to provide rent control  
 4 and maybe even deep subsidy rent control to those who  
 5 need it, but not to those that don't, the program would  
 6 work, and the housing providers would be able to be  
 7 financially viable and not have these problems with the  
 8 law, and the tenants who need it would be helped.  
 9 That's my approach.  
 10 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: But we have bills before us that  
 11 recognize tenant rights to distribute literature, you  
 12 know. We have bills before us that require information  
 13 to tenants, you know, about how their rent ceilings  
 14 were set. You know, all of that, you know, has a  
 15 significance separate from the point that you're  
 16 making.  
 17 MR. GEHLMANN: But, Chairman Graham, we feel it's  
 18 very unfair to just address one set of issues from one  
 19 segment than to sit down with all sides concerned and  
 20 address all the issues. That's why we've taken a stand  
 21 that we don't generally support these, you know, as  
 22 these little piecemeal attempts to plug a couple of

1 holes and not address the bigger issues that are  
 2 affecting the residents of the city.  
 3 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, I wouldn't describe these  
 4 as little piecemeal attempts, but I appreciate your  
 5 point of view. Thank you very much for your testimony.  
 6 William Stokes? Ms. Williamson, did you want to  
 7 add something?  
 8 MS. WILLIAMSON: I want to ask a question. Where  
 9 are the statistics that show all the people that don't  
 10 need rent control?  
 11 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, there are no statistics.  
 12 MS. WILLIAMSON: Where are the numbers of the  
 13 people that really are getting away with living in rent  
 14 control buildings and they don't need to be there,  
 15 which is what I keep hearing, that there's all these  
 16 people that live in rent control buildings that really  
 17 don't need to live there and are benefiting from living  
 18 there. Where are these people? They're not in my  
 19 building. In my building tenants are paying \$1,000 and  
 20 up for rent. I don't see where these people are.  
 21 MR. GEHLMANN: I lived in a rent control building  
 22 for a few years.

1 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Let me just say that David --  
 2 MS. WILLIAMSON: Where are the people? We need  
 3 the statistics.  
 4 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: The one statistic that we have  
 5 is that there was an Urban Institute study done in  
 6 1988, which is a long time ago, which indicated that  
 7 six percent of those subject to rent control had an  
 8 income in excess \$50,800. I mean, that's -- you know,  
 9 I mean, but that doesn't suit the, you know, the point  
 10 that some people want to make, and so they would rather  
 11 use numbers which just cannot be justified or  
 12 established.  
 13 But let me go on to the other witnesses. Thank  
 14 you very much for your testimony.  
 15 William Stokes, Community Education. Mr. Stokes,  
 16 are you here still? John Utley, Windsor Associates.  
 17 Mr. Utley? Not here. Amy LaFavre Dolan from QDC  
 18 Property Management, Incorporated. John Hoskinan, MPM  
 19 Management. Not here. Rebecca Lyndhurst, Bread for  
 20 the City. Jennifer Berger from Legal Aid. Elizabeth  
 21 Figueroa. Is there anyone else who wishes to -- Faith,  
 22 do you wish to testify? Would you take a seat, please?

1 Is there anyone else who wishes to testify? This will  
 2 conclude our testimony. We'll be with you in just one  
 3 moment, thank you. You can have a seat.  
 4 Now, let me just take a moment here. John Utley  
 5 -- you're not -- no. William Stokes? No. Amy LaFavre  
 6 Dolan? You're here. Okay, good. John Hoskinan? No,  
 7 not here. Rebecca Lyndhurst? No. Jennifer Berger?  
 8 MS. BERGER: Yes.  
 9 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Elizabeth Figueroa? Actually is  
 10 being represented. And your name, please?  
 11 MR. REID: James Reid.  
 12 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: James Reid. And you are from  
 13 the 420 16th Street Southeast Tenants Association?  
 14 MR. REID: Yes.  
 15 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And Faith.  
 16 FAITH: You want to write my name down so I'm on  
 17 record?  
 18 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I wrote it down. I wrote it  
 19 down.  
 20 FAITH: Oh.  
 21 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: It's been such a long day now.  
 22 Amy LaFavre Dolan, are you representing QDC --

Page 426

1 MS. DOLAN: Yes.

2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: -- Property Management? You

3 have five minutes. Jennifer Berger, are you

4 representing Legal Aid?

5 MS. DOLAN: Yes, I am.

6 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You have five minutes. Mr.

7 Reid, are you representing the 420 16th Street

8 Tenants --

9 MR. REID: Yes, I am.

10 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You have five minutes. Faith,

11 you have three minutes because you're here on your own

12 behalf.

13 FAITH: No, I represent TENAC, and also a --

14 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: TENAC has already testified.

15 FAITH: I know, but I'm late, that's all. I'm on

16 the Board of Directors of TENAC.

17 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, we'll give you your time.

18 FAITH: Give me an extra two minutes.

19 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You'll have your time.

20 FAITH: Thank you.

21 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You'll have your time.

22 Okay. And then we'll have one other public

Page 427

1 witness, and that will conclude the hearing, except for

2 the testimony of Ms. Zapata.

3 So, Amy LaFavre Dolan, may we have your testimony?

4 MS. DOLAN: Yes. Good evening. My name is Amy

5 LaFavre Dolan, and I'm a Senior Residential Manager

6 with QDC Property Management, Inc. Since 1999, I've

7 been responsible for the management of the West Park

8 Apartments, a rent controlled 250-unit apartment

9 building constructed in 1975 and located at 2130 P

10 Street, Northwest, in Dupont Circle.

11 I am here today to address my company's very grave

12 concerns about the rent control bills proposed by the

13 D.C. Council, most specifically, Bill 16-457, the Rent

14 Control Reform Amendment Act of 2005. These proposed

15 bills have the potential to destroy any economic

16 rationale to maintain a rent controlled building in

17 good working order by making day to day repairs and

18 maintenance as well as periodically making capital

19 investments.

20 Over the past 10 years, operating expenses at the

21 West Park have risen 20 percent more than apartment

22 income in our rent controlled property. Incidentally,

Page 428

1 the real estate taxes for the West Park have increased

2 by 10 percent over the last four years.

3 If there are further restrictions on income

4 growth, there will be less incentive to keep up with

5 repairs and maintenance, and as this spread widens, it

6 will create a gap that will restrict net operating

7 income so that existing debt on the property may not be

8 replaceable. Ultimately, this could lead to

9 foreclosure.

10 If the proposed legislation passes, there will be

11 absolutely no incentive to reinvest in a rent

12 controlled property. The means provided under the

13 current rent control legislation for a building owner

14 to in some way recoup the expense of performing capital

15 improvements is to file a capital improvement petition

16 and begin the arduous process, which, in some cases,

17 may take up to a year, if not longer, to complete.

18 The capital improvement petition process is

19 cumbersome, daunting, expensive, and places an enormous

20 burden on the building owner, and in the end, only

21 allows for a substandard rate of return, and in some

22 cases, no return at all on the additional property

Page 429

1 investment.

2 The useful life of a well-maintained apartment

3 building is 30 to 40 years. Since the cutoff of rent

4 control was 1975, this means that the youngest of rent

5 controlled properties is now 30 years old, which is the

6 case with the West Park. As you can imagine, a 30-year

7 old property needs major improvements just to keep it

8 in good working order.

9 We are currently in the process of considering a

10 major renovation at the West Park, which we estimate

11 will cost \$60,000 per unit, which includes interior

12 unit renovations, replacement of the HVAC system,

13 window and balcony rail replacement. If it were

14 possible to borrow \$60,000 per unit at an interest rate

15 of 6.4 percent only, the additional debt per unit per

16 month would be \$325. Yet the one percent increase only

17 allows a \$12.50 per month rent increase.

18 Bill 16-457 seeks to repeal the existing 12

19 percent vacancy increase and replace it with a one

20 percent vacancy increase. No property could possibly

21 borrow this money with future rent growth capped at one

22 percent per year. No responsible lender will lend

Page 430

1 money if there is no future hope to increase the net  
 2 operating income.  
 3 Over the past three years, the average turnover  
 4 rate at the West Park has been 33 percent, which means  
 5 that 67 percent of the residents, those who remain in  
 6 residence, are benefiting from the current rent control  
 7 legislation. The cost to release an apartment is, at  
 8 minimum, \$550 for repainting, floor refinishing,  
 9 cabinet replacement, and cleaning, which does not  
 10 include the estimate down time of three weeks, bringing  
 11 the total re-tenancing cost to approximately \$1,500.  
 12 Assuming an average rent of \$1,250 per month, if a  
 13 proposed one percent per year increase were enacted,  
 14 the \$12.50 per month increase, it would take 120 months  
 15 or 10 years to recover this \$1,500 releasing cost.  
 16 The public areas of the West Park were renovated  
 17 in 2003 at a cost of nearly \$2 million. This year the  
 18 owner replaced the roof of the building, installed roof  
 19 anchors per OSHA requirements, and performed extensive  
 20 façade repairs at the cost of \$405,000. We did not  
 21 apply for a capital improvement petition surcharge for  
 22 these improvements because under current rent control

Page 431

1 legislation, we would be able to recover the cost  
 2 through vacancy increases and comparable unit  
 3 increases. Therefore, none of our current residents  
 4 paid any additional rent increase based on the  
 5 improvements that they all now enjoy.  
 6 If the proposed legislation passes, this will no  
 7 longer be the case. Although a 10 percent annual  
 8 increase for a current resident is very rare and not  
 9 the practice at the West Park, we will have no  
 10 alternative but to significantly raise the current  
 11 increase amounts for existing residents if rent control  
 12 legislation prohibits us from taking 12 percent vacancy  
 13 increases or comparable unit increases. This will harm  
 14 existing residents, which is in direct opposition of  
 15 the intent of these new rent control bills. If the  
 16 D.C. Council chooses to further restrict an owner's  
 17 ability to operate in a free market system, it is our  
 18 belief that it is a restraint of trade.  
 19 Will these restrictions be solely limited to the  
 20 real estate industry, or will D.C. target other  
 21 industries as well, such as regulating the price of gas  
 22 and electric? Although one can only assume the best of

Page 432

1 intentions on the part of the City Council, the  
 2 proposed legislation is flawed public policy and will  
 3 significantly harm not only building owners, but the  
 4 residents of rent controlled properties as well.  
 5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Thank you very much for your  
 6 testimony.  
 7 And now, Jennifer Berger from the Legal Aid  
 8 Society.  
 9 MS. BERGER: Thank you, Chairperson Graham, for  
 10 supporting the strengthening of rent control in the  
 11 District of Columbia, which will tremendously assist  
 12 the thousands of tenants who we serve in the District  
 13 of Columbia.  
 14 The new census data is staggering about the loss  
 15 of affordable housing in the District of Columbia.  
 16 This affects most gravely the children of the District  
 17 of Columbia because the District has the highest  
 18 poverty rate, which is 30 percent compared with 17  
 19 percent nationally.  
 20 The affordable housing crisis worsens in 2004 with  
 21 the median rent going -- increasing from \$734 to \$799.  
 22 Customarily, the increase each year was three percent

Page 433

1 and the median rent. Between 2003 and 2004, the median  
 2 rent increased nine percent.  
 3 Some 7,500 affordable housing units were lost  
 4 between the years of 2000 and 2004. In that vein, we  
 5 need to strongly consider the current rent control  
 6 system and revamp it to adequately meet the needs of  
 7 our poorest citizens.  
 8 We urge the Committee and the Council to pass  
 9 these bills, which enhance rent control, tenant  
 10 organizing, and tenant information into law.  
 11 Particularly focusing on Bills 16-457 and 16-51, the  
 12 current system of allowing high -- vacancy high  
 13 comparable increases in combination with the statute of  
 14 limitations erodes rent control. Recently we had  
 15 somebody come into the office who was -- who had sensed  
 16 that her rent was incorrect. She had just moved into  
 17 her apartment about a year ago. We tried to get the  
 18 records from DCRA, and when we were piecing together  
 19 the records, because of the vacancy that was greater  
 20 than the three-year statute of limitations period, an  
 21 illegal increase had been taken over three years ago,  
 22 and this new tenant was essentially, at least according

Page 434

1 to the case law and the current system, stuck with a  
 2 rent that was higher than it was supposed to be, and  
 3 that was, in essence, illegal.  
 4 The current system is an inducement for landlords  
 5 to get tenants out, have vacancy for a period of time  
 6 long enough for tenants to -- for the rent to increase,  
 7 and that will deprive that unit of the rent control  
 8 base.  
 9 The comparable increase -- high comparable unit is  
 10 a misnomer. As we were looking through the paperwork  
 11 in this particular case, the comparable unit, which was  
 12 supposed to be a unit in the housing accommodation  
 13 wasn't even on the same street, and that was absolutely  
 14 illegal. We can try to fight against this in other  
 15 ways, but if the statute of limitations period for  
 16 correcting improper rent increases were to be changed  
 17 so that we can look back as long as we have to correct  
 18 illegalities, then that would save rent control, and it  
 19 would also prevent landlords from benefiting from their  
 20 own illegal behavior.  
 21 Particularly looking at Bill 16-458, the Right to  
 22 Tenants to Organize, today when I was here and also

Page 435

1 listening to the testimony from the Office, I heard  
 2 landlords -- representatives of landlords indicate that  
 3 the attorneys will be able to better represent the  
 4 tenants. As an attorney who represents tenants in the  
 5 District of Columbia and has represented buildings of  
 6 tenants, I have seen the power of tenants associations  
 7 separate and apart from the power of our representation  
 8 of tenants.  
 9 Tenant associations build communities. They  
 10 basically have tenants interacting who normally  
 11 wouldn't be interacting with each other, namely tenants  
 12 of different backgrounds, language backgrounds,  
 13 particularly. And it's empowering. If you pass 2922  
 14 Sherman Avenue, at least before winds change the sign  
 15 and flip it over, it said the tenants association of  
 16 2922 Sherman Avenue. There is great pride that the  
 17 tenants have in being able to organize, and it's a  
 18 constitutional right of individuals to be able to  
 19 organize. That right needs to be supported, separate  
 20 and apart from our representation.  
 21 And also, the tenants association is necessary to  
 22 vindicate SOPA rights, the he first step that's taken

Page 436

1 in order to bring a claim that a tenant -- a building  
 2 of tenants have been deprived of their right to  
 3 purchase property is to form an association. And the  
 4 lack of an association in that instance will be a basis  
 5 to dismiss that case in certain instances. So, the  
 6 associations are necessary.  
 7 Moreover, the only time we see tenants walk in our  
 8 door to be able to represent them is when they see the  
 9 paperwork that has been provided to them by their  
 10 landlords, and they realize something is amiss in the  
 11 paperwork. So, hand in hand with the tenant's right to  
 12 organize is the right of the tenant to be informed, and  
 13 they need to be able to be provided all of the  
 14 documents necessary to ascertain whether they need  
 15 legal assistance in the first place.  
 16 And lastly, the disclosure of housing code  
 17 violations is critical because when we are representing  
 18 in cases involving counter claims for housing code  
 19 violations or defenses for housing code violations, the  
 20 first thing we want to do is see whether there was  
 21 notice to the landlord. The landlord is clearly on  
 22 notice of the housing code violations if the landlord

Page 437

1 is providing tenant of such notice.  
 2 So, all of these requirements in all of the bills  
 3 are critical. And thank you again for your support of  
 4 tenants' rights in the District of Columbia.  
 5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Thank you very much. I  
 6 appreciate your testimony.  
 7 And now we're going to go to Mr. Reid. Mr. Reid.  
 8 MR. REID: Good afternoon. How are you doing  
 9 today? I am James Reid, Vice President of the 420 16th  
 10 Street Southeast Tenants Association, Incorporated. I  
 11 would like to give you a short history of our short  
 12 existence.  
 13 The residents of 420 16th Street Southeast  
 14 received notice of sale of our building -- sorry. Can  
 15 you hear me better now?  
 16 Where was I? The residents of 420 16th Street,  
 17 Southeast received notice of the sale of our building  
 18 on August 16th of this year. We incorporated our non-  
 19 profit tenant association on September 9th. We  
 20 provided notice of our interest to purchase our  
 21 building on September 26th. On the same day, we  
 22 received notice of our annual rent increases.

Page 438

1 Historically, these increases have been at the CPI rate  
 2 increase, and were \$5 to \$25. The increase this year  
 3 ranged from eight to 99 percent with the average  
 4 increase being 44 percent, and worth \$43 to \$552.  
 5 Since we received rent increase, two residents  
 6 have moved out our building because of the extreme  
 7 rent. The landlord has the legal right to increase  
 8 these rents to these high amounts, but by doing so, has  
 9 taken the legal rights of two hardworking residents,  
 10 one who had lived in our building for more than 12  
 11 years, a chance of the American Dream. Because her  
 12 rent nearly doubled, she could not continue to stay in  
 13 our apartment building since she has lived there since  
 14 the early 90s, and where her daughter grew up.  
 15 She could not afford to pay the extreme rents for  
 16 the coming months that we need to organize and purchase  
 17 our building. The mortgage payments and other costs  
 18 associated with homeownership would have been less than  
 19 the amount to which her rent skyrocketed. She may  
 20 never have another chance to own a home I the District  
 21 of Columbia.  
 22 We are in danger of losing more residents who will

Page 439

1 be struggling to make rent payments or conscientiously  
 2 not making payments and ending up in landlord-tenant  
 3 court with all the time and effort that that requires.  
 4 They will make these sacrifices to have a chance to  
 5 become a homeowner. They will make these sacrifices to  
 6 give their families stability and a good neighborhood.  
 7 They will make these sacrifices to improve their  
 8 lives.  
 9 Because of the increase in rent, our first efforts  
 10 on countering its effect have not been good. We have  
 11 an attorney to help us with the TOPA matter, but her  
 12 first few hours of billable time have been on the rent  
 13 increases. We have been diverted from buying our  
 14 building despite our rent increases.  
 15 I would like to comment on Bill 16-458. I think  
 16 third party buyers and their agents should be included  
 17 in Section 2(c). For an example, in our building, the  
 18 potential buyer leased the only vacant apartment and  
 19 had a contract employee move into it. He loitered in  
 20 our lobby, on our sidewalk to get a chance to persuade  
 21 and intimidate when effective our residents -- the  
 22 residents in our building, that they could not take the

Page 440

1 step to becoming a homeowner is what he was telling  
 2 everybody. He actually even threatened the President  
 3 of the Board.  
 4 There is enough self-inflicted buyer remorse here;  
 5 we don't need any more of it. We already know.  
 6 Some residents felt threatened by the contract  
 7 employees presence because of these concerns. With  
 8 safety, we spent a significant amount of time  
 9 coordinating fire safety inspections by the Office of  
 10 the Fire Marshal seeking assistance from PSA 107 to  
 11 help organize an apartment watch. If we could have  
 12 just focused on our time and effort in organizing our  
 13 association and educating ourselves in the TOPA process  
 14 and making an effective strategy for us to purchase our  
 15 building, we would not be losing residents. This  
 16 tactic to drive from us from our homes has been a  
 17 diversion that is delaying us from the goal we seek.  
 18 These tactics have also caused some residents to  
 19 lose opportunities to achieve that goal, as I said  
 20 before. Besides losing two residents immediately, as  
 21 mentioned before, we think we think we may lose five to  
 22 six more residents, of which one two three may be

Page 441

1 evicted by the end of the holiday season. This nearly  
 2 empties out one floor of a three-floor unit building.  
 3 We are not -- we are at a crossroads where if  
 4 something does not change in the law, we foresee a loss  
 5 of the heritage of people who live their lives in the  
 6 District through the good times and the bad. We have  
 7 our residents in our building who have lived there for  
 8 43 years. We need these proposals changed -- these  
 9 proposed changes to be enacted immediately to help  
 10 future residents in future buildings purchase and  
 11 counter the vicious attacks from the seller and the  
 12 buyer.  
 13 Thank you for your time. I do have one last thing  
 14 to say. I would to speak about the situation in my  
 15 building, if you will allow me to, for the living  
 16 conditions.  
 17 I don't know how to begin. I'm kind of nervous,  
 18 so this is the first time I've ever done this.  
 19 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Why don't you let me ask you  
 20 that question --  
 21 MR. REID: Okay.  
 22 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: -- when I come back to you --



Page 442

1 MR. REID: Thank you.  
 2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: -- because your time has  
 3 expired.  
 4 MR. REID: Thank you, Mr. Graham.  
 5 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Thank you very much, Mr. Reid,  
 6 for your testimony.  
 7 Faith?  
 8 FAITH: Yes. Thank you very much for allowing me  
 9 to be on the ballot. I tried to be on the ballot  
 10 yesterday, but there were too many people that were  
 11 witnessing.  
 12 I'd like to start to say that I know when you came  
 13 here, became a citizen, and then later myself. This  
 14 was called Chocolate City. Now it's Vanilla Villa.  
 15 And, you know, that I have to borrow from the last  
 16 witnessing. I did last spring borrow from what I said.  
 17 And I said that this is a conspicuous movement of  
 18 racism. This is another kind of lynching of black  
 19 people in this city.  
 20 It's not just a matter of leaving your home. Do  
 21 you know what it's like for a family to have to pick  
 22 up, being forced? You know, a home, the walls become

Page 443

1 part of you, like, you know, your dog or cat. You're  
 2 part of your environment. So, what happens here? The  
 3 family is removed. They can't even afford to go to  
 4 Ward 9 in Prince Georges County. I don't know where  
 5 people are going.  
 6 Some of them are going under the freeways, Mr.  
 7 Graham, and you know this. This is a hidden thing.  
 8 This racism is intrinsic in our government. Every time  
 9 I run for mayor or for whatever, you know, I've been  
 10 off and on the ballot for -- since 1982. And not only  
 11 have I been pushing rent rollback, which is very, very  
 12 imperative.  
 13 You have the responsibility of taking care of us.  
 14 You are our pastors now. You're our ministers. You  
 15 have to take care of our safety. The people are dying.  
 16 They're dying. You know, I like to borrow from one of  
 17 these Tea for Two songs. I said the landlords are  
 18 greedy, evicting, indeed, urban renewal is Negro  
 19 removal. This is a very conspicuous thing.  
 20 We have to stop racism, and what you can do is,  
 21 this Council has to make a referendum, referendum.  
 22 It's so important. You have to have the masses of the

Page 444

1 people be involved with this.  
 2 Sometimes, you know, someone earlier complained  
 3 that there's nobody else on this committee -- oh, yeah,  
 4 they popped in early. You know, I did a little  
 5 investigation of my own. I'm like the Dorothy Brazil  
 6 of governments. I snoop around, and way back in the  
 7 early 80s, I broke my neck to write down my comments  
 8 and make a lot of copies of it. You know what I found  
 9 out? There are only two people on the Council that  
 10 were reading what these beautiful people have to say,  
 11 and that was -- she became -- Frank Smith and -- her  
 12 son is running for something now -- Thomas, Harry  
 13 Thomas that read everybody's thing, and they got  
 14 together with their aides and really studied this.  
 15 Unfortunately, you know, John Ray came around. He  
 16 must've been dropping some weird kind of acid, you  
 17 know, the devil's mixture or something like that.  
 18 Impose a devastating -- you know, to be, to have  
 19 gentrification -- to be gentrified is to create  
 20 genocide.  
 21 And I'd like to say one more thing, that when I  
 22 first moved into our building, the Park Plaza, many

Page 445

1 years ago, I used to judge what was going on in our  
 2 swimming pool in the summer time, you know. Who is  
 3 living in the building, and what was going on with the  
 4 -- well, we had so many beautiful African-Americans,  
 5 Africans from Africa, and Asians, Latinos, you know, a  
 6 couple of beige people, myself. But little by little  
 7 as the years went on -- this is what I said at my last  
 8 witnessing, all of a sudden all of these congressional  
 9 groupies have moved into D.C., and what we have around  
 10 the pool in the summer time are these beautiful, rich  
 11 people with their designer G-strings. And not only  
 12 that, they don't talk to you in the elevator, and they  
 13 don't care whether they're paying \$2,000 for a one  
 14 bedroom because they have the money.  
 15 And in a way they feel very strong to be able to  
 16 pay that. They love it. And what's happening here is  
 17 that -- I'm going to say it blatantly. It's killing  
 18 people. And all of you all have to really get into  
 19 your collective conscience and see what's happening  
 20 here. So much pain. So much poverty.  
 21 With all of you all -- just a moment. You know,  
 22 when I run for mayor, they keep buzzing with alarm

Page 446

1 clocks. We only have two minutes, so I appreciate this  
 2 little over five minutes. But it's very emotional  
 3 about this.  
 4 People are dying. Stop it. You can all help.  
 5 Get together. You know, you could be activists, and  
 6 you could show the rest of the country and the rest of  
 7 the world that you really are about human beings here  
 8 in America.  
 9 You talk about homeland security? We've been  
 10 terrorized by our own government. And, excuse me, Jim  
 11 -- call you Jim. You're letting the government  
 12 allowing you to pimp us. You wouldn't like to face  
 13 yourself and say I'm a pimp. And that's what's  
 14 happening. You're being controlled by the main  
 15 government.  
 16 Years ago, when one of my Ward 8 had a big --  
 17 mayor's forum, and at the time I said -- I turned  
 18 around and I said, you know, I said, there's a majority  
 19 of people on this Council of black, and yet you're a  
 20 white racist facility. You're a chip off the old  
 21 block. And, I'm sorry, this is a beginning of the  
 22 revolution. And eventually we're going to push

Page 447

1 secession as an option.  
 2 Thank you very much. And please get together, and  
 3 seek -- reach into your hearts and your souls to help  
 4 people here. Stop this gentrification. There should  
 5 be a moratorium on it, and not only that, you have to  
 6 rent control on the store fronts, and in these big  
 7 business buildings that are just sitting there. You  
 8 could house people..  
 9 You know, we've had our own levies broken. Oh,  
 10 it's terrible, these people dying and drowning down  
 11 there in the South. But what about us? The floods  
 12 coming in of hatred for the disadvantaged. That's why  
 13 the people are terrorizing us because we're terrorizing  
 14 our own people, and the rest of the world with whole  
 15 real estate thing.  
 16 Realtors and landlords are hurting us, and it  
 17 should not be a profit making facility. It's an  
 18 industry just like medicine.  
 19 Thank you for letting me express myself. Don't  
 20 hesitate to vote for Faith, D.C. mayor in '98.  
 21 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Okay. Okay, Faith.  
 22 So, Mr. Reid, what is the atmosphere in the

Page 448

1 building?  
 2 MR. REID: For 420 16th Street, our rent has  
 3 increased. We have some people in efficiencies and one  
 4 bedrooms that are paying over \$1,100. You can hear me?  
 5 I'm sorry about that -- that are paying \$1,100 and  
 6 more for their rent. Their rent ceilings are, like,  
 7 \$3,100.  
 8 I have pictures that I can e-mail to you of our  
 9 roof leaking, our basement flooding. We have an  
 10 apartment in the basement that may not even be legal,  
 11 that the walls are coming out, the electrical sockets  
 12 are sitting out.  
 13 In my apartment, I have the toilet above me in my  
 14 bathroom leaking directly on us in the bathroom, and my  
 15 toilet in turn is doing the same to the people below  
 16 us.  
 17 We have a lot of vermin issues. We even have --  
 18 we have problems with our front doors. Sometimes we  
 19 can't even get in through the front door of the  
 20 apartment building. We have people sleeping in our  
 21 stairwell.  
 22 We -- you know, this is the Capitol Hill area, and

Page 449

1 we -- it's just surprising on how much decay is in our  
 2 building to be in such a good area of town. And that's  
 3 my main concern. If we're going to pay this money,  
 4 then fix what's going on.  
 5 Another thing I forgot to bring up is that my  
 6 windows in my unit, I had to caulk them shut, and I'm  
 7 on the second level. But they're plastic. You can  
 8 barely see out of them. They constantly fall. I had  
 9 my AC unit fall out the window one day.  
 10 It's just absolutely ridiculous on how they keep  
 11 the apartment building and how it's ran.  
 12 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, you may have heard the  
 13 other day -- I mean, I went with the fire department --  
 14 MR. REID: Yes, I did. I didn't want to bring it  
 15 up.  
 16 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: -- and the DCRA with sledge  
 17 hammers and everything else and a search warrant, you  
 18 know, in a building which, you know, the whole strategy  
 19 of the owner, Dr. Lawrence Drell, who has a psychiatric  
 20 practice at 3000 Connecticut Avenue. The whole purpose  
 21 of his strategy is to make everybody so miserable, they  
 22 abandon the building.

Page 450

1 MR. REID: That's exactly how we feel.  
 2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: So, this is a standard way of  
 3 operating for some unscrupulous people, and that is  
 4 that you just suspend all services, you know. And in  
 5 this building, and I don't think it's been really  
 6 captured what a serious situation it was. And I hope  
 7 this doesn't happen to you, but there's been a fire in  
 8 the building, you know. There has been major threats  
 9 to the public health from methane gas.  
 10 I mean, this is not about peeling paint; this is a  
 11 serious concentrated effort to drive the tenants out.  
 12 And that's -- no, I'm not saying that's what this is  
 13 about, and I'm not suggesting this -- any of the  
 14 landlord representatives who have testified today are  
 15 about that type of thing. But that's also going on,  
 16 and it's real. And I could give you many more examples  
 17 and very recent examples.  
 18 So, Mr. Reid, you may have to brace yourself  
 19 because there may be more on the way than a 99 percent  
 20 increase in your rent.  
 21 MR. REID: Oh, I completely understand that. I am  
 22 one --

Page 451

1 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Now, is this a rent control  
 2 building?  
 3 MR. REID: This is a rent control building. Me  
 4 and one other resident are the only two left with one  
 5 year leases. Our leases expire -- my lease expires  
 6 February. Their lease expires in March. And we --  
 7 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, let me ask you this  
 8 question. You provided us useful information, but you  
 9 haven't provided us with the rent ceilings. Do you  
 10 know the rent ceiling?  
 11 MR. REID: Yes, I do. Actually I do have them  
 12 with me.  
 13 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Okay. So, let's have that  
 14 information, too, if you could provide it to us. If  
 15 you have it with you, that's great.  
 16 But anyway, I just have a question now for -- let  
 17 me just ask --  
 18 MR. REID: Can I make one more comment? In fact,  
 19 we are thinking -- because we haven't had our heat  
 20 turned on yet. Like, for example, I have a fire risk  
 21 anyway. I don't have a fire alarm anywhere in my  
 22 apartment. And on top of that, I have to heat my

Page 452

1 apartment by my oven, and I've been doing so since this  
 2 weekend. And we think they're not going to start  
 3 turning on the heat until after November 1st.  
 4 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, be very careful about  
 5 using that appliance for that purpose because that --  
 6 you know, and that's the type of hazard that you're  
 7 compelled to, you know, expose yourself to.  
 8 Okay. Now, we've got this. Let me ask a question  
 9 of Amy LaFavre Dolan. You know, so much of your  
 10 testimony was helpful, and I appreciate it. You know,  
 11 we're trying to understand the dilemmas that you all  
 12 are facing, too. But please don't characterize this  
 13 legislation as providing a one percent vacancy  
 14 increase. It's one percent -- in the case of a vacant  
 15 apartment, it's one percent per year for the number of  
 16 years that the prior tenant was there.  
 17 Now, if it was just one percent, then that  
 18 would've been a very recent turnover. That would've  
 19 been a turnover a year previous, and you'd have your  
 20 higher rent ceilings, you'd have your -- you know what  
 21 I'm saying?  
 22 MS. DOLAN: Mm-hmm.

Page 453

1 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And so, some of your numbers  
 2 here, you know, really probably in fairness need to be  
 3 revised because we really had in mind much, much more  
 4 than that.  
 5 But I think that the point that you make, you  
 6 know, concerning, you know, the petitions -- I'm going  
 7 to specifically ask your question. So, you were a  
 8 perfect witness also, because the questions that you  
 9 have raised I'm now going to turn to Raynell Zapata and  
 10 ask her those questions. So, if you're able to stay or  
 11 you can hear this hearing, you'll see that we're going  
 12 to address the specific issues that you raised.  
 13 MS. DOLAN: Okay.  
 14 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Which I think do have validity.  
 15 And I'm familiar with the building that you manage,  
 16 and it's a very fine building.  
 17 MS. DOLAN: Thank you.  
 18 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And it's in a very desirable  
 19 location, and we want to keep that type of building,  
 20 just like the Park Plaza. You know, we want to keep  
 21 that having affordable elements and units within it  
 22 because you know what that building would be like

Page 454

1 otherwise, right?

2 MS. DOLAN: Oh, absolutely.

3 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: You know what would happen there

4 with all those wonderful balconies that you have. I've

5 been in your building many, many times. And it's so

6 well kept, and you have a beautiful lobby.

7 MS. DOLAN: Thank you.

8 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I know about the building. But,

9 so let me get to those questions. Thank you very much

10 for all your fine work and legal services. It means a

11 great deal to us.

12 Now, we have one more public witness. Thank you

13 very much.

14 MR. REID: Thank you, Mr. Graham.

15 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: If you would come forward,

16 please.

17 MS. DOLAN: Thank you.

18 FAITH: Can I just say one thing, just one little

19 thing? If you buy an automobile and you go out of the

20 dealer's place, that automobile, you ought to say, it's

21 cut in half. But you live in a building, like, for 20

22 years, especially with children and animals, you wear

Page 455

1 down the plumbing, the floors. And our building is

2 about 75 years old, but it's very unfair that there's

3 so much abuse to apartments, and it's only logical,

4 rent rollback. Repeat after me, rent rollback. Thank

5 you very much. Rent rollback. Thank you very much.

6 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Now, would you like to step

7 forward, please? We've had you testify before. I

8 probably should know your name, but come and introduce

9 yourself. Is there anyone else who wishes to give test

10 today? Otherwise, this will be the last witness.

11 Could you please state your name for the record?

12 MR. BROWN: Yes, my name is Dwayne Brown, and I'm

13 a resident of Washington, D.C. Good evening,

14 Councilmember Brown. I am pleased to testify before

15 the Council today. I'm a resident at Mount Vernon

16 Plaza, which is located at 10th and M Street,

17 Northwest. I have resided there since 1990.

18 I'm here today to ask the City Council to put caps

19 on the amount of one's rent can be increased annually

20 in buildings that are not under rent control. The

21 building that I live in is not under rent control

22 because it was built like maybe, like, 15 years ago.

Page 456

1 I'm familiar with the fact that the cost of living

2 is always rising, but my rent has been increased 550

3 percent over the last four years.

4 This type of increase is unconscionable. You

5 know, I feel like the price and polices of Mount Vernon

6 Plaza are systematically pushing me out of my home. I

7 do not want to be priced out of my apartment.

8 I have been a resident in my building for 14

9 years. I know this is the boom time for real estate

10 growth I this area, but I went through the harsh years

11 when no one wanted to live in that area. It was all

12 type of things going on outside of my building --

13 prostitution, smoking illegal drugs, fire alarms were

14 pulled in the building. And I reveal the unsightly

15 facts that all type of things going on.

16 Now, I want to kind of like stop there,

17 Councilmember Graham. This building -- what I want to

18 ask is, my building is not under rent control, okay?

19 So, I'm asking, you know, it was built 16 years ago,

20 and the last time I was here to testify, April the

21 15th, you told me to come back. You mentioned that the

22 buildings that got the best of rent controls was, like

Page 457

1 -- was up to 1989. That's what you stated back then.

2 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: I'm sorry, '75 I think it is.

3 MR. BROWN: Seventy-five?

4 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Yeah, isn't it '75? It's

5 properties that were built before 1975 are subject to

6 rent control.

7 MR. BROWN: Okay. So, I'm just asking, like, at

8 what point would you consider -- at what point were

9 these buildings that were built maybe like 15 years ago

10 be considered to go under rent control, because from my

11 research, I've found out that the building -- it took,

12 like, \$17 million to build it. Now, the property is

13 within excess of over \$80 million. They received a

14 grant from the city government to build. So, they did

15 some set asides for, like, 16 years.

16 And so, now I think they're getting ready to -- in

17 the policy of set asides, you know, it's, like, things

18 are -- it's, like, we had, like, a lady that was -- had

19 a set aside. She was, like, 69 years old. They chose

20 not to renew her rent last month because they said her

21 apartment was too dirty, you know, things like that.

22 And so, you know, the rent is just increasing.

Page 458

1 That 10 percent cap you're talking about for apartment  
 2 like mine's, you know, it comes out sometimes. Like,  
 3 one time my rent was increased over \$200 in one year,  
 4 and I just don't -- I just feel like I'm being priced  
 5 out of my apartment and out of my community. That's at  
 6 10th and M Street.

7 You know, Councilmember Graham, you know, I've  
 8 really been there through the tough times, and, you  
 9 know, to be honest, I don't see guys in my building  
 10 that look like me anymore. And now, I get these stares  
 11 when I get on the elevator, you know. And that doesn't  
 12 make me feel too good, you know.

13 I was there when no one else wanted to be there,  
 14 and now people, you know, looking at me strange. And  
 15 I've been there -- I'm probably, like, the second  
 16 longest resident in that building.

17 And so, I'm asking maybe you can do something  
 18 about -- I don't know, maybe, like, okay. Why should  
 19 my rent be the same as the people that's coming in and  
 20 I've been there 15 years?

21 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: Well, I want to thank you very  
 22 much, Mr. Brown. Your testimony as the last public

Page 459

1 witness is absolutely perfect because what you're doing  
 2 is you're coming here as someone who is not -- does not  
 3 have the benefit of even a flawed rent control  
 4 protection. And, you know, here's the testimony of  
 5 somebody. You are vulnerable, and you're also  
 6 witnessing how your building has changed. And there  
 7 is, quite frankly, nothing that rent control can do  
 8 about any of that. And so, you're saying to us, and  
 9 what I'm hearing you say to us -- what year was your  
 10 building built?

11 MR. BROWN: I moved there in November of 1990. I  
 12 remember going looking at the property in 1989, but I  
 13 didn't --

14 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: So, let's say -- so one of the  
 15 messages that Mr. Brown was saying, why don't you  
 16 extend rent control to include buildings that were  
 17 built before 1990? Why don't you give me the  
 18 protection of rent control? That's what I'm hearing  
 19 from you.

20 MR. BROWN: That's what you're hearing.

21 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM: And, you know, there are a lot  
 22 of Mr. Browns -- excuse me for -- you know what it was

Page 460

1 like with Ms. Williamson. I used her name, and now I'm  
 2 using Mr. Brown's name. But there are lot of Mr.  
 3 Browns who are probably watching this today and saying,  
 4 I wish my building had these protections, because as  
 5 flawed as it might be, you'd be better off with rent  
 6 control in your building than you are right now without  
 7 it.

8 And that's why I'm saying to you, Mr. Brown, your  
 9 testimony is perfect, not necessarily for your  
 10 situation, but it's perfect for our hearing to conclude  
 11 with your testimony because it sends a very powerful  
 12 message as to how important this really is. And I  
 13 thank you for your testimony.

14 Unfortunately, the law is what it is today, and we  
 15 want to move on now to Ms. Zapata. So, I appreciate  
 16 it.

17 Now, Ms. Zapata, will you come forward? We're  
 18 going to take a three-minute break for a personal  
 19 privilege. But when I come back, you'll be at the  
 20 table? Thank you.

21 [Whereupon, the hearing was concluded.]  
 22

<p><b>A</b></p> <p><b>abandon</b> 449:22</p> <p><b>abandoned</b> 403:9</p> <p><b>abatement</b> 390:9,10</p> <p><b>abatements</b> 211:17</p> <p><b>abide</b> 306:16</p> <p><b>ability</b> 25:16 29:6 72:22 123:3 135:18 158:21 184:17 301:9 334:9 365:20 366:8 366:12 431:17</p> <p><b>able</b> 13:12 24:11 26:16 29:17 66:20 97:17 99:4 100:7 117:17 125:18 136:1 137:12 142:13 154:5 185:2 186:21 191:6 193:11 230:20 232:4,5 232:11 266:8 269:9 272:11 272:13 276:20 280:2 283:6 284:8 290:13 290:20 295:10 295:12 297:13 298:5,7 318:5 323:9 342:21 346:21 361:13 362:8,9,18,19 363:8 371:22 391:15 400:22 409:15 422:6 431:1 435:3,17 435:18 436:8 436:13 445:15 453:10</p> <p><b>abolish</b> 215:16</p>	<p>421:4</p> <p><b>abolished</b> 207:3</p> <p><b>abreast</b> 333:20</p> <p><b>absence</b> 249:21 370:9</p> <p><b>absolutely</b> 40:22 69:22 70:3 82:19 86:17,19 93:17 95:7 115:14,16 122:16 123:11 123:16 140:10 186:15 196:11 201:13 304:9 331:12 348:10 383:2 391:7 428:11 434:13 449:10 454:2 459:1</p> <p><b>absorb</b> 408:4</p> <p><b>abuse</b> 17:5 220:11 257:15 455:3</p> <p><b>abused</b> 89:20</p> <p><b>abuses</b> 69:5,5 269:12 370:15</p> <p><b>abusive</b> 90:16</p> <p><b>AC</b> 449:9</p> <p><b>academic</b> 159:3</p> <p><b>accelerant</b> 251:3</p> <p><b>accelerate</b> 83:4 178:1</p> <p><b>accelerated</b> 41:8</p> <p><b>accelerates</b> 85:8 260:20</p> <p><b>accelerating</b> 251:2</p> <p><b>accept</b> 18:4 137:15 257:1 417:20</p> <p><b>acceptable</b> 177:5 194:12 241:5</p> <p><b>accepted</b> 257:7</p> <p><b>access</b> 21:21</p>	<p>48:12 49:6 50:19 60:15 61:12 86:16 330:21,22 331:2 389:18</p> <p><b>accessible</b> 59:5 60:8 64:8</p> <p><b>accessory</b> 40:17</p> <p><b>accommodate</b> 140:8,22</p> <p><b>accommodated</b> 150:14</p> <p><b>accommodation</b> 59:4 238:17,17 371:20 434:12</p> <p><b>accommodati...</b> 8:21 76:14 83:14 84:9 97:13 261:11</p> <p><b>accomplish</b> 67:9 67:10</p> <p><b>accorded</b> 150:20</p> <p><b>account</b> 35:4 77:3 198:8 199:9 349:4</p> <p><b>accountable</b> 369:4</p> <p><b>accountants</b> 184:8</p> <p><b>accounting</b> 144:5 201:11</p> <p><b>accurate</b> 74:16 216:5</p> <p><b>accurately</b> 111:7 381:13</p> <p><b>accustomed</b> 273:6</p> <p><b>achieve</b> 44:21 322:6 337:19 440:19</p> <p><b>achieved</b> 107:5</p> <p><b>achievement</b> 219:3</p> <p><b>achieves</b> 76:19</p> <p><b>acid</b> 444:16</p>	<p><b>acknowledge</b> 42:4 43:20 58:3 65:21 89:7 141:3 171:17 298:16 343:6</p> <p><b>acknowledges</b> 16:14</p> <p><b>acquaint</b> 18:10</p> <p><b>acres</b> 332:22</p> <p><b>act</b> 1:7,8,10,11 1:14 7:11,12 11:12 15:17 17:14,19 18:22 19:11 27:9 51:21 57:8,9 57:10,11,12,13 58:12,21 59:4 65:20 66:11,13 66:15,17 67:20 83:13 117:6 143:6 146:21 153:1 156:12 157:8 168:2 177:9 179:11 181:17 189:3,4 248:20 249:5 256:4 279:13 280:17,17,20 285:4,13 286:2 286:10 290:17 348:17 349:19 357:7 364:20 368:18 370:1 388:12 427:14</p> <p><b>Acting</b> 10:22</p> <p><b>action</b> 3:10,11 17:3 119:2 139:15,16 140:5 142:2,8 161:9 165:17 169:12,12 209:5 251:1 255:7 258:18 279:15 294:7</p>	<p>342:14</p> <p><b>actions</b> 16:11 38:11 44:15 169:14 255:15 280:10 284:3</p> <p><b>activate</b> 308:4,8</p> <p><b>active</b> 298:8 374:14</p> <p><b>activist</b> 210:5 308:1</p> <p><b>activists</b> 213:6 446:5</p> <p><b>actor</b> 345:12,13</p> <p><b>actors</b> 345:7 346:17</p> <p><b>acts</b> 208:19</p> <p><b>actual</b> 44:7 152:13 153:9 176:1 193:9,13 201:11 237:6 251:19,22 268:1 289:12 310:14 365:17 385:5</p> <p><b>Act's</b> 11:13</p> <p><b>Adams</b> 31:16 42:12 65:8 67:17 141:18 158:4 206:3 248:10 293:7 327:6 360:22 393:18</p> <p><b>adapt</b> 40:19</p> <p><b>add</b> 46:6,20 152:4 177:20 203:10 214:13 310:9,10 321:1 322:7 334:16 339:22 367:1,4 367:22 391:13 394:19 401:3 421:18 423:7</p> <p><b>added</b> 251:3 289:22</p> <p><b>adding</b> 333:19</p>
--	--	--	--	--

379:9 382:18 389:6 <b>responses</b> 16:10 <b>responsibility</b> 168:1,2 208:1 387:1 443:13 <b>responsible</b> 118:10 177:4 306:7 332:4 350:11 386:13 427:7 429:22 <b>responsibly</b> 116:22 406:19 <b>rest</b> 49:3 164:7 215:4 230:22 411:16 446:6,6 447:14 <b>restoration</b> 301:1 <b>restorations</b> 125:8 <b>restraint</b> 431:18 <b>restrict</b> 428:6 431:16 <b>restrictions</b> 366:14 406:14 428:3 431:19 <b>restrictive</b> 324:22 <b>result</b> 15:11 188:17 193:12 272:17 279:22 286:6 377:12 383:10,17 387:20 390:11 394:10 <b>resulted</b> 378:7 <b>results</b> 9:3 129:16 176:1 188:18 282:13 338:17 404:3 <b>retaliation</b> 295:21 296:11 <b>retaliatory</b> 280:9 343:7	<b>retard</b> 123:12 <b>retired</b> 308:5 <b>retirements</b> 408:4 <b>return</b> 15:7 62:7 63:8 73:9 74:6 74:17 76:7,18 77:10,16,18,19 78:7 79:6 85:11 87:2,4 110:13 117:15 133:14 136:8 143:9,12 145:21 166:16 182:18 184:2 187:22 188:20 198:5,22 199:3 199:9 249:11 276:6 347:13 348:22 349:1 409:21 410:4 428:21,22 <b>returns</b> 271:14 <b>revamp</b> 186:9 195:19 433:6 <b>reveal</b> 456:14 <b>revealed</b> 34:22 <b>revenue</b> 25:13 215:11 253:7,7 372:2 <b>revenues</b> 412:14 419:7 <b>reverse</b> 221:1 421:7 <b>review</b> 8:20 75:12 146:7,9 146:15 178:9 180:12 217:20 321:11 406:6 406:16 419:5 <b>reviewed</b> 180:14 180:15 204:7 <b>reviewing</b> 101:19 150:10 <b>revise</b> 44:5	<b>revised</b> 453:3 <b>revision</b> 39:10 40:11 <b>revocation</b> 16:19,20 <b>revoke</b> 262:2 <b>revoked</b> 262:1 <b>revolution</b> 446:22 <b>revolutionary</b> 310:12 <b>revolving</b> 344:6 <b>rewards</b> 250:15 <b>re-occupancy</b> 124:10 <b>re-tenanting</b> 430:11 <b>RFPs</b> 43:18 <b>rhetorical</b> 216:5 <b>rich</b> 127:22 138:11 403:16 445:10 <b>Richard</b> 341:7 <b>richer</b> 333:16 <b>rid</b> 128:12 201:4 296:7 305:8 349:22 <b>riddled</b> 177:13 <b>ridiculous</b> 86:4 449:10 <b>right</b> 15:13,16 17:2 18:7 25:19 30:12 41:10 43:17 45:1 51:7,8,13 52:14,16 53:15 53:19 57:10 59:16,18 65:13 66:15,16 67:12 71:22 72:13,15 73:16 74:20 81:1,20 82:13 82:20 84:11 86:20 87:3,8 87:14 90:19,19	91:5 95:2,8,12 96:18,19 100:13 101:13 104:1 113:17 114:7 117:12 117:21 118:4,7 124:11 126:8 126:13,15 128:15 132:2,3 132:5,6,15,20 133:16 134:15 135:5,9 137:3 138:1 140:16 146:21,22 149:4,5 151:1 153:11 155:6 156:13 163:11 163:16 169:22 171:6 172:3,4 172:5 173:3,5 180:7 187:4 190:17,20 194:10 195:9 195:11 196:11 196:14 197:14 197:16 199:12 200:21 201:6 204:1 205:11 215:14 216:3 217:11,14,16 221:12 223:16 223:18,19 224:20,21 227:1 234:22 235:21 246:11 247:18 248:10 248:14 249:1 253:10,16 256:3 261:14 261:18 263:8 270:4,7,9,10 272:2,3 274:15 274:21 275:15 276:2 278:7 279:6,18 280:8	282:7 285:4,12 .288:2,12 290:8 292:9 294:6,6 294:7 296:10 299:6 301:1,13 304:9 312:18 314:7,10 316:1 316:4 317:11 318:11,12 319:18 320:9 322:3 323:1 327:12 331:10 352:16 353:11 354:14 357:4,6 359:7 363:9 369:17 370:21 371:2,5 372:14 375:2 380:22 381:11 382:12 384:3 388:1 389:10 392:19 392:19 397:1,7 408:13 410:15 411:21 416:1 417:10 434:21 435:18,19 436:2,11,12 438:7 454:1 460:6 <b>rights</b> 1:8,11 7:11 16:3,14 16:16 17:4,20 18:9,21 57:9 61:9,18 76:6 89:20 126:16 141:5 142:14 149:4,13 151:7 261:13 280:19 284:13,17,18 285:13,22 294:4 295:19 295:22 296:1 296:12,14,19 298:7,10 345:17,18
--	---	--	--	---

358:15 388:8	47:20 48:15,16	65:9 89:8 97:9	294:22 298:6	222:12 230:3
422:11 435:22	48:19 49:1,21	187:8 233:7	408:13	232:22 234:14
437:4 438:9	50:2 51:3,8,11	309:19	<b>safely</b> 207:22	239:22 240:2
<b>rigorous</b> 141:2	51:14 52:9,12	<b>rounded</b> 101:21	<b>safety</b> 440:8,9	243:11 275:5
<b>rip</b> 215:3 220:21	52:16 55:7,10	<b>rounds</b> 42:11,12	443:15	310:2 325:7
<b>ripping</b> 220:22	<b>role</b> 69:6 335:20	155:16	<b>sake</b> 53:13	343:13 344:15
<b>rise</b> 41:13 318:5	336:7 349:10	<b>route</b> 232:2	<b>salary</b> 144:3	350:13 362:12
332:20 407:8	<b>roles</b> 336:1,2,3	379:5	398:20	377:14 380:17
408:15	<b>rollback</b> 5:5,6	<b>routinely</b> 310:18	<b>sale</b> 261:15	380:21 382:14
<b>risen</b> 427:21	215:13 277:1	<b>Rubin</b> 4:20	279:22 294:13	382:18 387:19
<b>rising</b> 318:1	277:18 278:8	246:14 247:13	297:18 340:5	412:7 414:11
338:22 395:11	278:15 279:14	247:15 253:17	341:12 388:11	414:16 420:9
401:9 403:5	279:19 280:11	253:18,21	437:14,17	421:1 450:12
456:2	290:19 443:11	254:7,10	<b>sales</b> 69:5	452:21 459:8
<b>risk</b> 84:2 124:17	455:4,4,5	258:20 259:1,5	<b>sampling</b> 134:13	459:15 460:3,8
124:20 295:18	<b>rolling</b> 130:11	268:11,15	136:1	<b>says</b> 189:2
296:5 451:20	216:4 350:3	269:5,8 270:4	<b>sanction</b> 16:22	204:18 211:1
<b>risky</b> 198:9	<b>rollover</b> 407:6	270:7,10,20	<b>Santa</b> 214:17,18	234:11,15
<b>risqué</b> 62:14,16	<b>rolls</b> 155:12	274:12 305:16	<b>sat</b> 190:5 354:17	244:6,19
<b>Rittenhouse</b>	<b>roof</b> 24:22 114:9	<b>rule</b> 192:22	418:7	262:21 264:14
28:2 353:1	176:17 231:17	214:13 243:12	<b>satisfied</b> 237:10	289:10 308:12
392:9	265:3 430:18	249:9 250:5	<b>Saturday</b> 62:9	385:1
<b>river</b> 125:6	430:18 448:9	263:14 393:22	<b>save</b> 394:20	<b>scale</b> 41:6
138:14,14	<b>room</b> 36:19	<b>ruled</b> 244:8	415:4,5 434:18	<b>scalpel</b> 336:16
<b>roaches</b> 328:21	81:14 116:12	256:18 261:8	<b>saved</b> 286:19	<b>scandalous</b>
<b>Road</b> 114:15	200:18,19	<b>rules</b> 82:5,8 97:8	<b>saving</b> 77:15	404:14,18
224:16 233:13	328:17	327:13 395:10	209:6	<b>scarce</b> 338:21
<b>robbing</b> 71:4	<b>roommates</b>	<b>run</b> 80:3 260:13	<b>savings</b> 77:3	<b>schedule</b> 84:14
<b>Roberts</b> 4:15	160:8	264:21 302:10	207:12 349:4	119:10
223:5,18 224:4	<b>rooms</b> 59:22	309:1 363:13	408:4	<b>scheduled</b> 244:3
233:10,11,11	147:3,7	389:20 404:16	<b>saw</b> 42:21 125:5	<b>scheduling</b> 42:8
234:12,16,20	<b>root</b> 213:6	443:9 445:22	171:15 291:8	240:22 244:2
235:1,3,7,14	<b>rooted</b> 345:8	<b>runaway</b> 273:18	326:21 352:17	<b>scheme</b> 178:14
235:17,21	<b>Rose</b> 5:9 30:11	<b>running</b> 73:13	<b>Sawyer</b> 6:4	416:16
<b>robust</b> 58:11	140:7 204:21	124:17,20	148:2 291:20	<b>school</b> 55:15
<b>rock</b> 407:16	277:3 284:1,7	197:17 199:21	355:12	152:6 208:12
<b>rocket</b> 182:12	<b>Rothschild</b> 5:16	281:3 444:12	<b>saying</b> 25:8,8	356:2
217:4 390:8	291:14,15,16	<b>runs</b> 167:4 220:7	71:3 75:19	<b>schools</b> 55:15
<b>rockets</b> 214:14	292:7 293:1,3	<b>R-A-T-S</b> 308:2	77:4 83:5	89:15 184:14
<b>rodent</b> 294:17	303:11,13		90:19 94:4	282:10 331:17
<b>Rogers</b> 2:17	307:17 320:21	<b>S</b>	95:6 98:6,9	<b>Schroeder</b> 313:1
31:11,14,19,21	320:22 321:1	<b>S</b> 7:1	100:6 106:5	<b>Schwartz</b> 11:21
32:1,3,6,10,12	<b>roughly</b> 210:14	<b>sacrifices</b> 439:4	133:17,18	19:3
32:15 36:13,21	250:12	439:5,7	134:16 195:14	<b>science</b> 182:12
46:6,19,20	<b>round</b> 47:21	<b>safe</b> 84:9 250:1	203:11 212:3	183:18 390:9



<b>scientific</b> 318:4	446:9	377:11 382:2	<b>seller</b> 153:7,8,14	422:15 435:7
<b>scientist</b> 134:10	see 17:10 19:21	382:11,12	441:11	435:19
217:5 308:10	42:14 45:10	384:14,17	<b>Sellers</b> 3:10	<b>Separately</b>
310:7	47:1 55:12,13	387:18 392:13	139:15 141:9	295:2
<b>scrap</b> 302:1	60:9 68:12	392:20 396:21	141:14,15,20	<b>September</b>
<b>scraping</b> 400:14	82:18 85:21	397:5 400:8,10	142:4,5,16	32:20 42:19
<b>scratch</b> 364:8	86:3,6 88:6,8,9	410:10 423:20	157:10 158:14	112:18 145:14
<b>scrub</b> 91:15	95:17 96:3,9	436:7,8,20	158:15	437:19,21
<b>search</b> 449:17	97:20 99:5	445:19 449:8	<b>selling</b> 87:5	<b>Sergeant</b> 224:16
<b>season</b> 441:1	103:13 118:3	453:11 458:9	211:1 340:18	233:13
<b>seat</b> 30:16	122:1 126:7	<b>seeds</b> 214:5	<b>sells</b> 44:17,17	<b>series</b> 335:22
139:22 173:3	127:20 136:1	<b>seeing</b> 87:7	<b>seminar</b> 184:4	<b>serious</b> 125:4
246:21 292:8	140:2,7 143:3	154:11 210:4	<b>seminars</b> 367:3	220:2 285:1
387:21 392:11	159:18 160:6	241:21 282:13	<b>send</b> 411:20	406:17 450:6
424:22 425:3	160:11,17	303:17 364:18	412:6	450:11
<b>secession</b> 447:1	162:15 167:16	<b>seek</b> 21:6 25:22	<b>sending</b> 163:16	<b>seriously</b> 10:18
<b>second</b> 15:16	172:3 182:13	41:19 74:19	<b>sends</b> 460:11	29:12 43:12
35:16 48:10,21	182:14 189:9	440:17 447:3	<b>senior</b> 3:17 6:15	167:12,14
49:6 51:16	195:2 197:12	<b>seeking</b> 440:10	58:8 170:17	252:8 389:5
71:5 79:3	198:21 201:11	<b>seeks</b> 74:9	173:16 174:22	<b>serve</b> 38:11
166:21 173:7	201:15 202:5	429:18	182:21 207:2	335:5 402:9
175:11 200:9	203:19 219:8	<b>seen</b> 13:5,6	209:4 216:9	432:12
200:11 208:10	221:1 226:12	52:20 63:18	370:13 392:12	<b>served</b> 308:8
227:16 257:3	227:10,17,18	64:1 75:16	427:5	<b>serves</b> 174:12
278:12 353:3	230:6 232:22	83:22 171:19	<b>seniors</b> 195:20	<b>service</b> 73:14
410:13 449:7	234:3 235:20	222:11 250:6	195:20 220:14	95:11 117:16
458:15	237:18 241:8	250:18 251:13	220:15 231:3	122:7 123:15
<b>secondly</b> 22:18	245:2 246:7,14	292:1 296:4	285:20 287:2	144:11,14
367:22 370:5	246:16 261:19	298:20 396:1	<b>senior's</b> 207:5	188:9 225:5
409:13,18	268:22 274:11	398:9 435:6	<b>sense</b> 66:22	308:5 334:11
<b>seconds</b> 166:19	282:6,13,14,14	<b>segment</b> 38:12	93:11 138:19	342:18 398:18
197:20 238:4,6	282:15 289:10	338:6 422:19	156:15,21	<b>services</b> 5:13
253:13	289:14 291:14	<b>self-enforcing</b>	191:18 269:20	6:17 40:9
<b>secretarial</b>	291:19,19	220:4	314:21 318:4	111:1,5 187:13
409:14	292:6 301:18	<b>self-inflicted</b>	323:5 325:8	189:16 239:10
<b>Secretary</b> 332:1	303:16,19,22	440:4	346:9 395:10	264:17 291:8
<b>section</b> 131:9,10	308:15,15,19	<b>self-sufficiency</b>	<b>sensed</b> 433:15	292:13,14
156:13 210:9	309:2,3 310:14	34:17,18	<b>sensible</b> 20:19	293:12,15
302:3 332:10	313:1,11	<b>sell</b> 82:11 117:18	23:13 361:7	298:16 324:10
357:18 370:1	315:13 316:3	177:7 185:14	<b>sensitive</b> 109:19	342:16 347:20
371:11 439:17	317:17 319:4,4	198:7 266:14	<b>sent</b> 341:12,13	348:1 359:16
<b>sector</b> 404:17	319:10 326:22	266:14,16,16	<b>separate</b> 71:3	450:4 454:10
<b>secure</b> 285:21	331:13 336:22	274:19 282:22	192:14 245:10	<b>serving</b> 87:14
<b>security</b> 121:22	339:7 351:14	341:18 387:5	262:12 312:12	186:15
161:18 188:9	352:12 376:22	388:7	395:15 396:8	<b>set</b> 50:14 55:10

67:10 102:12	<b>she'll</b> 187:19	136:18 350:12	<b>similarly</b> 243:11	220:5 238:22
103:15 114:11	<b>shibboleth</b>	382:14 419:1	<b>simple</b> 8:9 13:20	245:13 262:13
132:12 147:14	413:11,13	422:19	48:22 49:3	267:18 335:10
155:1 254:9	<b>shifted</b> 38:6	<b>sidewalk</b> 439:20	191:13 324:5	373:9
270:1 314:3	<b>shifting</b> 160:14	<b>sight</b> 128:5	349:3 416:20	<b>singular</b> 121:11
336:8 389:12	266:4	342:22	<b>simpler</b> 409:1	123:10
394:18 422:14	<b>ships</b> 317:18	<b>sighted</b> 21:22	<b>simplify</b> 252:6	<b>sink</b> 350:5
422:18 457:15	<b>shooting</b> 115:3	<b>sign</b> 123:7	252:16,18	<b>sir</b> 64:22 82:3
457:17,19	<b>short</b> 21:22 38:8	313:16,16	254:16	91:9 96:22
<b>sets</b> 105:15	75:13 77:12	315:10,11	<b>simplifying</b> 59:3	132:5 229:8,20
<b>setting</b> 335:20	93:3 132:12	373:20 435:14	<b>simply</b> 11:3	230:11 248:8
<b>Settlement</b>	134:2 313:3,18	<b>signal</b> 163:17	17:19 18:7	322:2 325:18
341:9	437:11,11	<b>signed</b> 90:5	83:4 146:3	327:16,16
<b>seven</b> 140:18	<b>shortage</b> 179:13	96:12 237:14	176:14 177:10	330:5 392:22
162:13 247:4	183:19 338:16	311:8 314:15	178:19 288:18	393:3
287:19 388:3	406:20	315:9	325:11 363:15	<b>sirens</b> 214:14
407:5 413:15	<b>shortly</b> 125:3	<b>significance</b>	403:12 408:21	<b>sit</b> 24:6 75:19
<b>seventh</b> 287:20	138:21 140:8	372:5 422:15	420:20	85:16 102:11
<b>Seventy-five</b>	<b>should've</b> 28:15	<b>significant</b> 34:9	<b>Sims</b> 3:20	113:1 137:1
457:3	<b>show</b> 28:18 77:7	174:1 296:22	170:21 171:21	181:18 184:4
<b>severe</b> 33:21,21	110:13 184:5	366:2 440:8	171:22 172:14	186:5 239:7
249:16 256:15	185:21 201:21	<b>significantly</b>	172:16 173:8	422:19
366:14	202:19 256:8	68:5 178:21	180:18,20,22	<b>site</b> 147:2,3,4,10
<b>sewers</b> 308:2	309:16 310:14	431:10 432:3	181:3,4,5	<b>sitting</b> 130:3
<b>share</b> 25:12	344:6 401:19	<b>signing</b> 310:22	186:11 187:7	171:15 323:2
55:11 140:5	413:8 423:9	<b>signs</b> 183:20	190:3,5,10,15	387:21 411:18
213:9 242:20	446:6	313:8	190:17,20	447:7 448:12
<b>shared</b> 232:9	<b>showing</b> 259:16	<b>SILVER</b> 360:14	191:1 195:4,12	<b>situated</b> 243:12
<b>shares</b> 335:12	<b>shows</b> 145:22	360:18 361:20	195:16,19	<b>situation</b> 14:21
<b>SHARON</b> 2:13	149:13 177:9	<b>Silverman</b>	196:1,15,20	67:4 68:9
<b>Shaun</b> 3:17	310:2	360:14	197:2,5,8,14	84:21 85:7
144:3 170:16	<b>shrink</b> 207:12	<b>Silvers</b> 6:3	197:18 199:13	96:14 99:2,5
173:16	<b>shut</b> 408:5 449:6	291:17 354:3,3	200:3,7,10,15	115:18 160:6
<b>Shaw</b> 211:13	<b>side</b> 24:15,15	354:5,7,9,11	200:19 201:6,9	161:15 207:6
<b>sheet</b> 226:11	26:11 31:8	354:15 355:8	201:13,17	214:22 231:15
227:5,11	85:22 86:3,9	355:10 360:10	202:6,12,17	237:16 249:18
230:16 234:3	87:15 101:18	360:10,11,12	203:1,15,19	259:21 289:3
234:14 235:18	127:16 184:18	360:12,12	<b>Simultaneously</b>	299:9 303:3
262:12,13	346:22 382:13	364:16 384:14	315:13	312:10 322:8
341:2	385:1	384:15 387:8	<b>sincerely</b> 24:14	335:20 340:1
<b>shell</b> 363:21	<b>sided</b> 186:3	388:1,4,6	113:1 321:15	341:3 345:5
<b>Sheraton</b> 130:20	<b>sides</b> 23:9 24:1	389:1,10	<b>single</b> 8:1 13:10	347:21 349:10
<b>Sherman</b> 295:11	81:11 84:17	390:14,16	43:3 67:5	395:8 441:14
435:14,16	85:21 86:10	<b>similar</b> 287:3,7	174:21 192:2	450:6 460:10
<b>She'd</b> 264:9	87:13,13 88:5	302:3	192:15 219:7,7	<b>situations</b> 90:1

118:13 160:10	<b>smaller</b> 121:3	<b>somewhat</b> 60:19	311:14	74:19 90:8
316:18 338:1,4	125:7 135:17	61:1 65:18	<b>South</b> 447:11	135:14 140:1
<b>six</b> 93:21 140:18	145:19 265:21	97:20 111:10	<b>Southeast</b> 6:18	149:22 363:3
198:7 202:20	333:22 335:14	155:19 270:1	295:10 330:8	<b>specific</b> 44:7
250:3 257:13	<b>smart</b> 37:7	303:20 305:3	425:13 437:10	71:19 75:6
271:12 303:6	203:20	307:1 377:17	437:13,17	108:16 109:15
310:19 312:9	<b>Smith</b> 159:1,2	378:10 396:2	<b>Southwest</b>	157:11 217:22
313:20 391:15	310:17 444:11	<b>son</b> 121:1,2	332:21 347:3	271:5 306:5
424:7 440:22	<b>smoke</b> 219:13	444:12	352:8	346:2 372:13
<b>Sixteen</b> 237:1	275:6 390:5	<b>songs</b> 443:17	<b>souvenir</b> 410:5	381:4 382:7
<b>Sixty</b> 264:15	<b>smoking</b> 456:13	<b>soon</b> 93:18	<b>so-called</b> 28:5	453:12
<b>Sixty-two</b>	<b>snoop</b> 444:6	118:18 259:4	29:4 401:19	<b>specifically</b>
176:12	<b>social</b> 161:18	358:1 381:21	<b>space</b> 59:20 60:2	27:10 108:2,14
<b>six-month</b>	290:6 398:18	<b>SOPA</b> 435:22	60:3 371:13	256:11 339:11
237:14	<b>societal</b> 44:21	<b>sophisticated</b>	<b>spaces</b> 16:10	427:13 453:7
<b>size</b> 106:18	<b>society</b> 128:22	220:7	60:5	<b>specificity</b> 92:16
128:7 257:21	131:19 164:11	<b>sorry</b> 53:3 74:4	<b>span</b> 13:9	<b>specifics</b> 70:6
<b>sizes</b> 40:20	432:8	78:1 79:12	407:15	133:17 304:3
<b>skill</b> 218:7	<b>sociology</b> 333:6	143:13 159:11	<b>speak</b> 13:5 27:20	339:17 419:10
<b>skills</b> 208:17	<b>sockets</b> 448:11	204:11 225:22	32:5 57:1 72:3	<b>specified</b> 16:4
<b>sky</b> 377:1 378:13	<b>softly</b> 248:22	234:7,12,13	74:1 79:11	<b>speed</b> 252:1
<b>skyrocketed</b>	<b>software</b> 95:21	235:11 237:18	83:19 86:12	377:20
260:17 438:19	<b>sold</b> 126:16	328:3 330:4	133:9 135:12	<b>spell</b> 353:16
<b>skyrocketing</b>	128:8 346:7	360:18 361:20	140:7 142:6	<b>spells</b> 285:13
265:1 385:20	369:8 377:3	364:15 376:6	150:21 151:7	<b>spend</b> 389:13
<b>sledge</b> 449:16	379:3	378:14 380:18	207:1,20 208:6	<b>spending</b> 33:22
<b>sleeping</b> 448:20	<b>solely</b> 248:20	413:12 437:14	213:16 218:12	35:13,14
<b>slice</b> 216:17	431:19	446:21 448:5	293:12 295:3	<b>spent</b> 53:11
<b>slip</b> 353:9	<b>solid</b> 219:3	457:2	323:14 328:8	119:11,15
<b>slow</b> 178:3	<b>solution</b> 117:21	<b>sort</b> 47:3,18	328:10 330:15	236:7 265:22
<b>slowly</b> 157:17	118:4,7 416:21	52:20 63:17	337:7 360:16	300:18 301:2,4
<b>slum</b> 43:19	<b>solutions</b> 24:17	107:14 115:21	361:19 376:1	352:2,4 366:16
89:22 116:4	26:10 403:4	162:2 168:8	380:3 386:12	390:20 440:8
185:3	<b>solve</b> 71:6 85:6	301:22 308:2	441:14	<b>spirit</b> 23:21 26:9
<b>small</b> 3:20 59:5	<b>solved</b> 408:20	310:6 317:17	<b>SPEAKER</b>	<b>spite</b> 116:16
89:11,12,16	<b>solving</b> 22:22	362:20 388:6	204:17 239:16	<b>spoke</b> 43:11
95:16 121:2	<b>somebody</b> 9:17	<b>sorts</b> 280:9	249:3 262:15	91:15 112:22
125:17 135:16	14:22 160:12	<b>sought</b> 61:16	347:8 353:4	<b>spoken</b> 267:2
152:2 162:6	210:16 220:13	<b>souls</b> 447:3	<b>speaking</b> 75:10	403:17
170:21 181:7	267:19,19	<b>sound</b> 165:9	134:10 246:18	<b>spokesperson</b>
182:1,6 183:3	433:15 459:5	<b>sounds</b> 48:7,16	247:20,21	402:22
184:18 185:16	<b>somebody's</b>	393:21	248:21 295:7	<b>sponsored</b> 43:18
191:17 263:20	68:21 212:14	<b>source</b> 61:4	318:3 340:2	<b>sponsors</b> 149:11
284:22 334:14	<b>someplace</b> 60:2	123:14 162:7	<b>special</b> 3:4 15:11	<b>spot</b> 82:19 83:11
401:12 406:9	<b>Somerset</b> 291:22	168:15 280:18	50:13 57:17	<b>spread</b> 285:14

405:16 428:5 <b>spring</b> 442:16 <b>sprinting</b> 369:13 <b>square</b> 200:15 274:21 <b>squarely</b> 248:12 283:11 <b>squeeze</b> 212:12 395:16 <b>stability</b> 314:22 340:10 439:6 <b>stabilization</b> 14:10 20:1 43:6 68:3 160:14 166:13 168:2 367:16 <b>stabilized</b> 289:17 <b>stable</b> 196:4 <b>stacked</b> 319:13 <b>staff</b> 3:5 18:19 56:9,17 94:13 97:16,18 132:22 135:8 146:14 238:6 259:3 293:10 293:13 312:3 321:10 322:16 335:21 359:17 360:3 <b>staffing</b> 166:1 <b>staff's</b> 133:20 <b>staggering</b> 432:14 <b>stairwell</b> 448:21 <b>stake</b> 8:14 138:10 382:21 <b>stakeholder</b> 218:3,4 <b>stakeholders</b> 139:10 <b>stamped</b> 315:17 334:8 <b>Stan</b> 131:22 210:11	<b>stand</b> 63:16 116:8 133:16 213:7 256:7 422:20 <b>standard</b> 34:17 34:18,22 177:5 450:2 <b>standards</b> 62:13 156:5 <b>standing</b> 93:5 102:9 <b>standpoint</b> 109:10 191:18 <b>Stanley</b> 3:2 56:8 56:18 <b>stares</b> 458:10 <b>stars</b> 360:2,2,4,6 <b>start</b> 67:17 90:21,22 96:6 141:14 142:1 163:2 166:20 168:8 171:22 187:8 206:9 247:8 282:5,12 312:13 328:5 349:13 352:5 442:12 452:2 <b>started</b> 157:15 164:2 167:1 195:9 217:11 395:7 419:14 <b>starting</b> 28:15 274:9 360:20 400:16 <b>starts</b> 92:7 94:6 <b>state</b> 20:13 24:5 151:9,22 165:1 331:20 348:7,9 367:8 455:11 <b>stated</b> 66:5 111:7 403:12 405:9 415:22 457:1 <b>statement</b> 20:10 21:8 30:21	42:6 65:7 66:2 69:10 87:22 115:6 127:5 132:14 133:1 171:13 198:5 259:16 263:13 377:19 <b>statements</b> 31:15 67:12 153:12 288:4 <b>States</b> 22:11,12 174:6 267:10 332:7 <b>stating</b> 78:6 337:8 <b>station</b> 119:5 139:4 <b>stations</b> 40:13 <b>statistic</b> 8:1 424:4 <b>statistically</b> 237:9 <b>statistics</b> 8:10 104:9,13 105:3 105:8 185:1 423:9,11 424:3 <b>stature</b> 10:1 <b>status</b> 28:12,19 61:4 107:7 377:6 387:9 420:16,18 <b>statute</b> 1:13 7:12 19:11 22:7 23:4 57:10 60:14 66:14 78:20 148:1 178:6,13,14 184:7 198:17 254:14 396:18 433:13,20 434:15 <b>statutes</b> 174:6 <b>statutory</b> 107:8 <b>stay</b> 26:16 29:20 128:3 266:11	266:12 305:1 333:20 379:16 399:21 400:21 416:18 438:12 453:10 <b>stayed</b> 195:10 303:8 311:8 <b>staying</b> 195:5 <b>stays</b> 322:17 <b>stealing</b> 368:17 368:20 <b>stemming</b> 63:12 <b>step</b> 75:21 100:3 113:7 120:22 133:19 143:3 166:5 171:16 180:19 335:6 419:21 435:22 440:1 455:6 <b>Stephanie</b> 6:14 392:18 393:13 407:3 <b>steps</b> 156:6 217:14,14,15 217:16 241:22 <b>sticking</b> 359:15 <b>Stimson</b> 291:17 291:17 <b>Stinson</b> 5:19 326:19,20 327:4,5,8 328:3,4,5,7,12 330:5,8,12,16 330:19,22 331:4,7,9,10 331:11 <b>stipulation</b> 285:3 <b>stock</b> 23:3 26:20 40:19 58:4 59:1 62:6 106:18 120:22 121:1 130:19 143:9 175:12 176:13 177:21	185:8 306:22 <b>Stokes</b> 392:17 392:17 423:6 424:15,15 425:5 <b>stood</b> 377:17 407:12 <b>stop</b> 81:12 174:11 178:3 212:15 282:11 298:2 368:17 368:19 390:16 390:16 413:4 443:20 446:4 447:4 456:16 <b>stopped</b> 399:9 <b>storage</b> 342:17 <b>store</b> 447:6 <b>stories</b> 145:22 281:16 <b>story</b> 245:21 308:9 <b>stove</b> 203:14 <b>straight</b> 11:3 198:11 <b>straightforward</b> 357:11 <b>strain</b> 57:2 <b>strange</b> 458:14 <b>strategic</b> 108:17 <b>strategically</b> 58:12,21 <b>strategies</b> 38:16 38:21 45:17 213:2 339:9,10 339:14 <b>strategy</b> 40:7 41:1 42:17 43:7 45:19 116:5 121:14 339:4,5 440:14 449:18,21 <b>Strauss</b> 341:7 <b>stream</b> 25:13 120:11,14,16
--	---	---	--	---

121:15 122:7 122:15,20 123:2,13,15 125:12 126:3 <b>street</b> 5:22 6:18 128:7 175:3 186:15,17 210:19,20 218:17 219:1 253:8 291:22 295:8,9 300:17 300:22 301:3 301:19 321:18 322:1 323:11 323:14 328:1 329:9 330:8 341:8 342:1 361:1 394:14 397:15 406:11 425:13 426:7 427:10 434:13 437:10,13,16 448:2 455:16 458:6 <b>streets</b> 131:7 282:14 <b>strengthen</b> 41:17 97:12 212:4 294:4 356:20 <b>strengthened</b> 130:9 284:13 384:1 <b>strengthening</b> 8:5 130:8 297:1 372:10 432:10 <b>strengthens</b> 397:20 <b>stress</b> 207:1 <b>stressing</b> 339:8 <b>strict</b> 151:12 <b>strictly</b> 152:13 <b>strictures</b> 119:10 348:16	378:7 <b>strike</b> 66:21 81:20 84:5 113:3 118:18 119:21 132:15 167:7 <b>strikes</b> 99:11 135:22 <b>strong</b> 3:12 38:1 38:7 39:6 41:13 47:10 63:2 108:8 112:6 130:7 138:8 139:17 140:12,15 141:3 146:10 146:11 149:9 150:7,11 157:10 158:14 159:11 162:18 162:21,21 163:15,18,18 163:19 164:15 164:19 165:7 165:13 166:18 167:2,17,18 168:13,19 169:18,22 170:1,10 180:10 181:14 197:21 290:18 402:16 445:15 <b>stronger</b> 85:12 <b>strongest</b> 279:12 <b>strongly</b> 60:4 62:19 64:14,15 76:1,12 280:9 290:16 433:5 <b>struck</b> 42:22 <b>structure</b> 103:6 304:6 325:9 332:19 <b>structured</b> 30:5 30:17 46:14 <b>struggle</b> 39:22	89:1 181:2 <b>struggled</b> 415:1 <b>struggling</b> 283:8 417:15 439:1 <b>strung</b> 245:1 <b>stuck</b> 434:1 <b>student</b> 257:20 258:1 260:1 261:6 270:10 271:2 273:21 275:2 412:20 <b>students</b> 175:3 207:20 216:8 220:13,19 231:3 259:15 259:22 260:11 260:20 270:11 270:13 271:22 272:1,3 274:6 274:10,13,14 274:16,17,18 275:1,4,22 276:2 <b>studied</b> 136:11 380:12 444:14 <b>studies</b> 106:13 149:18 174:8 334:20 377:7 <b>studio</b> 114:22 <b>study</b> 35:4 68:14 92:5 105:5 119:2 145:18 332:3 336:13 336:13 377:7 380:13 424:5 <b>stuff</b> 130:12 168:3,4 201:4 210:2 240:13 243:15 303:17 <b>subject</b> 9:6,6 18:16 21:13 22:2 23:4,14 73:15 104:18 127:9 129:10 144:7 155:4	170:3 176:14 188:7 303:4 332:14 346:15 351:2 378:13 378:13 411:10 424:7 457:5 <b>sublet</b> 267:7 <b>submissions</b> 334:5 <b>submit</b> 60:21 61:5 72:11 94:4 101:3 268:12 <b>submitted</b> 146:7 146:13 341:19 <b>submitting</b> 171:13 <b>subsection</b> 289:21 <b>subsequent</b> 11:8 332:19 <b>subsequently</b> 279:21 <b>subsidies</b> 41:8 302:18,19 404:22 405:21 405:22 412:16 413:4 <b>subsidize</b> 183:1 405:3 412:12 <b>subsidized</b> 41:9 183:12 185:20 266:5 371:6 415:21 <b>subsidizers</b> 405:7 <b>subsidizing</b> 264:19 317:9 404:3,12 405:10 <b>subsidy</b> 174:14 183:8 196:5 317:15 403:13 404:5,7,18 405:2,13,14,16	413:1 422:4 <b>substandard</b> 428:21 <b>substantial</b> 74:11 110:18 144:17 155:10 187:10 189:15 239:6 324:9 333:19 347:16 365:6 366:6 394:10 <b>substantially</b> 40:3 232:6 394:6 <b>substantiate</b> 155:8 <b>substantiated</b> 369:2 <b>substantively</b> 402:19 <b>substitute</b> 179:12 <b>subtract</b> 79:21 79:22 80:1,2,4 143:17 <b>subtracted</b> 80:18 <b>suburbs</b> 35:1,8 184:15 383:17 400:1,20 <b>success</b> 332:9 333:13 407:19 <b>successful</b> 41:22 219:21 <b>successfully</b> 407:7 <b>succinctly</b> 91:14 315:3 <b>sucking</b> 407:17 <b>sudden</b> 445:8 <b>sue</b> 371:22 <b>suffer</b> 62:16 175:13 207:2 <b>suffering</b> 124:19 281:20 288:11
---	---	--	--	--

<p>290:21  <b>Suffice</b> 272:2  <b>sufficient</b> 121:16                  122:8 125:13                  126:4 188:11  <b>suggest</b> 25:6                  45:16 103:1                  114:3 117:3                  220:10 229:5                  289:20 290:16                  301:20 302:1                  335:15 375:13                  410:18  <b>suggested</b> 87:2                  112:12 123:1                  132:11 146:19                  150:1 158:9                  165:15,18                  255:12 357:18  <b>suggesting</b> 21:10                  21:11 133:2                  158:7 256:1                  450:13  <b>suggestion</b>                  157:10,21                  158:11  <b>suggestions</b>                  65:12,17                  146:16 217:22                  238:19 284:10                  372:13 409:2  <b>suit</b> 279:15                  424:9  <b>summarize</b>                  57:20 59:15                  154:17 179:5                  212:19,20  <b>summary</b> 42:18                  43:1 131:15                  298:4 309:10  <b>summation</b> 76:9  <b>summer</b> 391:17                  445:2,10  <b>Summit</b> 213:8  <b>sunk</b> 408:17</p>	<p><b>super</b> 90:8  <b>supplement</b>                  181:13  <b>suppliers</b> 59:11  <b>supply</b> 38:8                  58:14 106:12                  338:21 339:1  <b>support</b> 11:22                  20:15,17 43:19                  46:14 48:1,5                  48:11 49:17,19                  49:21 50:5,6                  58:1 59:2,11                  59:16 60:7,14                  61:6,10,18                  63:2,11 67:5                  70:8,10 74:6                  86:14 100:2                  105:18 107:1                  118:1,16                  131:15 142:8                  143:4 151:6                  172:9 192:1,3                  192:14 208:21                  209:3 248:18                  256:3 272:17                  279:10 280:9                  282:17 287:15                  287:16 288:16                  294:2 304:2                  332:11 344:15                  404:6,9 405:2                  405:5 418:18                  418:22 422:21                  437:3  <b>supported</b> 42:21                  43:14,15 48:12                  53:6 101:9                  136:7 404:15                  435:19  <b>supporter</b> 108:8  <b>supporting</b>                  70:19 432:10  <b>supportive</b>                  46:17 70:15</p>	<p><b>supports</b> 64:14                  107:16 143:2                  357:6,8  <b>supposed</b> 138:4                  274:2,3,9                  359:13 434:2                  434:12  <b>suppressed</b>                  361:10 362:14  <b>surcharge</b>                  244:15 430:21  <b>sure</b> 9:7 15:1                  26:19 41:17                  47:9 64:16                  67:4,8 85:6                  89:13 97:17                  99:14 105:19                  105:20 132:17                  132:17 135:19                  136:4 142:14                  147:19 166:12                  166:15 169:16                  170:9 171:22                  172:4 180:15                  186:15 191:16                  192:12 199:11                  204:3 209:19                  229:1,2 235:14                  268:20 279:4                  311:5 312:6                  321:11 323:19                  376:3 387:21  <b>surety</b> 306:8  <b>surprised</b>                  163:21  <b>surprising</b> 449:1  <b>surrender</b> 382:6                  382:8  <b>surreptitiously</b>                  128:15  <b>survey</b> 197:11  <b>survive</b> 117:18  <b>survived</b> 249:11  <b>surviving</b> 35:11  <b>suspect</b> 72:19</p>	<p>202:3  <b>suspend</b> 119:2                  450:4  <b>suspension</b>                  16:19,20  <b>suspicious</b> 49:4  <b>Sussman</b> 5:1                  246:21 248:7,8                  263:11,12                  270:14 271:6                  272:19 273:11  <b>sustain</b> 207:16  <b>sustainable</b>                  293:17  <b>swear</b> 355:5  <b>sweet</b> 260:3  <b>swimming</b> 445:2  <b>swing</b> 248:11,12  <b>swinging</b> 203:8  <b>switch</b> 264:1                  336:1  <b>swoop</b> 251:7  <b>sworn</b> 355:4  <b>swung</b> 143:6  <b>sync</b> 316:17  <b>synopsis</b> 341:4                  341:11  <b>system</b> 86:8,11                  87:14 89:17                  98:3 100:7,9                  101:6 216:6,7                  216:12 217:3                  220:4,11 221:3                  231:19 305:6                  305:15,18                  334:1 344:5                  367:3 429:12                  431:17 433:6                  433:12 434:1,4  <b>systematically</b>                  456:6  <b>systems</b> 216:11                  363:12</p>	<p><b>T</b> 3:20 170:21  <b>table</b> 24:2 98:12                  116:2 125:2                  139:22 155:22                  171:2 186:1                  248:12 277:13                  317:11 385:19                  460:20  <b>tactic</b> 297:16                  440:16  <b>tactics</b> 296:7                  357:17 440:18  <b>tagged</b> 305:2  <b>take</b> 13:3 17:3                  22:8 25:7,9,13                  35:4 36:11                  44:20 45:5                  53:16 75:20                  82:9 90:9 92:6                  111:11 116:1                  118:9,10 122:1                  128:18 130:12                  130:13,17                  136:1 139:22                  142:2 143:15                  147:10,18                  153:5 156:6                  167:13 169:14                  182:17 191:10                  193:2 196:2                  199:13 203:21                  207:9 217:12                  241:22 255:16                  256:16 274:4                  274:17 282:10                  282:11,19                  292:8 302:22                  307:10 310:9                  318:14 319:13                  335:20 336:4                  345:20 359:13                  374:10 375:8                  375:11 392:11                  406:1 412:13                  415:13 424:22</p>
--	--	---	--	--

425:4 428:17 430:14 439:22 443:15 460:18 <b>taken</b> 19:21 89:21 111:17 116:14 130:18 145:4 166:3 243:12 260:21 262:5 280:10 282:9,9 289:22 303:21 359:12 375:6,7 379:15 380:2 422:20 433:21 435:22 438:9 <b>takers</b> 208:9 <b>takes</b> 186:2 250:3 302:10 325:3 <b>talent</b> 218:7 <b>talk</b> 15:3 27:14 28:3 45:22 70:5 73:11 75:16 76:3 83:20 90:21 91:14 92:1 113:17 117:20 129:5 137:9,20 203:20,21 210:19 215:15 215:17 248:19 326:6 329:14 382:10 397:7 401:11 421:21 445:12 446:9 <b>talked</b> 121:7 126:12 131:8 154:1,4 166:21 268:4,6 269:8 <b>talking</b> 12:5 27:18 48:2 49:14 54:19 70:9 90:22 91:10,13 92:5 92:6 93:7,19	93:20,21 110:7 111:16 119:1 133:10,11 135:11 147:13 157:14 203:12 223:12,13 229:11 254:14 263:18 273:11 288:20 299:9 342:20 383:1 387:10 389:15 458:1 <b>TAN</b> 143:2 255:8,12 <b>tandem</b> 216:13 <b>TAP</b> 281:1 <b>target</b> 335:8 431:20 <b>targeted</b> 345:16 <b>targeting</b> 48:8 49:22 50:6 <b>task</b> 42:15 43:9 44:8 45:19 46:22 47:4 55:8 62:2 63:4 90:8 165:18 337:16 339:6 339:15 <b>tax</b> 107:13 109:3 143:16 211:17 253:7 271:14 272:4 287:7 405:3 412:14 419:7 <b>taxable</b> 72:9 74:5 <b>taxes</b> 22:12,18 24:22 78:18 145:21 159:20 176:20 182:7 196:6 260:11 262:10,11,17 265:1 267:4 272:21 274:1 303:1 322:11	365:7 395:12 428:1 <b>taxpayers</b> 336:18 405:17 <b>taxpaying</b> 356:17,21 <b>Tea</b> 443:17 <b>teach</b> 166:9 208:10 <b>teacher</b> 174:21 <b>teachers</b> 128:1 360:5 <b>tears</b> 215:21 <b>technical</b> 71:14 188:13 <b>Technology</b> 95:12 <b>teeth</b> 420:22 <b>television</b> 132:8 209:17 <b>tell</b> 50:7 91:12 104:20 115:13 120:13 134:17 134:18 156:16 164:4 179:22 181:22 184:4 184:17 185:7 193:20 200:4 200:17 208:22 212:14 214:4 234:1,9 237:8 239:14,17 240:14 259:13 259:14 260:4 261:16 263:19 289:2 302:13 311:19 312:8 315:2 350:14 352:1,7,9 377:7 383:9 401:17 409:11 <b>telling</b> 167:17 169:22 212:8 268:13 440:1 <b>temporarily</b>	276:8 <b>TENAC</b> 4:7,8 204:11,13,14 205:3,4,6,13 206:1 209:22 426:13,14,16 <b>tenancy</b> 151:14 251:6 262:5 396:15 <b>tenant</b> 3:10,11 5:8,12,17 9:14 9:19 10:1,5 16:8,9 17:8 18:2,3,18,20 19:5,9,16,20 60:3 61:15 69:17 71:9 86:6 101:16,17 102:3 103:2 130:13 139:15 139:16 140:4 142:2 148:7,12 148:15 149:12 150:15 151:13 151:13 152:17 153:22 154:4 154:14 161:9 162:18,20 163:19 164:16 165:17,18 166:4,8 168:16 169:1,2,4 170:3 175:22 177:8 183:3 195:4 196:3 213:6,20 242:19,20 246:6 255:2,7 256:9,12 257:2 257:7,16 258:16,17,19 258:22 260:19 264:4 267:20 267:20 278:17 280:3,20	281:13 283:5 284:15 286:17 292:2 293:5,11 293:19 294:6 294:11 295:7 297:20,21 298:10 302:5 304:15 305:14 306:19 308:1,8 310:20 313:8 314:5 315:4,7 318:7,9,12 319:22 320:1 321:9 328:13 335:22 336:12 344:4,20 357:3 358:1,14,17 361:4 362:7 364:4 367:9 368:4,4 369:5 369:16 371:16 371:16,19,21 372:15 374:14 375:4,4 381:20 381:22 385:8 385:12,14 388:11 389:21 396:11,12,13 396:15 398:17 399:15 400:5 401:4,14 406:9 406:18 408:15 415:1 417:5 422:11 433:9 433:10,22 435:9 436:1,12 437:1,19 452:16 <b>tenants</b> 1:8,11 3:12,13 4:6,20 5:22 6:7,10,18 7:11 9:7,10 10:3,3,4,15,19 15:17 16:6,13 17:2,19 18:8
--	--	--	---	--

18:21 25:11	242:21 243:1	361:8,11	132:10 147:2	184:1 220:18
41:10 57:8,11	244:4 245:1	362:12,20,22	178:2 313:19	221:2 322:7
59:6,16,17	246:15,17	364:2,3,9	<b>terminal</b> 313:19	385:20 455:9
60:6,9,12,15	247:11,14	367:9,20,20	<b>terms</b> 15:22	<b>testified</b> 55:16
61:9,11,18	250:17 251:12	368:20 369:17	18:17 30:20	95:20 137:8
65:13 66:15,16	251:15,16	370:12,13,17	39:3,14,18	164:16 181:20
68:19,21 69:3	253:20 254:1	370:21 371:3,6	44:9,10 45:22	320:15 374:19
69:6 71:10	254:16 255:3	371:22 372:3	54:22 55:1	377:1 421:2,18
76:5 78:11	255:15 256:3	372:14 385:2	59:14,21 60:7	426:14 450:14
80:11 82:13	257:3,6,11	386:7,13,16,18	61:9,21 63:17	<b>testify</b> 29:22
85:3 88:16	259:10 261:16	387:6 388:8,13	65:13 69:9,15	36:17 56:21
89:20 90:18	266:4 279:21	391:14 393:5	71:1 73:16	57:7 139:20
96:16 99:9	283:2 284:16	394:11,14,14	75:8 76:12	181:6 192:20
101:5,6,7	284:20 285:4,9	394:15,18	92:16 103:1	205:22,22
102:13,18	285:12,14,15	396:6 397:6,14	104:13 105:9	229:9 284:9
103:1,5,16	285:19 288:8	399:19 401:11	105:22 113:19	300:3 305:16
110:21,21	289:14 293:22	401:13,18,20	129:8 131:21	424:22 425:1
111:1 126:1,9	294:5,12,21	403:15,22	132:11 133:14	455:7,14
126:16 130:15	295:2,5,8,11	404:4,8,12	134:7 141:4	456:20
131:17 139:17	295:14,17,18	405:10 406:5,8	149:14 150:10	<b>testifying</b> 36:20
140:12 141:5	296:5,7,8,9,14	409:14 422:8	156:7 158:10	172:2,5,21
142:15 146:21	296:18,19	422:13 423:19	161:15 162:18	397:13 402:15
146:22 148:16	297:2,3,7,8,17	425:13 426:8	169:8 189:14	419:11
149:3 151:7	298:6,8 301:6	432:12 434:5,6	189:22 191:22	<b>testimonies</b>
152:11 154:3,7	301:7 303:4	434:22 435:4,4	205:12 214:3	173:6
154:9,11	304:4,9 306:22	435:6,6,8,10	215:12 217:22	<b>testimony</b> 7:20
158:17,20	307:6,9,21	435:11,15,17	219:10 231:17	17:10 31:22
163:1,22	310:20,21	435:21 436:2,7	235:15 243:10	36:18 42:8
164:20,21	313:3 318:13	437:4,10	245:7 283:15	49:4 54:11
165:2 166:2	320:13 322:9	450:11	305:10 322:14	56:14 57:19
174:13 175:10	322:18 323:6	<b>tenant's</b> 18:15	342:9 343:12	63:15 64:20
175:13,17	328:1 329:1	176:3 403:12	357:16 377:21	65:11,19 67:7
176:2,5,6,22	333:15 335:21	436:11	387:21 391:13	86:21 95:12
177:10,16,16	336:1,17	<b>Tenant-led</b>	<b>Terrace</b> 295:9	96:21 112:11
177:18,19	337:12,13	407:18	<b>terrible</b> 328:21	139:11 142:3
178:2,15	341:13,14,16	<b>tend</b> 318:14,16	447:10	146:3,8,13,19
184:21,22	341:18,19,22	<b>tended</b> 46:17	<b>terribly</b> 381:2	146:20 149:21
185:12,17,17	342:2,4,13,18	<b>tending</b> 317:20	388:18	150:4,20 151:2
185:19 187:12	343:5,9,18,21	<b>tens</b> 8:16 356:16	<b>terrorized</b>	154:18 170:15
188:8 189:16	344:1 346:8,12	356:20	446:10	171:17 172:10
193:22 195:21	346:19 347:17	<b>teres</b> 267:6	<b>terrorizing</b>	173:10 179:8
203:7 204:10	347:18,21	<b>Teresa</b> 3:5 56:8	447:13,13	180:9,10,12,18
206:6,21 207:1	353:1 355:17	57:15 97:15	<b>test</b> 158:7,8	180:21 186:14
207:18 214:1	357:4,6,13	312:3 322:16	160:22 161:1	187:17 202:13
216:9 239:8	358:14 359:9	<b>term</b> 83:12	174:16 182:20	204:3,6 205:1



205:15 206:15	67:15 74:4	284:16 287:11	173:1 314:11	265:5 268:20
212:19 217:19	77:22 86:21	287:12,15,16	316:14 418:13	269:14 276:7
217:21 221:21	87:16,17,18	288:21 291:1,5	<b>theirs</b> 55:2	280:14 281:14
239:2 240:16	88:3 89:3,5,9	291:6 292:22	274:13	282:8 283:10
243:4 263:2	96:21,22,22	298:14,15,18	<b>theoretically</b>	285:2 321:11
268:9,9,12	97:7,10 103:21	299:10,11	320:6	324:7 349:17
276:21 278:8	104:2,5 110:1	300:2,2 303:9	<b>theory</b> 64:15	390:6,10
287:13 288:22	110:2,3 118:21	303:10,14	115:18 377:12	408:19 409:5
291:2 299:12	120:7 127:1,2	307:14,16,19	<b>thick</b> 201:5	410:8 417:5
305:11,12	127:7 131:12	307:19 311:15	315:18	456:12,15
317:7 321:16	138:7,22 139:2	311:16 322:21	<b>thing</b> 34:8 49:3	457:17,21
322:12 325:15	139:11,14	326:15 328:7,7	71:3,5 134:19	<b>think</b> 20:18 21:2
326:15 330:15	142:5,7,13,16	331:11,15	136:16 148:19	21:13 23:12,20
341:1 352:11	142:19 146:1,5	336:19,20	181:14 193:8	24:7,11 26:4,6
358:15 360:11	146:6,11,11	337:1 340:19	211:9 221:13	26:7 27:12
376:10 379:7	149:7,21 150:7	340:20 344:17	238:9 240:20	28:7,17 31:1
380:17,18	150:11 151:5	352:10 353:20	283:14 284:4	39:22 46:5
384:3 390:19	155:14,15	353:22 354:19	290:20 299:1	47:15 48:8
410:3,10,18	158:2,3 161:2	359:16,19	311:4 315:11	49:21 50:11
411:16 420:6	161:5 164:6,14	360:8 364:15	315:19 325:17	52:9,12 53:9
423:5 424:14	166:17 168:10	364:16,18	329:22 330:9	53:10,19 54:8
425:2 427:2,3	168:11 170:12	367:5,7 372:7	345:6 347:5	54:18,20,21
432:6 435:1	170:15 179:15	372:11 373:6,8	349:11 350:11	61:1 62:1,4,8
437:6 442:6	179:17,21	379:8,10	369:21 376:18	63:3 65:20
452:10 458:22	181:5,5 186:11	380:20 390:18	385:9 389:14	67:10,21 69:14
459:4 460:9,11	186:12 194:22	392:7 393:12	391:12 401:10	70:4,6,14
460:13	203:18 204:2,5	393:17 394:3	408:19 410:13	75:11,12,15
<b>testing</b> 69:12	204:7 206:10	396:19,20	414:19 436:20	76:1,9 77:3,9
95:21 187:5	209:8,9 213:11	397:16,21	441:13 443:7	77:10,14 81:1
219:20 220:1,3	213:14 217:17	398:2 402:1,6	443:19 444:13	81:9 83:1,10
220:4,10	217:18 221:18	406:21 407:1,4	444:21 447:15	83:18,20 84:11
292:10 339:11	221:22 222:1,2	410:1,2 423:5	449:5 450:15	84:22 85:1,2
<b>thank</b> 20:11	222:3 223:22	424:13 425:3	454:18,19	85:13 86:11
26:5,13,22	230:11,13	426:20 432:5,9	<b>things</b> 10:20	87:3,10,13
27:1,4 29:21	231:20 237:12	437:3,5 441:13	34:22 42:22	88:4,12 91:13
29:21 30:2,3	237:21,22	442:1,4,5,8	62:5 75:15	91:14 92:3
30:16 31:14	243:4,5 245:3	447:2,19	81:18 83:19	93:2,5,6 94:15
32:2,4 36:13	245:4,5 246:8	453:17 454:7,9	93:3 96:7,14	98:3 101:19,20
36:21 37:2,2	246:10 248:16	454:12,14,17	127:20 128:10	103:12,16
42:2,3,8,10	253:2,16,21	455:4,5 458:21	133:13 134:12	104:11 105:12
47:20,22 54:10	258:19,20	460:13,20	135:15 137:17	105:14 106:1
54:12,14 55:4	259:5 268:8,19	<b>thanking</b> 405:18	182:2 185:12	106:10 108:3
55:5,17 56:3,4	276:21 278:6	<b>thanks</b> 97:7	187:11 211:5	108:16,16
64:22 65:1	279:9,10 281:4	284:3 293:9	214:1 215:7	109:5 111:8
66:4,8 67:13	283:13,20	<b>that's</b> 99:8	216:3 256:7	112:4,21,22

113:2,10,12	372:19 374:3	237:15 264:10	311:4,6 312:19	117:1 131:17
118:5,8,9,12	375:14,17	304:7 305:13	312:20 327:7	132:22 134:2
119:22 120:3	376:9,11	313:14 345:5	358:12,18	136:15 138:5
120:15,16,20	377:18 378:17	421:20	385:19 391:6	141:1,2,6
121:4,7,12	379:4 382:20	<b>thoughtful</b> 25:8	391:18 393:16	146:1 151:14
123:5,9 124:16	383:19 384:10	26:7 84:17	393:19,21	154:1,18 157:4
126:9,12,19,21	385:17 386:8	180:11 372:12	407:7 426:11	158:22 159:1
128:18 129:11	386:19 387:6	379:7	430:3,10	159:11 167:13
132:11 133:7	389:12 390:1	<b>thoughtfully</b>	432:22 433:21	171:7 174:10
134:5,12,14,21	398:19 400:17	217:20	440:22	175:5 178:16
135:8,15,22	400:18,19,20	<b>thoughts</b> 221:6	<b>three-floor</b>	183:9 189:11
136:22 145:2	401:1,8 403:5	271:5 384:13	441:2	192:11 194:7
146:17 147:5,8	407:5 409:3,6	<b>thousand</b> 144:21	<b>three-minute</b>	197:16 199:18
147:10 149:8	409:18 410:7,9	216:19,21,22	263:13,14	199:21 203:17
149:12 159:21	411:6 412:10	332:12 334:12	460:18	203:17,18,21
161:3,16 162:1	412:17 413:10	408:8	<b>three-year</b> 19:19	205:4 207:13
162:2,13	413:13,20	<b>thousands</b> 8:15	433:20	209:4,7 215:1
167:10 168:13	415:7,10	8:16 32:19	<b>throw</b> 91:1	215:1 219:16
168:13 179:19	416:17,21,22	38:2,5 40:9	113:15 345:9	221:20 234:2,5
180:13 187:3	419:20 420:12	151:21 152:1	<b>throwing</b> 26:11	235:7 236:15
188:13 191:20	420:15,18	286:5 333:1	<b>thrown</b> 315:15	241:4,4 242:10
192:21,22	439:15 440:21	356:16,21	315:16	242:12 243:2
193:6 198:14	440:21 450:5	402:12 432:12	<b>thumb</b> 384:11	245:2,17 247:6
207:6 208:6	452:2 453:5,14	<b>thread</b> 403:14	<b>Thursday</b>	248:18 255:6
221:4 268:4	457:2,16	<b>threaten</b> 298:12	131:11	260:1,19
269:22 272:2	<b>thinking</b> 91:19	<b>threatened</b>	<b>tide</b> 63:12	264:10 265:22
272:13 273:15	134:9 258:4	296:15 440:2,6	317:18 318:1	270:10 279:3
273:17 275:14	282:5 411:6	<b>threatening</b>	<b>tiers</b> 319:13	282:20 283:7
275:22 283:3	415:3,5 451:19	52:22	<b>tight</b> 379:16	296:17 297:20
298:20,22	<b>third</b> 17:13	<b>threats</b> 450:8	<b>till</b> 31:1 167:5	297:22 299:3
301:21 304:22	130:17 160:6	<b>three</b> 7:14 37:17	<b>tilt</b> 166:13	307:2,3 310:22
305:20 306:3,8	175:14 194:13	106:19 119:12	<b>time</b> 8:4 12:3	313:3 314:14
306:18 307:5,8	257:12,15	119:12,13	17:5 21:1	318:11 324:21
307:11,14	396:4 439:16	139:18 141:17	23:12 27:6	325:5,19,20
312:4 320:19	<b>Thirdly</b> 370:6	160:9 163:5	33:10 34:14	329:5,21 335:8
322:13,18	<b>Thomas</b> 4:11	194:11 206:8	46:1 60:10	338:5 344:6
323:20 325:12	223:3 444:12	209:14 213:2	63:9 65:15	352:4 356:8
327:2 330:9,13	444:13	223:7,10,13,15	75:14 76:16	359:3,15 360:8
336:11,18	<b>thorny</b> 161:11	234:7,10,11,13	77:12 81:5,15	361:10 362:14
342:8,19,22	<b>thorough</b> 294:8	234:21 248:9	83:15 86:11	362:17 365:5
343:2 344:4,14	<b>thoroughly</b>	248:11 249:22	88:1,20 89:1	368:6,15,16
345:4,5,7,8	419:3	255:3 257:9	92:9,21,22	370:20 372:6
359:8 368:10	<b>thought</b> 9:18	260:4 265:6,9	99:14 102:9,10	373:4 378:5
368:18 370:1	52:5 71:11	265:16 274:2	104:19 105:1	380:13 383:21
371:7,14	196:11 237:13	277:21 310:20	107:18 111:12	389:14 390:20

395:10 396:14	181:6 192:8,21	<b>tooth</b> 211:20	341:1	<b>true</b> 213:17
398:8 399:13	219:22 232:15	<b>top</b> 320:6 451:22	<b>traditionally</b>	215:12 236:20
406:1 409:3	239:2 247:4	<b>TOPA</b> 439:11	98:21,22 385:6	<b>truly</b> 82:22 83:2
411:7,7 417:18	249:15 262:5	440:13	<b>train</b> 119:4,6	303:1 403:7
424:6 426:17	264:12 281:4	<b>TOPAC</b> 161:10	139:3	<b>trust</b> 39:16,21
426:19,21	284:10 287:16	<b>torn</b> 130:20	<b>trained</b> 134:9	40:4 43:15
430:10 434:5	288:5 293:13	<b>total</b> 140:18	<b>transaction</b>	46:9,13 53:5
436:7 439:3,12	294:2 301:21	196:22 197:2	153:15 185:16	54:7 107:13
440:8,12	317:7 318:19	228:1,3,11	<b>transit</b> 40:10	108:21 249:4
441:13,18	323:2 329:16	229:16 230:4	<b>transitional</b>	388:14 419:14
442:2 443:8	332:11 333:5	232:9 233:14	159:22	<b>truth</b> 222:18
445:2,10	334:21 338:6	234:1 235:15	<b>translation</b>	369:19
446:17 456:9	348:20 350:6	235:17,18	388:7	<b>try</b> 86:13 102:18
456:20 458:3	356:11 358:16	273:21 370:5	<b>transparent</b>	105:14 115:2
<b>timekeeper</b>	364:18 367:4	417:9 430:11	357:11	130:21 131:16
172:12	380:3 382:14	<b>totally</b> 99:7	<b>transportation</b>	134:13 210:1
<b>timely</b> 26:6	390:19 394:3	118:12 229:2	37:9 56:1	323:21 349:12
<b>times</b> 16:10	402:15 407:5	383:21 386:14	<b>trash</b> 342:16	364:9 392:6
89:22 231:11	408:18 409:2,5	414:4	366:3	417:1 434:14
231:12 238:10	414:13 418:3	<b>touching</b> 15:15	<b>treasury</b> 22:18	<b>trying</b> 79:14
249:22 306:6	427:11 434:22	<b>tough</b> 27:22	<b>treat</b> 251:15	80:11 81:12
363:15 409:13	437:9 450:14	127:11 458:8	262:22 407:22	94:14 97:12
421:6 441:6	455:10,15,18	<b>toughest</b> 267:14	<b>treated</b> 100:11	131:16 134:8
454:5 458:8	460:3,14	<b>tour</b> 201:21	374:20	135:10 136:15
<b>timing</b> 238:7	<b>today's</b> 23:22	300:19 323:16	<b>treating</b> 257:2	136:16,19
<b>tiny</b> 260:15	24:13 77:14	<b>touted</b> 383:14	<b>treble</b> 290:18,21	166:8 191:14
<b>title</b> 341:9,9	95:1 196:17	<b>town</b> 56:11	<b>tremendous</b>	199:1 212:17
342:6	<b>toilet</b> 448:13,15	129:19 138:11	62:11 64:5	219:16 235:3
<b>Tivoli</b> 300:16	<b>told</b> 114:17	260:14 312:5	93:6 301:22	237:6 278:16
<b>today</b> 7:14,17	117:22 148:13	329:12 396:5	<b>tremendously</b>	294:21 315:3
8:14 9:7 10:21	159:3 236:14	404:16 449:2	432:11	315:21 324:2
22:3 26:15	251:10 255:9	<b>townhomes</b>	<b>trend</b> 162:9	324:14 349:9
29:5,15 32:5	261:15 274:19	295:8	<b>trends</b> 33:4 36:6	363:12 380:5
39:3 40:20	285:16 370:17	<b>to10</b> 286:16	<b>trial</b> 164:22	387:3 391:5
45:8 56:20	456:21	<b>TP</b> 280:3,4,4	<b>tried</b> 190:6,10	452:11
57:7,15 63:18	<b>Tom</b> 224:1	368:21	255:8 265:18	<b>tuition</b> 162:10
75:16,19 81:6	<b>tomorrow</b>	<b>traced</b> 333:5	433:17 442:9	220:17
90:4 92:17	105:11 229:15	<b>track</b> 97:8 106:8	<b>trigger</b> 108:20	<b>tune</b> 109:19
93:9 94:12	230:9	. 255:8	109:1,4	<b>turmoil</b> 359:17
109:6 110:9	<b>tool</b> 45:21 58:5	<b>tracking</b> 157:16	<b>triggers</b> 108:22	<b>turn</b> 112:9 183:9
112:1 139:12	58:22 108:18	<b>trade</b> 173:20	109:2	196:4 224:3
142:6,9 150:13	176:9 279:12	431:18	<b>trouble</b> 306:17	226:21 234:5
150:16 155:20	<b>tools</b> 58:16	<b>tradition</b> 10:10	<b>troubling</b>	259:22 274:5
173:16,22	64:10 108:17	<b>traditional</b>	388:18	329:14,15,18
174:15 179:10	109:5,7	58:17 314:12	<b>trough</b> 317:19	388:8 391:3

448:15 453:9 <b>turnaround</b> 92:8 <b>turned</b> 212:6 245:18 258:1 309:17 329:17 373:14 446:17 451:20 <b>Turner</b> 145:18 156:22 <b>turning</b> 167:21 191:13 227:16 452:3 <b>turnover</b> 176:8 176:9 199:14 224:7 234:9,20 235:4 236:5,8 236:13 241:5 241:12 257:19 270:3,5 366:7 376:16 384:19 386:9 394:9,15 395:1 399:12 416:14,20 430:3 452:18 452:19 <b>turnovers</b> 235:10 <b>turns</b> 191:3,4 276:14 399:13 <b>tutor</b> 208:12 <b>TV</b> 263:17 <b>tweak</b> 51:18 82:21 412:17 <b>tweaked</b> 146:17 <b>tweaking</b> 126:22 146:18 <b>Twenty-fifth</b> 95:3 <b>Twenty-five</b> 216:22 <b>twice</b> 13:14 29:6 70:12 231:9,9 391:10 <b>two</b> 7:10 11:6,20	17:7 26:15 37:14 44:10 51:18 62:5 70:21 71:21,22 72:14,14 84:22 99:1 102:12 112:18 113:7 113:15 125:19 128:6 131:8 134:12 136:22 140:4 160:18 163:5 164:8 171:1 173:5 180:20 187:21 188:2 192:7 194:11 196:15 197:4,19 205:2 205:3,5 210:13 210:20 213:2 216:11,12 224:3 227:6,9 227:20 233:21 234:6,10,12 241:22 250:20 252:5,13,17 254:14 256:1 257:10 258:2 265:6,9,16 266:15 274:22 280:3 301:2 309:9 312:18 312:20 313:11 315:5,13,16 316:6 319:10 322:1 323:8 324:20 332:11 348:13,13 349:19 356:4 364:21 382:14 386:20 391:6 391:18 394:17 398:11 407:15 410:7 426:18 438:5,9 440:20 440:22 443:17	444:9 446:1 451:4 <b>type</b> 96:13 108:22 115:17 181:12 190:12 210:20 325:17 363:3 450:15 452:6 453:19 456:4,12,15 <b>types</b> 34:19 95:9 <b>typical</b> 144:22 225:2 311:5 <b>typically</b> 12:11 160:7 323:12 363:16 <b>typo</b> 316:5 <hr/> <b>U</b> <b>uh</b> 292:14 <b>ultimately</b> 34:6 193:15 428:8 <b>unable</b> 56:10,12 155:8 338:4 <b>unacceptable</b> 17:6 <b>unaddressed</b> 377:22 <b>Unaffiliated</b> 5:1 5:19 6:14,20 <b>unaffordable</b> 34:12 46:3 111:18 297:12 <b>unanimously</b> 358:10 <b>unavailable</b> 160:4 <b>unaware</b> 154:2 356:8 <b>unbearable</b> 81:19 <b>unchanged</b> 68:4 287:6 <b>uncommon</b> 12:22 115:10 249:21	<b>unconscionable</b> 85:1 456:4 <b>undergraduate</b> 274:10 <b>underlying</b> 338:8 <b>undermine</b> 340:12 <b>undermining</b> 280:20 <b>underscore</b> 54:15 <b>understand</b> 10:4 18:10 49:8 58:20 67:4 76:5 79:14 88:4,22 91:16 94:13,16,19 105:19,20 106:11 112:5 125:20 132:7 134:4 136:11 137:20 140:19 148:7,11 165:3 175:19 188:21 194:8 195:17 203:6 223:12 225:22 235:1 237:5 239:3,9 244:20 246:3 262:21 263:22 273:2 296:14 304:18 337:20 350:11 352:2 377:13 382:21 389:1 420:8 450:21 452:11 <b>understandable</b> 60:9 <b>understandably</b> 59:7 <b>understanding</b> 25:12 54:7 109:19 121:8 124:4 163:11	252:17 256:6 269:22 352:5 378:18 <b>understood</b> 152:16 196:12 406:4 <b>undertaken</b> 20:2 <b>undisturbed</b> 324:12,13 410:12 <b>undivided</b> 36:17 <b>undocumented</b> 160:3 161:17 <b>unemployment</b> 127:14 <b>unexplained</b> 256:11 <b>unfair</b> 368:19 422:18 455:2 <b>unfortunate</b> 101:12 <b>unfortunately</b> 62:12,15 76:21 187:17 219:13 243:2 326:8 444:15 460:14 <b>unhealthy</b> 90:1 <b>UNIDENTIFI...</b> 204:17 239:16 249:3 262:15 347:8 353:4 <b>unimplemented</b> 145:8 256:7 257:1 258:9,14 286:19,20 <b>unintended</b> 123:5 160:20 332:15 333:10 333:15 335:17 340:3 <b>unit</b> 11:5 12:3,9 12:19 13:20 14:21 16:21 53:14 61:14,16 106:20 123:19
--	---	---	--	--

123:20 124:1,9 125:8 152:9 155:10 160:13 163:4 183:1,9 183:11,14 191:3,4,8,13 193:22 202:19 236:8,8 238:15 238:16,22 241:3,13 245:14 254:22 256:19,21 257:6,8,17 264:19,21 286:8,16 307:2 319:3,9,21 320:2 334:14 362:7,10 363:17,18,18 367:21 381:4 384:16 385:13 385:15 394:22 396:8 403:20 429:11,12,14 429:15 431:2 431:13 434:7,9 434:11,12 441:2 449:6,9 <b>unitary</b> 334:1 <b>United</b> 332:7 <b>units</b> 8:3,4,11 14:18,20 18:11 22:20 24:9,19 25:1 32:19,22 33:2,8,9,12,14 33:15 34:14 35:19,20 36:7 36:8 44:19,19 46:1 47:5,7,8 47:11 48:9 50:10 51:3,4 54:16 60:13 64:7 69:12 89:16 90:2 104:12,14,14	104:18,22 105:1,6 106:20 116:14 119:14 119:15 120:21 121:2,3 124:2 124:21 125:7 130:18 155:2,6 156:5,8,17 157:5 158:10 160:13 163:3 173:22 175:22 181:10 190:15 190:16 197:1,2 197:3 203:16 210:8,13,14 218:14 225:12 225:14 226:3 228:4,17,19,20 230:4,4 233:18 237:6 244:2 254:3 264:18 270:12 284:14 286:7 290:3 294:9 297:11 302:4 309:22 319:10 334:14 338:15 341:18 363:15,16 366:13 376:22 378:19,21 382:16 383:11 386:11,14 389:19 395:1,3 403:18,19 405:10 407:7 407:15 415:11 415:14 416:14 433:3 453:21 <b>Universal</b> 341:10 <b>universities</b> 273:21 <b>university</b> 43:11 162:11 175:3 207:11 258:11	259:19 261:5 261:17 262:20 274:14 275:9 339:7 <b>unknowing</b> 255:4 <b>unknown</b> 334:16 <b>unlawful</b> 18:13 <b>unnecessary</b> 154:20 404:5,7 <b>unprecedented</b> 75:18 <b>unrealistic</b> 114:10 <b>unreasonable</b> 114:10 183:6 316:16 395:18 <b>unrelated</b> 160:7 <b>unscrupulous</b> 151:18 450:3 <b>unsightly</b> 456:14 <b>unsuspecting</b> 408:11 <b>unthinkable</b> 17:1 <b>unused</b> 193:11 <b>unusual</b> 140:21 247:5,5 287:21 287:21 <b>unusually</b> 297:5 <b>unwarranted</b> 285:19 <b>unwise</b> 402:21 <b>upcoming</b> 103:10 <b>updated</b> 34:16 <b>upgrade</b> 176:10 <b>upgrades</b> 342:14 366:9 <b>uplift</b> 170:6 <b>upper</b> 394:12,21 <b>upside</b> 391:8 <b>upstairs</b> 66:8 <b>upwardly</b>	335:10 <b>urban</b> 6:6 37:7 104:19 145:18 254:4,10 332:21 355:15 367:11 424:5 443:18 <b>urge</b> 138:7 148:19 174:16 178:8 244:21 252:7 433:8 <b>urges</b> 357:9,22 358:2 <b>USA</b> 253:9 <b>usage</b> 342:17 <b>use</b> 40:12,16,17 58:16,20 60:19 64:10 72:21 83:11 108:19 109:7 155:7 230:17 236:16 257:17,20 261:3 267:5,6 269:3 277:20 289:15 300:14 304:3,5 320:19 324:6,15,17 350:7 371:17 379:13 399:16 419:7 424:11 <b>useful</b> 105:14 286:17 429:2 451:8 <b>uses</b> 332:11 350:6 <b>usually</b> 30:22 155:3 216:20 362:22 416:8 <b>usurped</b> 279:18 <b>utilities</b> 33:1 78:19 234:8 361:17 363:10 365:4 <b>utility</b> 79:22 80:1 176:20	365:6 395:10 <b>utilize</b> 125:20 <b>Utley</b> 424:16,17 425:4 <b>U.S</b> 8:10 338:13 <hr/> <b>V</b> <hr/> <b>V</b> 128:6 <b>vacancies</b> 21:15 230:21 305:7 <b>vacancy</b> 10:21 11:9,13 12:3 13:10,17,22 75:9 123:17,18 176:7,8 224:7 225:1 236:5 250:2,4,16 251:1 286:13 297:10 298:2 304:7 311:9,20 315:14 357:12 357:15 358:18 359:3,4,5 361:12 362:16 363:6,20 366:7 370:15 373:21 374:19 375:6,8 375:12 376:16 384:18,22 385:6,9,15 386:1,15 399:17 429:19 429:20 431:2 431:12 433:12 433:19 434:5 452:13 <b>vacant</b> 13:21 73:1 112:9 116:15 123:19 124:1 125:9,9 129:15 176:16 261:18,18 363:16 365:15 366:13 374:20 374:21 375:11
--	--	---	---	---

385:15 439:18 452:14 <b>vacants</b> 379:18 <b>vacate</b> 294:13 <b>vacated</b> 286:8 359:5 <b>vacates</b> 297:21 <b>vacating</b> 257:9 295:17 385:2 <b>vague</b> 304:18 <b>Valerie</b> 161:12 161:13 <b>valid</b> 90:12,14 191:20 <b>validate</b> 106:4 107:10 <b>validated</b> 106:16 <b>validity</b> 453:14 <b>Valley</b> 130:22 <b>valuable</b> 407:13 <b>value</b> 58:3 72:8 72:9 74:5 78:13,14,16,18 80:22 82:12 143:16,19 207:13 250:11 266:11 318:18 <b>valued</b> 302:15 <b>values</b> 108:7 <b>vandalized</b> 214:8 <b>Vanilla</b> 442:14 <b>vanish</b> 378:22 378:22 382:17 <b>vanishing</b> 411:13,13 <b>variables</b> 154:22 155:4 <b>variation</b> 120:20 <b>variety</b> 40:18 51:6 <b>various</b> 19:6 29:1 99:13 109:7 119:8 165:1 189:14	192:5 239:3 240:7 264:21 322:6 324:3 329:4,19 347:11,20 394:6 418:3 421:12 <b>vegetation</b> 390:4 <b>vehicle</b> 43:21 74:10 <b>vein</b> 433:4 <b>vendor</b> 408:21 <b>verge</b> 301:4 <b>vermin</b> 407:9,10 407:22 448:17 <b>Vernon</b> 455:15 456:5 <b>versa</b> 152:3 336:2 <b>version</b> 28:11 161:1 <b>versus</b> 386:7 <b>vestige</b> 378:15 <b>veto</b> 149:11 <b>vexation</b> 311:14 <b>viable</b> 422:7 <b>vice</b> 3:17,22 5:14 6:8 152:3 170:17,19 171:7 173:13 173:16,18 291:9 299:17 300:4 336:2 337:2 392:10 392:12 394:1 437:9 <b>vicinity</b> 225:4 <b>vicious</b> 441:11 <b>victims</b> 50:17 215:13 255:4 <b>view</b> 24:5 39:4 54:5 149:14 158:13 159:15 161:21 163:3 166:22 198:12	200:12 201:14 257:22 273:18 341:3 345:21 423:5 <b>views</b> 132:16 193:14 <b>Villa</b> 442:14 <b>Village</b> 131:4 <b>Vincent</b> 4:1 171:9 <b>vindicate</b> 435:22 <b>violate</b> 178:7 329:16 <b>violates</b> 16:16 <b>violating</b> 280:19 <b>violation</b> 18:16 329:4 372:1 <b>violations</b> 153:3 200:6 201:15 202:22 203:1,5 215:3 294:16 328:19 329:5 407:6 408:7 436:17,19,19 436:22 <b>violence</b> 50:17 <b>Virginia</b> 40:5 52:7 302:4 <b>virtually</b> 13:8 68:4 115:12 249:9 <b>vis</b> 220:14 275:22 <b>visa</b> 220:14 275:22 <b>visible</b> 168:7 <b>visit</b> 138:4 <b>visually</b> 309:2 <b>vital</b> 297:1 <b>voice</b> 295:6,7 <b>voices</b> 295:3 <b>voluntary</b> 110:20 111:2 187:12 189:16 239:6 324:10	347:22 <b>volunteer</b> 283:7 360:22 361:2 <b>volunteers</b> 208:10 <b>vote</b> 29:17 219:15 267:10 282:6 307:3,9 323:7 447:20 <b>voucher</b> 332:8 332:10 <b>vulnerable</b> 41:5 280:21 459:5	<b>wall</b> 203:7 <b>walls</b> 442:22 448:11 <b>Walter</b> 224:20 <b>want</b> 8:18 9:12 15:14 18:17 20:13 21:9 24:18 26:5 27:10 28:14 34:6 35:16 36:1,17 40:1 42:3 44:3,18 46:6,6,11 48:19 49:4 50:14 51:22 53:9,22 54:10 54:15 55:13 57:2 63:10,16 64:13 65:10,21 66:8 67:20 69:1 73:14,19 75:12,19 76:2 76:12,14 77:11 77:12 81:21 82:18 85:5 86:21 87:19 88:5 89:10 90:7 92:8,13 92:14 93:4,19 94:12,18,18 97:4 99:13,19 102:8 108:15 110:5,7,22 111:22 113:10 116:1 117:3,10 117:20 118:7 118:22 127:9 127:22 128:21 130:3 131:15 132:10,12,14 132:15 133:15 135:8,15,19,22 136:4 137:18 138:7,10,11 139:8 140:2,6
<b>W</b>				
<b>W</b> 3:17 170:16 301:18 <b>wage</b> 37:16 42:1 129:3 297:21 298:5 <b>wait</b> 96:16,16,16 96:16,17 101:14 180:20 200:9,11 223:11 227:16 241:6 243:8 278:22 353:1,9 354:21 <b>waited</b> 243:3 270:17 <b>waiting</b> 130:4 131:9 164:8 245:2 356:5 410:9 <b>waiver</b> 138:8 <b>wake</b> 9:17 <b>waking</b> 9:18 <b>walk</b> 83:12 125:5,12 129:14 201:4 215:9 294:11 339:16 436:7 <b>walkable</b> 37:8 <b>walked</b> 126:16 <b>walking</b> 168:8				

140:21 141:3	316:11 321:13	117:2 125:6	400:4	302:11 305:6
142:19 148:17	325:14,20	127:12,12,18	<b>Washingtonians</b>	305:14 326:5
150:5 151:7	337:10,12,12	127:19 131:22	89:14	335:15,16
155:19 157:7	337:14,15	132:1 138:5	<b>wasn't</b> 147:8	337:19 345:2
158:3 159:12	349:18,22	160:2 177:13	261:15 288:17	345:16 349:8
159:22 161:20	351:21 353:2,5	210:6,6 211:12	351:9 374:21	350:1 352:5
163:17 164:6	355:22 372:12	211:13,16	378:12 383:13	354:17 380:5
164:10,11,12	374:14,18	218:10,11,12	434:13	389:8 399:9
164:13 167:17	382:11,11	218:12 219:10	<b>waste</b> 318:11	400:1 417:10
173:4 177:15	383:9 386:2,4	224:17,18	412:12	418:11,12,14
177:18 178:1,3	386:10 389:11	225:17,17	<b>wasteful</b> 403:11	418:14 428:14
179:18,18	396:6 397:16	226:5,5 237:3	404:18 413:1	444:6 445:15
180:9,17,18	397:21 398:2	237:21 300:10	<b>watch</b> 95:1	450:2,19
182:19,21	399:19 401:3,6	301:2 321:14	440:11	<b>ways</b> 14:11 67:3
184:9,11,11	401:7,7 402:2	377:8 378:21	<b>watched</b> 68:16	111:14 117:9
185:15 186:1,5	409:14 410:7	386:19,19	<b>watching</b> 132:7	266:15 296:9
186:8,8,14	413:22 414:1,3	397:15 407:8	232:18 281:9	434:15
187:5,6 188:6	414:22 418:2	411:9 413:15	281:15 389:16	<b>weak</b> 305:19
189:12 194:17	420:8 421:3,3	413:22 414:1	460:3	384:9,10
196:3,4 201:10	421:5,7 423:6	415:13 443:4	<b>water</b> 158:4	<b>weakened</b> 10:18
201:11 203:22	423:8 424:10	446:16	173:2 256:15	68:5
208:5,7,22	425:16 436:20	<b>wards</b> 154:5	275:7,7 345:10	<b>weakening</b>
209:19 212:11	449:14 453:19	250:19 300:8	362:3 395:13	332:19
212:13 218:11	453:20 456:7	<b>warfare</b> 333:4	<b>Watson</b> 416:11	<b>wealthy</b> 387:7
219:19 221:7,8	456:16,17	<b>warrant</b> 449:17	<b>way</b> 27:13 28:12	<b>wear</b> 454:22
221:9 229:10	458:21 460:15	<b>WASA</b> 362:3	29:6 30:4,17	<b>Wednesday</b> 1:17
229:11 235:17	<b>wanted</b> 9:17	<b>wash</b> 414:22	31:8,21 36:18	7:4
238:9 240:11	27:19 30:22	<b>washers</b> 116:11	46:14,16 68:17	<b>week</b> 27:22
243:3 245:6,11	38:20 46:20	116:14	69:1 71:16	56:11 62:10
248:16 253:11	52:15 139:5	<b>Washington</b>	76:6 79:16	92:8 94:1,2,3,6
258:21 263:19	168:12 232:17	1:22 2:19	98:21 103:11	94:21,22 116:4
266:14 267:18	288:3 311:3	31:13 37:1,5	106:4 110:10	131:5,8 359:18
268:18 272:2	320:7 359:16	37:12,13 42:17	140:21 151:12	359:20,22
272:14,15	399:1 408:19	129:20 153:13	152:14 153:16	<b>weekend</b> 101:3
274:7,12,22	456:11 458:13	163:3 173:15	161:14 162:16	329:12,17
276:1,1 277:22	<b>wanting</b> 132:17	184:13 200:12	166:4 185:18	407:16 452:2
279:9 280:15	<b>wants</b> 211:6,7,8	211:22 258:10	188:14 189:20	<b>weeks</b> 75:21
282:10 284:2,5	261:19	279:22 294:1	207:17 214:16	133:3,19 336:8
288:21 289:1	<b>ward</b> 2:4,10,11	337:3,4 357:21	216:16 218:11	430:10
292:8 298:15	2:13,14 13:6	360:19 361:8	232:17 233:4	<b>weight</b> 280:22
301:7,17,18	20:7 28:3	361:16 362:4	253:15 257:20	<b>weird</b> 444:16
303:14,18	37:10 42:5	366:21 367:2	268:2 269:6	<b>welcome</b> 65:4
305:3,8,20	68:14 108:2,3	389:2 397:18	270:16 271:3	98:7 119:18
306:21 307:7	108:10,13,16	400:5,6 455:13	276:1 286:6,10	157:9 217:22
310:14 313:4	115:13,15	<b>Washingtonian</b>	287:18 300:13	218:7 291:3

300:18 323:15 323:17 354:1 <b>welcomed</b> 284:15 <b>welcomes</b> 254:15 <b>welfare</b> 403:16 <b>well-maintained</b> 429:2 <b>well-off</b> 335:10 <b>well-paid</b> 42:1 <b>Wendel</b> 95:19 <b>went</b> 43:11 66:19 101:10 105:10 157:17 184:14 204:22 257:14 260:6 264:6 309:5 329:12,17 359:6 381:21 384:16 445:7 449:13 456:10 <b>weren't</b> 196:13 351:15 401:16 <b>west</b> 138:14 260:16 261:4 261:11 262:9 427:7,21 428:1 429:6,10 430:4 430:16 431:9 <b>we'll</b> 30:4,14,14 31:4,19 39:10 39:11 47:10 56:5 65:8 82:9 82:15,21,22 95:5 96:2 128:18 139:13 142:2 155:16 167:18 169:16 179:16 180:15 182:11 194:14 202:5 204:19 205:21 206:3,9 222:9 247:1 253:3 263:9	264:9 277:5,20 278:2 283:22 291:4,6 299:9 336:21 340:17 359:12 373:4 389:8 390:16 390:16 402:3 425:2 426:17 426:22 <b>we're</b> 7:5 9:2,7,9 10:20 12:5 15:14 28:13,19 29:15 30:10,11 30:18,20 31:21 36:15 37:6 39:3,7,10 40:10 41:7,7,8 41:16 48:2 49:14 51:1 52:12 54:19 56:12,13 64:20 67:1,22 68:1 69:2,2,7,8,14 70:4,5 77:4 82:5 83:5 85:11 89:18 91:13 92:5 93:7,10,20,21 96:15,17,18 98:13 99:4 100:6 111:15 111:16 114:3 115:18 119:21 125:9 129:14 129:18,18 130:20 131:15 133:12 136:4 137:21 138:4 139:4 140:16 141:1,16 149:22 150:14 151:2 157:14 165:1 170:13 173:9 186:20 187:3,15,20	189:20 191:19 199:1,1,2,4 204:3 205:15 211:19 215:14 217:16 221:14 222:9 224:6,22 225:6,16 227:14 229:11 230:22 234:16 235:5 236:9 237:18 245:8 249:14 253:2 258:14 273:11 273:15,17 276:20,22 279:7 281:20 282:11 288:1 288:11 298:17 299:19,21 305:9 307:5 343:8,15 344:13 347:18 348:11 362:14 371:8 372:12 376:13 378:2 378:14,19 380:3,4 389:15 390:6 392:6 393:21 410:9 410:12 415:20 418:6,16 420:21 437:7 446:22 447:13 449:3 452:11 453:11 460:17 <b>we've</b> 39:20 42:4 50:9 52:19 53:21 55:22 64:1 65:2,21 71:21 72:13 75:16 81:17,18 88:5,12,21 89:1 92:20 95:10 100:18 101:12 110:12	114:9 118:14 119:1,19 121:6 133:13 135:11 136:16 138:13 141:7 149:14 149:19 155:19 155:20 156:8 161:10 170:6 170:14 181:17 198:21 205:2 205:18 211:17 211:21 219:5,6 219:11 236:7 241:19 250:6 250:18 251:13 271:22 287:18 288:4 312:8 317:7 327:20 329:2,10,19 342:21 343:14 348:13,15 361:22 362:2 362:19 364:4,7 364:11 378:1 379:15,22 380:1,2,4 383:4 388:11 388:12,14 389:6,6 390:20 392:16,20 409:2 415:1,2 415:2 422:20 446:9 447:9 452:8 455:7 <b>whatsoever</b> 21:21 <b>whichever</b> 252:15 <b>whimper</b> 215:8 <b>whistles</b> 214:14 <b>white</b> 5:22 327:1 327:19,19,22 340:21,22 344:18 345:3 346:5 384:4	446:20 <b>Whiteman</b> 170:19 171:14 172:3 173:4,17 <b>wholeheartedly</b> 248:19 <b>wholesale</b> 220:11 332:17 <b>wholly</b> 395:12 <b>wide</b> 38:12 161:7 381:5 <b>widely</b> 214:16 <b>widens</b> 428:5 <b>Wider</b> 34:16 <b>wife</b> 237:16 <b>William</b> 392:17 392:17 423:6 424:15 425:5 <b>Williams</b> 108:12 <b>Williamson</b> 6:10 392:13,14 393:5,7 397:5 397:7,10,12,13 402:2 411:18 412:4,5,11 417:21,22 423:6,8,12 424:2 460:1 <b>Williamsons</b> 411:8,9,11 412:16 415:10 417:17 419:8 <b>Williamson's</b> 413:5 <b>willing</b> 49:3 84:15 111:11 111:12 119:7 119:17 157:12 174:16 178:19 219:18 245:8 245:18 382:18 382:19 417:19 421:13 <b>Wilson</b> 1:20 7:6 <b>win</b> 82:14
--	---	--	---	--



<b>windfall</b> 307:1	336:21 393:19	216:3 218:5	255:18 297:21	275:4 417:10
<b>window</b> 132:12	409:8 424:13	220:19 221:7,8	298:17 325:15	<b>WRN</b> 55:21
290:14 429:13	<b>witnessing</b>	230:18 240:22	343:20 373:9	<b>wrong</b> 46:17
449:9	442:11,16	281:4 283:7	427:17 429:8	241:20 244:12
<b>windows</b> 394:16	445:8 459:6	293:11,21	<b>works</b> 78:6 87:2	265:5 269:14
394:19 449:6	<b>Women</b> 34:16	294:15 296:1	188:15 194:3	312:1 406:12
<b>winds</b> 435:14	<b>wonder</b> 281:17	301:1 306:17	206:2 231:1,5	420:13
<b>Windsor</b> 424:16	282:7 311:12	319:2 321:20	336:5 349:11	<b>wrote</b> 425:18,18
<b>winner</b> 26:10	<b>wonderful</b> 88:10	322:3 331:16	367:3 380:5	
107:6	112:12 287:14	336:6,11	<b>worksheet</b> 309:8	<b>Y</b>
<b>winning</b> 186:4	303:19 373:18	339:19,20	<b>world</b> 9:5	<b>Y</b> 170:19
<b>winter</b> 182:4	454:4	347:16 361:2	195:21 387:19	<b>yeah</b> 50:6 55:10
265:14	<b>wonderfully</b>	364:9 366:5	419:9 446:7	70:14 73:21
<b>win-win</b> 67:3	148:8	372:9 380:1	447:14	77:19 101:14
76:2,4 96:13	<b>wondering</b> 8:8	382:19 396:10	<b>worse</b> 68:9	114:5 116:7,17
118:20 340:1	258:15	398:2,15,17	131:13	118:5 134:5
<b>wiped</b> 332:21	<b>Woodley</b> 373:10	416:22 417:12	<b>worsens</b> 432:20	141:18 161:13
<b>Wisconsin</b> 303:5	<b>word</b> 10:7 25:7	418:11,12,14	<b>worst</b> 134:19	190:4 197:5
<b>wisdom</b> 139:7	147:18 150:5,6	420:21,22	388:13,15	198:13 202:17
<b>wise</b> 63:3 148:19	180:12,13	422:6 454:10	404:14	222:14,21
<b>wisely</b> 406:4	217:20 239:22	<b>workable</b> 221:2	<b>worth</b> 79:2,6	228:8 247:22
<b>wiser</b> 403:6	240:1 276:9	<b>worked</b> 17:8	262:9,17 438:4	253:12 254:8
<b>wish</b> 19:8,8	324:12 421:6	50:17 55:22	<b>worthy</b> 273:10	276:19 281:8
36:14 65:6	<b>words</b> 14:1 51:6	91:3 113:9,10	416:7	288:6 348:8
139:19 140:6	112:18 146:12	161:11 162:20	<b>wouldn't</b> 82:18	397:4,11 416:6
211:11 215:20	147:10,17	167:16 181:11	130:2,5 194:1	444:3 457:4
397:1 424:22	238:18 256:9	181:11 195:2	251:2 252:17	<b>year</b> 8:1,12 9:4,4
460:4	304:15 306:9	326:5 360:19	263:6 423:3	9:13 11:15
<b>wishes</b> 278:7	317:14 376:11	360:21 388:2	435:11 446:12	13:14,22 14:9
424:21 425:1	415:20	399:15 401:14	<b>would've</b> 34:15	20:18,20 21:2
455:9	<b>work</b> 10:4 37:6	413:15	35:20 68:9	27:6 29:4,6
<b>witness</b> 30:5	54:11,21 55:2	<b>workers</b> 38:12	232:9,10,11,13	32:19 33:3,5
41:14 104:8	55:22 69:15	42:1 128:2	288:18 373:22	34:13 35:22
172:9,20	78:12,15 79:1	160:3 161:17	452:18,18	36:9,9 38:13
206:11,14	79:16,18 84:15	<b>workforce</b> 58:8	<b>wow</b> 308:6	39:21 49:10
277:15 292:5	85:19 95:17,19	128:1 181:16	<b>wrap</b> 371:10	60:20 68:6
378:11 427:1	97:12 99:13	186:10	<b>write</b> 299:4,5	69:4 70:12
453:8 454:12	101:5 103:6	<b>working</b> 26:17	425:16 444:7	71:8 72:11
455:10 459:1	133:3 138:17	41:21 68:11,12	<b>writer</b> 206:19	79:7 84:22
<b>witnesses</b> 5:11	142:14 144:5	86:9 93:12	<b>writing</b> 61:12	87:7,7 90:9
29:22 31:5	144:10,13	100:19 109:18	207:9	92:6 96:19
36:16 41:8	162:12 166:11	126:20 138:15	<b>written</b> 57:19	97:14,16,19
139:13 140:4	179:12 181:16	138:16 174:22	63:15 146:13	98:2,22 101:13
171:1 277:6,7	185:12 186:9	181:19 185:19	146:19 151:17	101:14 103:14
291:7 293:7	187:4,11 207:7	218:2 231:3,6	171:13 262:8	113:18 127:13

130:1,4 131:3	113:7,15	458:20	44:9,11,12,15	283:3
141:11 145:1	120:18 125:10	<b>year-old</b> 315:9	45:4 46:7	<b>\$12,000</b> 250:12
148:9,14 155:8	130:11 131:10	<b>yellow</b> 308:15	108:18 156:16	<b>\$12.50</b> 429:17
158:1 166:22	131:10 142:11	<b>yesterday</b> 95:10	261:2,8 305:22	430:14
167:1,4,14,15	142:21 146:4	168:20 269:9		<b>\$120,000</b> 79:8
193:2 195:9,11	142:21 146:4	442:10	<u>\$</u>	79:15,22 80:13
196:7 199:16	157:19 161:11	<b>yield</b> 336:9,14	<b>\$1</b> 262:8,9,16	80:19 143:21
207:14 222:17	162:14 164:22	<b>York</b> 152:3	<b>\$1,000</b> 12:20	<b>\$14</b> 332:11
231:10,12	176:8 183:4,12	267:14,16	33:13 35:20	<b>\$14,000</b> 297:22
251:22 257:13	183:12 195:3,5	<b>young</b> 216:7	145:2,3,6	<b>\$17</b> 163:4
259:3 265:7,12	195:9 196:12	400:15	158:1 200:10	457:12
271:13,14	197:13 198:7	<b>younger</b> 207:4	210:22 211:2,3	<b>\$175</b> 226:19
274:9 283:16	199:2 206:18	208:8	211:6 250:12	<b>\$2</b> 301:1 323:13
286:12 287:20	207:9 210:13	<b>youngest</b> 429:4	302:16,17	430:17
296:2 297:22	227:8,22	<b>youth</b> 209:4	316:9,19	<b>\$2,000</b> 151:20
301:15 304:8	233:16,19	<b>Y'all</b> 203:20,20	380:15 398:13	183:13 191:7
304:16,21	236:9 242:4		423:19	199:22 202:6
305:4 310:10	249:5 251:20	<u>Z</u>	<b>\$1,045</b> 234:6	202:12,13,16
312:9 315:12	252:5 254:20	<b>Zapata</b> 3:7 65:3	<b>\$1,050</b> 145:3	211:8 445:13
317:9,9,10	254:22 255:3	65:5 72:1,2,4,5	<b>\$1,100</b> 448:4,5	<b>\$2,500</b> 398:12
325:4 330:1	263:20 264:6,6	72:5,16 73:16	<b>\$1,200</b> 145:6	400:15 412:1,3
333:11 334:13	264:10,14	73:18,21 74:2	343:10	414:2
334:14,22	265:4 266:9	74:4,21 78:3,3	<b>\$1,229,000</b>	<b>\$2,900</b> 374:10
362:4,15 366:5	290:22 296:4	78:4,16 79:3,4	232:4	374:16
373:19 374:16	317:4,5,15	79:9,10,12,16	<b>\$1,250</b> 234:7,8	<b>\$20,000</b> 33:3
377:18 386:9	318:10,10	79:19 80:1,4,7	234:11,12	34:13 35:21,22
398:18,20	322:4 332:14	80:9,14,20	430:12	265:14
408:7 428:17	335:17 348:14	81:3 91:13	<b>\$1,350</b> 234:13	<b>\$200</b> 145:5
429:22 430:13	350:20 362:2	92:1 94:14	234:18	297:8 458:3
430:17 432:22	362:13 367:10	102:5,7,12,16	<b>\$1,490</b> 316:7	<b>\$200,000</b> 53:14
433:17 437:18	368:7 383:13	103:4,8,18,20	<b>\$1,500</b> 13:3	408:3
438:2 451:5	385:18 386:18	111:7,8 117:12	398:10,20	<b>\$25</b> 438:2
452:15,19	388:3 394:17	145:12 187:18	430:11,15	<b>\$25,000</b> 222:17
458:3 459:9	397:21 407:7	239:15 268:19	<b>\$1,565</b> 359:8	<b>\$25,600</b> 33:19
<b>yearly</b> 281:22	413:15 416:9	269:15,16	<b>\$1,600</b> 226:15	<b>\$26,000</b> 127:13
<b>years</b> 10:13,17	419:12 423:22	326:8,12	382:1	<b>\$261</b> 374:4
12:16 13:9	427:20 428:2	330:11,13	<b>\$1,750</b> 316:4	<b>\$275,000</b> 128:9
14:2,4 24:21	429:3,5 430:3	347:7 375:14	<b>\$10,000</b> 53:15	<b>\$3</b> 212:13
27:22 28:11	430:15 433:4	375:15 427:2	289:20 304:4	<b>\$3,000</b> 12:22
29:7,8 36:4	433:21 438:11	453:9 460:15	372:4	13:2 183:14
37:12,13 44:2	441:8 445:1,7	460:17	<b>\$10,800</b> 334:13	191:7 199:16
47:6,11 55:20	446:16 452:16	<b>Zapata's</b> 239:12	<b>\$100</b> 304:20	200:1,14
71:11,21 72:14	454:22 455:2	410:9	<b>\$100,000</b> 182:22	201:16 202:5,6
75:17 83:22	455:22 456:3,9	<b>zoning</b> 38:22	220:17	202:6,12,14,16
99:1,6 112:18	456:10,19	39:1,6,8 40:6	<b>\$11</b> 279:21	211:8 408:2
	457:9,15,19			

\$3,100 448:7	\$50,800 424:8	\$8,000 384:17	10 11:14 14:8	11552 280:4,4
\$3,300 151:20	\$500 33:1 34:11	391:4	21:3 49:11	12 11:3,21 12:8
\$30,000 128:12	35:19 211:3	\$8,111 381:22	65:8 70:11	15:6 49:11
\$300 207:11	225:15 226:3,6	\$8,330 316:13	96:6 125:8,10	72:7 73:7,9
211:3 264:7,15	281:16 302:16	359:7 381:22	134:4 136:7,9	74:5,17 76:18
265:9 303:6	302:17	\$8,800 359:7	145:20 164:8	76:20 77:5,7
\$325 429:16	\$500,000 143:19	\$80 388:15	183:10 188:22	77:14 78:1,5,7
\$330,000 128:8	\$535 227:6,20	457:13	189:1,3 192:2	78:13 79:6
\$349 298:1	228:5,10,19	\$800 12:20	192:15 193:5,9	81:7 82:6,7,10
\$35,000 265:15	229:17 230:5	200:18,20	193:13 195:5,6	85:1 87:3,3,10
398:18,20	\$550 225:4	230:6 359:6	195:9 198:5,14	90:4,22 91:1,2
\$4 301:4	430:8	\$800,000 9:17	233:16 236:2,3	91:11,21 92:16
\$4,000 114:18	\$552 438:4	166:20 259:2	236:9 242:4	94:19 96:12
114:21 145:5	\$589 227:7,21	\$839 319:22	250:13 251:21	110:14 119:3,5
199:16 282:1	\$6 265:10,10	\$843 381:16	254:22 264:6	125:8 139:4
290:9 391:7	\$6,000 236:10	\$892 227:10	265:11 283:16	143:12 182:14
\$4.9 280:2	391:6	\$900 262:10,18	286:4 304:13	182:16 184:2
\$40 183:11,13	\$6,200 320:5,10	\$995 228:5	304:15,19	187:22 188:19
195:7 199:15	\$6,281 319:19	229:18 230:2	305:4 310:11	198:17,19
\$40,000 35:22	320:5		355:20 362:3	250:1,4,11,15
287:6	\$60 210:17	0	370:6 373:17	251:1,16
\$400 183:4,5,6	\$60,000 405:11	05 308:18	377:22 378:1,2	267:21 286:7
191:9 195:10	429:11,14		410:19 413:17	288:14 297:20
195:10 196:13	\$600 225:6,15	1	413:17 414:7	301:13 311:2
199:15 211:3	225:18,20	1 2:4,16 13:6	427:20 428:2	314:16 315:14
215:10 264:11	226:3 230:5	37:10 68:14	430:15 431:7	347:12 348:22
303:7	233:22 297:8	112:18 115:13	458:1	349:1,6,7,16
\$405,000 430:20	\$631 373:22	117:2 145:14	10th 455:16	349:19 350:13
\$41 334:14	\$650 225:4	153:6 154:5	458:6	351:11 374:2
\$43 438:4	386:20	160:2 210:6	10,000 210:11	391:16 408:2
\$440 191:9	\$683 233:21	218:10,11,12	210:13,14	418:17 429:18
\$450 254:18	\$7,438 316:16	219:10 241:10	10-minute 89:8	431:12 438:10
255:19	\$70,000 405:11	321:14 357:9	97:9	12:00 26:16
\$480 199:15	\$700 398:7,10	377:8 378:21	10-year 250:13	329:17
264:15	\$734 33:6 64:2	411:9 413:22	10:10 7:4	120 430:14
\$5 438:2	432:21	414:1	100 61:22 99:17	125 110:18
\$5,000 18:16	\$735 343:9	1st 19:2 93:22	100:3 325:2	144:17
152:3 236:10	\$75 265:19	93:22 94:4	332:22	128 319:3
290:9	\$75,000 210:17	352:4 377:18	100,000 403:18	129 319:3
\$50 210:16	405:4	452:3	105,000 104:21	13 11:21 90:5
287:1,5,10	\$752 235:20	1(a) 357:18	105:7	96:12 119:3
370:7	\$780 64:2	1,000 130:18	107 440:10	232:18 288:14
\$50,000 157:4	\$799 33:6	275:13 382:4	11th 11:16 15:18	418:17
159:6,9 163:4	432:21	1.5 403:19	110,000 104:17	13th 128:7
289:21	\$8 265:10,10	1.6 37:14	1145 321:22	295:14

13,000 33:15	396:1 434:21	1980s 242:1	20 10:17 12:16	67:20 153:6
1350 1:21 7:6	439:15	1982 443:10	37:15 45:2	184:22 254:15
14 125:8 131:9	16-48 18:8	1983 112:18	53:14 71:11	285:4,13 286:2
332:14 407:7	16-51 19:10	145:14 157:16	99:6 110:16	341:12,13,16
456:8	433:11	1985 10:17 57:8	125:10 129:22	341:19,22
14th 128:7	16109 256:3	68:4 98:22	142:21 145:7	342:2,3 357:7
218:17 219:1	285:3	112:14,17	146:4 181:10	358:9 364:20
253:8 394:11	1616 397:14	113:7,9 145:11	183:12 249:5	370:1 427:14
394:16	1630 295:9	145:15 252:19	252:5,14	2005-063 356:7
1445 300:16,17	16457 356:9	254:18,19	263:20 265:3	2006 366:5
321:22	1648 286:1	255:2 290:18	265:11 273:22	208(h) 357:18
147,124 8:11	367:14	317:13 351:22	397:20 427:21	21 210:8 260:21
15 47:6,11	1651 178:6	416:13 421:7,8	454:21	261:4
190:15 195:5	368:12 396:11	1987 150:18	20th 328:17	21st 341:11
227:8 233:17	1660 301:3	360:20	20,000 47:7,11	213 309:5,12
236:9 254:22	321:17 323:11	1988 104:18	119:14,15	370:1
419:12 455:22	17 358:9 432:18	145:18 156:22	20-unit 265:13	213(b) 361:13
457:9 458:20	18 242:6 361:17	159:8 424:6	20-year 250:14	362:9 364:1
15th 456:21	362:1	1989 457:1	200 197:3	2130 427:9
15,000 35:19	18th 17:16 19:14	459:12	210:14 380:11	23 127:18
51:6 54:16	301:3 321:18	1990 36:7 287:6	2000 8:10 33:9	236 313:1
105:4	323:11 328:18	455:17 459:11	33:15 35:18	24 43:2
150,000 403:21	180 152:21	459:17	36:5,9 60:20	24,000 260:15
410:16	257:13	1990s 36:8	210:7 211:15	24-hour 110:22
152 233:14,17	180-day 232:13	1992 142:11	254:17 255:1,3	188:8
16 368:7 456:19	1938 230:15	1994 256:18	255:5 256:12	24-hours 409:14
457:15	1960 176:13	1999 427:6	258:13 433:4	240 380:11
16th 6:18 7:13	1963 395:2		20004 1:22	245 341:8 342:1
291:22 300:22	1964 300:6	<u>2</u>	2001 211:18	245-249 5:22
322:1 323:14	1968 364:6	2 3:1 154:5	2003 8:2 33:5,14	327:22
397:14 425:13	389:2	211:13 218:12	153:17 407:10	25 14:7 37:12,13
426:7 437:9,13	1969 361:9	241:10 357:17	430:17 433:1	129:22 164:22
437:16,18	1970s 405:1	397:15 407:8	2004 8:2 33:5,14	228:21 317:4
448:2	1971 10:14	2nd 167:5	33:17 34:12	25th 95:1,4 96:3
16-109 369:13	1972 293:14	2(c) 439:17	35:18 36:10	96:10 341:22
396:7	1975 10:13	2,300 36:10	432:20 433:1,4	250-unit 427:8
16-457 70:9	331:17 333:14	2,400 8:3 33:8	2005 1:7,8,10,11	26 1:17 233:16
175:8 178:5	346:15 371:4	2.1 195:12 196:7	1:14,17 7:5,11	315:8 367:10
250:20 357:8	398:7 427:9	2.5 157:20	7:12 11:12,17	26th 7:5 437:21
364:19 369:22	429:4 457:5	2.6 157:20	15:17,18 17:14	2633 330:8
399:10 427:13	1977 256:13	2.7 182:17 196:7	18:22 19:12	264 334:14
429:18 433:11	1978 62:12,21	310:10	42:19 57:9,10	265 358:21
16-458 280:9	346:11 368:22	2.9 182:17	57:11,12,14	375:22
285:12 289:19	1979 279:20	195:12 196:7	65:20 66:11,13	27th 341:13
357:6 370:21	315:9	197:11	66:14,16,17	27,000 34:14

64:7 2805 246:18 29 197:20 2901 301:3 321:18 323:11 2922 435:13,16	3000 449:20 306 381:18 307 381:15,17 314 153:17 3200 300:22 322:1 323:14 328 319:15,16 319:18 33 430:4 3318 295:11 35 362:13 415:15 416:3 3500 219:1 364 309:18 3788 280:3 368:22 394-unit 289:18	42350901(a) 155:11 43 233:15 441:8 44 317:5 337:17 438:4 45 264:10 450,000 45:6 453 163:3 458 356:9 46 409:9 47,000 34:12 64:6 48 409:9	243:21 244:7 244:18 264:14 265:12 326:1 342:11 344:13 344:22 345:20 348:17 384:7 60s 210:7 331:21 394:8 60-day 241:15 243:10,12 600 270:13 302:4 309:20 6000 295:13 6050 295:13 606(c)(5) 371:11 61 296:2 64-month 246:1 65 127:18 67 430:5 68 127:19 6817 227:15 69 331:22 457:19	132:1 138:5 237:3,21 302:3 332:10 386:19 446:16 8th 5:22 327:22 341:8 342:1 8-0 358:10 8.9 157:16 80 104:22 105:6 156:20 80s 104:16 125:16 244:10 281:1 332:20 444:7 800 254:3 270:12 800,000 37:15 85 349:19 86 255:2 87 255:2	
<hr/> 3	<hr/> 4	<hr/> 5	<hr/> 7	<hr/> 9	
3 2:11 3:9 42:5 108:3 127:19 154:5 3C 354:22 356:6 357:5,8,9,22 358:5,5,6,8 3C02 6:2 291:13 3rd 153:14 3,000 218:14 337:5 3.5 309:20 310:11 3:00 407:16 3:15 328:18 30 10:13 12:16 14:2,2 33:18 44:1 64:7 71:11 94:10 183:4,12 196:12 197:3 227:22 228:21 302:5 317:4 318:10 334:5 362:3,13 386:9 386:9 407:14 410:19 415:15 416:3 429:3,5 432:18 30s 365:1 30th 214:12 330:8 335:6 30-year 429:6 30-year-old 217:10 300 131:4 197:3 197:4 210:15 415:14	4 2:10 3:16 20:7 154:5 224:18 225:17 226:5 415:13 4C09 291:9 4,500 225:13 4,600 8:4 33:14 40 130:15 228:8 228:9 266:8 318:9 429:3 40,000 173:21 40-year 318:7 400 402:12 4000 3:13 150:15 42 238:4,6 253:12 42-3502.08(h) 357:19 42-3502.10 238:12 42-3502.10(c)(1) 241:9 420 6:18 425:13 426:7 437:9,13 437:16 448:2	5 4:4 224:17 225:17 226:5 5:19 128:16 50 14:7 130:16 156:17,18,19 156:19 182:9 188:18 206:18 228:15 265:12 277:6 342:12 374:1 404:2 410:18,22 416:9 50s 394:8 416:10 500 270:12 309:21 358:22 52 228:15,17,18 228:19,20 230:4 54 274:21 55 264:6 55,000 47:5 550 456:2	6 2:13 4:10 115:15 125:6 289:22 6.4 429:15 60 27:13 241:11 242:7 243:13	7 4:18 386:19 7th 42:19 341:18 7,500 33:9 433:3 7,688 104:20 7/13/2004 312:21 70 182:3,7 199:2 274:16 70s 184:14 303:8 332:20 415:17 700 36:8 275:13 72 250:5,6 73 33:20 331:22 75 455:2 457:2,4 75,000 404:3,12	8 2:14 5:3 127:12,18 131:9,10,22



<b>addition</b> 110:14 111:4 148:7 155:2 157:14 160:2 176:18 232:12 265:18 365:3 395:19	13:17,19 145:14,17 250:10 396:12 <b>administer</b> 98:8 98:10 160:16 <b>administering</b> 160:19 <b>Administration</b> 64:14 86:14 105:17 107:16 108:12 132:8 136:7,17 148:13 149:11 163:17 165:20	12:12 <b>advantages</b> 44:13 158:13 <b>advent</b> 284:15 <b>adversarial</b> 336:10 <b>adverse</b> 123:16 315:3 <b>advertising</b> 183:17 318:12 <b>advice</b> 10:22 170:5 407:13 <b>advising</b> 153:10 <b>advocacy</b> 103:2 163:19 399:15 401:14 <b>advocate</b> 9:14 9:19 10:2,2 18:18 19:9 51:16 101:16 148:8,12,15 164:17,20 166:4 168:16 168:17 169:2,4 170:3 210:5 258:17 273:8 284:15 321:10 358:1 361:4	402:8 <b>affect</b> 32:18 103:11 184:18 <b>affinity</b> 364:8 <b>affluent</b> 175:2 220:14 <b>afford</b> 14:15 41:12 50:20 60:3 82:14 184:8 190:11 191:1 237:2 274:6 290:13 302:9 333:17 343:21 344:11 363:1 398:19 399:2,5,6 400:1 401:1 411:19 412:1,3 414:2 438:15 443:3 <b>affordability</b> 21:7,17 23:1 108:20,22 109:2,3,4,6,8 158:16 160:22 379:5 418:15 <b>affordable</b> 7:18 8:3,6 11:8 13:8 13:18 14:13,18 23:3,9 26:20 27:14,19 32:20 32:22 33:2,8 33:16 34:15 35:7,17,21 36:2,7 37:8 38:3,5,18 39:1 39:2,12 40:7 40:22 41:9,20 44:1,19,19 45:5,13 46:15 47:7,8,11,16 51:4 53:5,13 53:20 54:1 58:2,4,13,22 59:2 63:13,21	68:18 69:7,12 70:1 71:4 76:14 82:17,20 84:8 85:20 89:2 100:2 104:10,13 106:8 108:9,13 111:18 121:18 126:1 143:7 156:5,14 166:14 174:20 175:16 177:12 179:13 181:15 182:19 183:22 184:11 185:21 185:22 186:9 203:3 210:15 210:16 234:4 249:7,9 260:17 294:9 297:11 297:19 298:1,6 320:16 337:9 338:7,10,20 339:4,21 340:17 356:19 361:6 376:22 377:4,10 378:9 378:19 382:16 383:10 387:3 387:22 388:19 406:15,20 411:13 412:10 412:20 413:18 417:1,11 419:18 432:15 432:20 433:3 453:21 <b>afforded</b> 222:16 <b>Africa</b> 445:5 <b>Africans</b> 445:5 <b>African-Amer...</b> 445:4 <b>afternoon</b> 97:15 135:13 138:6 142:18 248:15
<b>address</b> 21:6 47:19 58:5 75:2 90:14 92:1 101:17 114:13 146:18 158:15 190:3 207:5 215:4 330:6 362:8 402:20 403:4,7 406:20 422:18 422:20 423:1 427:11 453:12	<b>administrative</b> 160:12 169:20 179:3 <b>administrativ...</b> 106:1 147:16 <b>administrator</b> 3:7 19:18 65:4 72:6 110:16 111:13 144:6 188:20 238:14 239:19 241:11 241:15 244:8 269:1 312:2 325:22 326:2 330:10 348:16	<b>advocated</b> 164:16,21 <b>advocates</b> 53:5 69:17 90:19 165:4 174:11 246:6 361:6 406:10 <b>Advocate's</b> 18:20 <b>Affairs</b> 1:2 3:6 3:18 7:4 29:17 56:10,18 57:16 85:16 142:20 170:17,20 173:18 278:16 305:22 337:2 342:7 358:7	<b>addressed</b> 154:22 268:6 280:16 356:9 <b>addressing</b> 11:7 21:17 41:3 90:10 182:5 377:21 <b>adequately</b> 433:6 <b>adjacent</b> 218:18 <b>adjust</b> 51:18 73:2 408:4 <b>adjustment</b> 11:13 19:17 61:21 70:10,15 70:16 149:6 196:7 238:14 287:4 396:16 <b>adjustments</b>	<b>admissibile</b> 318:3 <b>adopt</b> 174:17 301:12 302:8 <b>adopted</b> 176:7 179:2 <b>ADRIAN</b> 2:10 <b>advance</b> 207:11 <b>advanced</b> 156:11 <b>advantage</b> 22:8 38:7 117:13 243:12 270:8 328:6 333:16 335:4 343:21 368:19 <b>advantageous</b>

259:8 284:2 293:9 299:16 303:13 326:6 340:22 437:8 <b>age</b> 17:1 266:12 322:9 <b>aged</b> 60:19,19 <b>agency</b> 60:21 93:7 101:19 102:1 137:2 165:14 167:21 249:17 293:14 332:5 398:18 <b>agency's</b> 293:17 <b>agenda</b> 103:6,9 103:14 <b>agent</b> 341:7 342:6 <b>agents</b> 439:16 <b>aggressive</b> 368:8 389:7 411:16 <b>aggressively</b> 175:10 365:12 370:14 <b>aghast</b> 411:4 <b>ago</b> 10:13,17 38:14 92:20 128:6 176:8 195:9 264:6 288:17 322:4 350:20 383:13 394:17 424:6 433:17,21 445:1 446:16 455:22 456:19 457:9 <b>agonizing</b> 68:17 <b>agony</b> 322:14 <b>agree</b> 53:2 93:15 93:16 99:17,22 100:3,11 110:21 118:11 128:20 139:2 164:18 166:11 167:20 168:5	188:8 218:15 239:9 273:12 283:17 346:16 397:18 414:4 <b>agreed</b> 187:2 255:19 <b>agreement</b> 61:22 63:2 70:7 110:20 111:2 187:12 189:16 324:10 347:22 <b>agreements</b> 239:7 <b>agrees</b> 28:20 <b>ahead</b> 197:18 319:16 <b>aid</b> 6:17 208:16 424:20 426:4 432:7 <b>aides</b> 444:14 <b>aimed</b> 46:9 109:15 <b>ain't</b> 81:7 349:7 <b>air</b> 363:12 398:15 <b>Akanbi</b> 392:9 <b>akin</b> 396:2 <b>alarm</b> 445:22 451:21 <b>alarmed</b> 372:18 <b>alarming</b> 7:22 36:2 69:8 <b>alarms</b> 275:6,7 456:13 <b>Alban</b> 392:21 393:1 394:2 <b>Aldon</b> 6:8 392:10 394:4 396:20,22 397:1 <b>alert</b> 18:12 <b>alerted</b> 255:5 <b>Alex</b> 5:17 292:2 292:7,8 307:20 380:8	<b>Alexandria</b> 35:1 <b>alike</b> 346:19 <b>allegedly</b> 254:19 <b>alley</b> 222:19 <b>alleys</b> 222:4,5,7 222:10,20 <b>Alliance</b> 6:6 355:16 367:11 <b>allotted</b> 402:21 <b>allow</b> 19:16 63:8 147:6 182:18 226:22 241:16 283:16 301:5,7 302:21 305:1 326:9 329:6 357:12 364:2 371:16 385:16 441:15 <b>allowable</b> 195:12 196:8 251:5 374:13 374:13 <b>allowance</b> 332:6 <b>allowed</b> 13:13 14:2 193:16 251:8,22 267:8 272:6,7,8 346:13 359:9 363:19 366:10 375:5 385:6,21 <b>allowing</b> 21:20 181:6 298:2 300:3 303:21 304:4 309:16 328:7 348:18 368:13 396:11 433:12 442:8 446:12 <b>allows</b> 13:10 25:14,14,15 118:19 175:21 194:6 251:9 326:3 363:4 364:1 365:14 428:21 429:17	<b>alluded</b> 220:13 <b>alter</b> 286:11 <b>alternative</b> 11:2 82:8 431:10 <b>Alyssa</b> 57:17 <b>amazes</b> 346:6 <b>Ambrose</b> 2:13 87:20,22 88:2 89:6 97:5,9,10 98:6,15,17,19 99:8,18 100:10 100:14,18 101:4,22 102:10,14,22 103:5,12,22 104:3 112:22 120:6,7 121:19 122:14,17,20 122:22 123:17 124:6,11,15 126:2,6 127:3 129:12 144:10 <b>amenable</b> 186:3 <b>amend</b> 215:2 <b>amended</b> 50:12 370:2 <b>amending</b> 98:12 <b>amendment</b> 1:7 1:8,10,13 11:12 15:17 17:14 19:11 57:11,12,13 65:20 66:11,13 66:14,17 175:9 248:20 254:15 280:8 285:4,13 286:2,10 357:7 364:20 370:1,3 416:13 427:14 <b>amendments</b> 10:18 65:13 179:11 351:22 402:17,21 405:6 406:8,13 419:1 421:8	<b>amenities</b> 398:14 <b>America</b> 446:8 <b>American</b> 438:11 <b>AMI</b> 33:19 64:7 <b>amidst</b> 35:11 <b>amiss</b> 436:10 <b>amortized</b> 244:16 246:1 <b>amount</b> 49:11 62:11,15 111:3 111:6 121:4 150:9,9 155:9 178:16 199:17 200:1 207:13 212:9 255:21 265:22 302:10 321:17 341:15 352:4 365:17 368:15 369:15 370:5 401:12 438:19 440:8 455:19 <b>amounts</b> 396:17 431:11 438:8 <b>ample</b> 92:21 <b>amplify</b> 336:13 <b>Amy</b> 6:15 424:17 425:5 425:22 427:3,4 452:9 <b>anachronism</b> 403:9 <b>anachronistic</b> 403:2 <b>Anacostia</b> 294:18 333:2 <b>analysis</b> 36:5 54:17 84:2 104:8 133:15 188:16 273:4 322:2 323:1 335:15 <b>Analyst</b> 2:17
---	---	---	---	---



31:12 32:6	<b>answer</b> 46:7	<b>apartment</b> 3:18	365:15 373:19	359:11 370:19
<b>analytical</b> 134:9	93:3 113:2,9	3:20 13:7,7	374:5,8,22	373:14 380:11
<b>analyzed</b> 419:3	123:11 137:4,6	14:1,4 19:6	375:10 377:9,9	380:12,14,22
<b>analyzing</b>	137:14 143:14	28:2,3 68:16	378:8,9 381:13	388:21 391:3
375:22	146:2 159:12	68:16 71:9,19	381:15 382:7	418:15 427:8
<b>ANC</b> 4:22 6:2	194:9 197:17	72:22 104:21	391:5,11	455:3
246:18 247:17	241:18 253:1	111:19,19,20	398:22 400:21	<b>apartment's</b>
247:20,21	302:8 322:22	114:17,22	409:18 414:3	375:11
248:3,6 291:9	327:10 338:8	116:15 125:17	418:9 427:8,21	<b>apologize</b> 228:6
291:13 354:22	338:21	144:22 152:2	429:2 430:7	228:14 356:1
356:6 357:5,8	<b>answered</b> 194:8	152:10 153:2,5	433:17 438:13	<b>apparent</b> 155:18
357:9,22 358:5	197:7	153:18 155:6	439:18 440:11	<b>apparently</b>
358:5,6,8	<b>answering</b> 189:8	155:10 170:18	448:10,13,20	171:10
373:6	<b>answers</b> 134:2	170:20,21	449:11 451:22	<b>appeal</b> 101:6,7
<b>ancestors</b> 281:7	197:22 257:18	172:6 173:14	452:1,15 456:7	163:9 242:9
<b>anchors</b> 430:19	<b>anti</b> 41:13	173:22 175:6	457:21 458:1,5	<b>appealing</b>
<b>and/or</b> 357:12	<b>anticipate</b> 362:5	175:15 176:16	<b>apartments</b> 4:14	275:10
357:15 358:7	<b>anticipated</b>	181:7 182:1,6	4:16 8:13,15	<b>appeals</b> 148:3,3
<b>anecdotal</b>	247:6	182:12 184:18	8:17 9:8 12:14	260:6 283:10
145:21	<b>Anti-Displace...</b>	191:22 199:14	12:17 13:6,18	<b>appear</b> 20:21
<b>anecdote</b> 158:17	5:12 293:11,19	199:14,17,20	14:15 15:8	86:8 154:15
<b>anger</b> 255:15	<b>anybody</b> 69:21	200:2,12 201:3	40:17 45:3,6,7	161:16 314:5
<b>Angie</b> 2:17	117:18 125:1	207:21 210:8	69:21 70:1	<b>appearance</b>
31:11 32:6	129:19 181:21	216:18,22	71:5,11 112:9	394:19
<b>angrily</b> 370:17	282:6 326:10	225:6,10	156:9 186:21	<b>appeared</b> 403:4
<b>angry</b> 87:14	<b>anymore</b> 159:5	226:19 227:4	201:12,22	<b>appearing</b>
<b>animals</b> 454:22	214:19 242:3	227:19 233:14	213:22 214:3	172:19 173:13
<b>annihilated</b>	275:11 387:11	233:20 241:3	219:10 220:13	<b>appears</b> 319:6
261:1	387:17 458:10	242:13 245:18	222:10 223:4	<b>applaud</b> 58:22
<b>anniversary</b>	<b>anyway</b> 26:4	250:12 254:3	224:13,17	63:10
214:12 335:7	78:12 117:10	256:15 257:4	227:14 228:2	<b>apples</b> 273:11
<b>announced</b>	167:7 187:2,19	260:22 261:4	236:6 259:17	<b>appliance</b> 452:5
11:22	202:4,5 308:7	264:17,21	260:10 261:3	<b>appliances</b>
<b>annual</b> 20:17	411:8 451:16	265:9 267:17	261:18,19	183:15 236:9
21:3 70:10,12	451:21	268:2 269:17	266:5,8 267:4	245:19
70:15,16 106:3	<b>AOBA</b> 154:13	269:18,19	267:8,13	<b>applicable</b> 221:2
107:10 134:5	171:12 172:20	271:18 272:11	268:16 271:7	<b>applicant</b>
192:2,15,22	173:16,20	272:12,22	272:4,7,8,9	151:15 220:5
195:8 232:13	174:3 191:22	273:14 274:22	274:4 277:3	<b>application</b>
250:9 265:17	284:21 336:11	308:3,17 309:5	289:5 291:22	61:16 220:6
310:5 313:14	<b>AOBA's</b> 173:17	311:8,20 313:1	303:7 309:12	342:9 343:11
359:2 375:7	179:15 186:14	315:21,22	309:16 316:8	348:17 367:21
431:7 437:22	339:19	316:3 319:7	317:1,9 318:15	<b>applications</b>
<b>annually</b> 11:15	<b>apart</b> 435:7,20	320:4 331:18	329:3,10	101:1
455:19	<b>apartheid</b> 216:6	359:2,6 364:21	358:18 359:4	<b>applied</b> 220:18

241:2 286:22 368:2 <b>applies</b> 304:14 372:14 403:17 403:20 <b>apply</b> 25:3 121:19 158:7,9 158:21 238:20 245:21 283:18 430:21 <b>applying</b> 151:13 372:19 <b>appoint</b> 358:1 <b>appointed</b> 165:21 <b>appointments</b> 329:2 <b>appreciate</b> 31:7 39:19 45:18 55:20 56:2 65:11 94:17 140:17 150:12 170:11 195:1 221:10,21 223:1 230:10 238:3 243:4 247:3 268:9 276:21 287:15 288:12 312:14 320:18 326:11 326:17 356:5 360:9 373:5 379:6,9 390:19 392:3,4 410:3 423:4 437:6 446:1 452:10 460:15 <b>appreciated</b> 157:13 218:5 221:15 287:13 <b>appreciates</b> 24:21 209:2 <b>approach</b> 30:7,9 45:17 130:8 322:13 338:9	339:9 407:12 422:9 <b>approached</b> 341:16 <b>appropriate</b> 16:10 87:10 99:15 118:8 137:6,14 193:1 193:8 231:14 <b>appropriation</b> 322:13 <b>approval</b> 68:20 245:17 325:4 368:1 <b>approve</b> 238:14 <b>approved</b> 11:1 165:22 243:16 244:9,19 261:2 <b>approximately</b> 228:8,9 394:17 403:18,20 430:11 <b>April</b> 342:2 456:20 <b>arbitrariness</b> 86:5 <b>arbitrary</b> 145:15 395:16 <b>arcane</b> 270:1 <b>Archstone</b> 310:17 <b>arduous</b> 428:16 <b>area</b> 33:19 34:18 114:15 130:10 156:18,20 206:18 211:13 225:17 262:19 342:17 365:7 367:1 448:22 449:2 456:10 456:11 <b>areas</b> 16:5 59:22 169:11 430:16 <b>arena</b> 62:3 <b>arguably</b> 249:6	<b>arguing</b> 275:22 <b>argument</b> 369:7 <b>arguments</b> 67:8 <b>arisen</b> 403:7 <b>Arlington</b> 35:1 <b>array</b> 111:14 293:15 296:7 <b>arrival</b> 114:4 <b>arsenal</b> 110:8 <b>art</b> 300:22 <b>article</b> 259:19 <b>articles</b> 206:20 <b>articulate</b> 94:15 <b>articulated</b> 92:11 132:16 <b>artificially</b> 124:2 357:15 <b>artists</b> 220:22 <b>ascension</b> 213:17 <b>ascertain</b> 436:14 <b>Asians</b> 445:5 <b>aside</b> 50:14 102:12 300:15 323:5 344:20 457:19 <b>asides</b> 457:15,17 <b>asked</b> 8:20 18:4 92:19 131:11 133:19 165:2 235:13 240:8 255:13 257:3 288:3 374:5 401:16 <b>asking</b> 75:20 136:12 189:9 240:3 294:14 324:2 330:2 419:17 456:19 457:7 458:17 <b>aspect</b> 70:19 <b>aspects</b> 19:7 70:21 <b>Aspen</b> 394:12,16 <b>aspersion</b> 24:15	<b>aspersions</b> 26:11 <b>assembling</b> 243:22 <b>assert</b> 153:20 178:16 229:12 <b>asserted</b> 197:10 <b>assertion</b> 81:6 <b>assess</b> 145:6 <b>assessed</b> 72:8,9 74:5 78:13,14 78:16,18 80:22 143:15 357:3 <b>assessment</b> 14:16 <b>assessor</b> 143:16 <b>asset</b> 63:7 121:17 122:4,6 122:6,8,13 123:13,13 <b>assets</b> 63:20 123:8 335:3 403:13 <b>assist</b> 213:3 338:3 396:6 432:11 <b>assistance</b> 34:21 49:22 101:11 258:17 330:2 335:8,11,13 339:2,13 404:4 404:13 405:4 405:15 436:15 440:10 <b>Assistant</b> 3:4 57:18 135:14 331:22 <b>assisted</b> 78:9 417:5 <b>assisting</b> 172:19 359:17 <b>assists</b> 387:2 <b>associated</b> 10:10 80:11 122:4,5 371:18 438:18 <b>Associates</b>	424:16 <b>association</b> 3:12 3:14,19,21 4:6 4:21 5:18,21 6:1,7,11,13,19 139:17 140:13 140:13 150:16 153:19 158:18 164:21 170:18 170:20,22 172:7,10,15 173:14,20 181:8 192:1 197:1 204:10 206:6,22 246:15,17 247:11 253:20 254:2 292:3 293:6 295:5,7 307:22 308:9 326:22 327:15 328:1 336:22 337:3,4 341:19 342:4 353:1 355:18 358:17 367:9 393:6,9 397:6,14 402:5 402:11,11 414:16 425:13 435:15,21 436:3,4 437:10 437:19 440:13 <b>associations</b> 10:5 25:11 154:1,4,11 166:8 212:1 337:5 371:19 371:21 415:2 435:6,9 436:6 <b>Association's</b> 296:18 <b>assume</b> 124:14 152:17 186:19 229:18 431:22 <b>assumes</b> 242:8,8
---	---	--	---	--

<p>242:9  <b>assuming</b>                  199:18 403:18                  404:2 430:12  <b>assumptions</b>                  395:6 413:8  <b>assure</b> 169:15                  323:3  <b>assured</b> 164:7                  169:3 257:5,10                  258:5  <b>astounding</b> 33:4  <b>astronomical</b>                  255:19  <b>Ate</b> 259:19  <b>atmosphere</b>                  447:22  <b>atrocious</b> 359:14  <b>atrocitiy</b> 391:1  <b>attached</b> 178:9                  244:15 259:16                  262:7 313:10  <b>attacks</b> 441:11  <b>attempt</b> 51:17                  356:19  <b>attempting</b>                  98:13 109:11                  338:6  <b>attempts</b> 407:18                  422:22 423:4  <b>attend</b> 102:18                  141:18 244:4                  268:20  <b>attendance</b>                  102:20  <b>attended</b> 102:14                  296:2  <b>attention</b> 173:6                  266:2 285:2                  300:16 349:3  <b>Attested</b> 358:8  <b>attorney</b> 16:18                  164:22 344:9                  344:11,12                  435:4 439:11</p>	<p><b>attorneys</b> 184:8                  186:22 295:4                  396:5 435:3  <b>attract</b> 38:1  <b>attractive</b> 52:22                  77:16  <b>atypical</b> 207:6  <b>audience</b> 36:14  <b>audit</b> 8:19                  305:15  <b>auditing</b> 305:14                  305:18  <b>audits</b> 321:4  <b>August</b> 274:9                  328:17 437:18  <b>author</b> 141:6  <b>authorities</b>                  407:14,20  <b>authority</b> 85:14                  249:12  <b>authorizes</b> 358:5  <b>auto</b> 169:11  <b>automate</b> 61:2                  97:19  <b>automated</b> 98:2  <b>automatic</b> 220:4  <b>automatically</b>                  91:20 108:20  <b>automobile</b>                  454:19,20  <b>availability</b> 35:5                  406:15  <b>available</b> 23:5                  30:6 58:17                  60:5 63:21                  64:10 72:20                  77:15 83:2                  84:8,9 102:20                  109:5 147:4                  153:21 156:17                  156:18,19                  176:16 177:1                  239:11 338:16                  338:21 347:15                  348:3 369:12</p>	<p>371:3,5,13                  403:4 410:11  <b>avaricious</b> 116:1  <b>Avenue</b> 1:21                  3:13 7:7                  224:17,18                  225:17 227:15                  233:14 295:11                  303:5 394:12                  394:22 414:6                  435:14,16                  449:20  <b>average</b> 18:1                  36:8,9 108:6,6                  109:13 129:4                  130:16 197:6,8                  197:12 200:1                  226:9 234:1                  309:11,18                  350:3 385:18                  386:20 403:19                  430:3,12 438:3  <b>avoid</b> 386:3                  418:2  <b>avoiding</b> 124:12  <b>awaiting</b> 44:7  <b>aware</b> 17:20                  41:7 61:17                  92:20 108:3                  245:12 328:20                  368:21  <b>Awareness</b> 62:9  <b>awful</b> 138:13                  401:5  <b>awoke</b> 407:16  <b>awry</b> 82:18  <b>axe</b> 336:16  <b>a.m</b> 328:18                  407:17</p>	<p><b>baby</b> 217:15                  345:10 419:21  <b>back</b> 10:14 14:9                  24:15 26:2                  61:7 66:7,18                  73:19 75:13,21                  75:22 76:10                  77:11 92:6,8                  92:14 93:19                  94:21 95:5                  97:22 98:22                  100:3 110:5                  113:6,7 120:22                  121:6 122:1                  132:12,14                  133:3,19,22                  135:20 136:3                  138:18,21                  141:1 155:12                  166:13 171:2,9                  171:15,16                  172:3 183:17                  184:15 185:5                  187:19 191:8                  191:14 193:15                  194:14 197:11                  199:3 211:3                  222:4,19                  229:13 237:3                  237:20 238:8                  239:12,13                  240:5 254:12                  255:2,3 268:19                  269:1 283:22                  284:5 290:18                  312:3 313:11                  316:6 321:4                  326:13 329:13                  334:8 335:6                  336:21 342:21                  347:10 350:5,9                  350:10 357:13                  357:13 359:10                  368:22 384:12                  400:2 410:4</p>	<p>412:15 415:17                  416:10,22                  434:17 441:22                  444:6 456:21                  457:1 460:19  <b>backbone</b>                  298:13  <b>backdrop</b> 64:3  <b>backed</b> 313:17  <b>background</b>                  308:10  <b>backgrounds</b>                  435:12,12  <b>backing</b> 325:10  <b>bad</b> 299:8                  300:11 345:7                  345:12,13                  346:17 441:6  <b>badly</b> 251:13,15                  275:6  <b>balance</b> 10:15                  23:21 54:4,5                  66:22 81:20                  83:16 84:6,8                  84:10 88:20                  90:21 118:19                  132:15 135:22                  179:5,7 365:20                  396:9  <b>balanced</b> 118:17                  130:8 176:3                  207:15  <b>balancing</b> 83:12  <b>balconies</b> 454:4  <b>balcony</b> 429:13  <b>ballot</b> 353:4,5,9                  442:9,9 443:10  <b>Band-Aid</b> 405:5                  406:7  <b>bang</b> 215:8  <b>bank</b> 215:19                  276:6 281:3  <b>banker</b> 122:2  <b>banking</b> 185:10  <b>banks</b> 25:16,22</p>
--	--	--	---	--

26:2 333:8	224:21 225:11	<b>basement</b> 448:9	269:4,17,19	<b>belief</b> 60:5
<b>Barbara</b> 4:5	225:14,18,20	448:10	302:15 305:17	431:18
204:9,12	226:2,6,8,12	<b>basic</b> 10:15 16:3	312:1 316:14	<b>believe</b> 17:1 20:7
<b>Barclay</b> 6:10	226:15,19	16:16 17:2	319:9 386:20	47:6 54:4
393:5,6 397:6	227:1,11,13,16	149:4 155:2,13	391:2,5,7,9	59:17 60:1
397:13	228:1,4,11,16	182:10 296:10	398:9,10,11	61:15 62:19
<b>barely</b> 225:7	228:18 229:1,5	390:3	412:1,2 414:3	64:15 76:1,12
400:14 449:8	229:9,15,21	<b>basically</b> 74:13	445:14	76:18 94:1
<b>barest</b> 219:17	230:1,3,10	157:2 301:5	<b>bedrooms</b> 163:5	100:19 101:9
<b>barn</b> 21:14	231:16,21	307:13 311:2	227:5,6,9,20	102:6 127:20
<b>Barry</b> 2:14	232:16,22	343:20 435:10	227:20 228:7	130:7 147:18
11:18 17:16	233:3,10	<b>basis</b> 41:22	228:10,12,13	147:20 164:3
19:15 127:4,7	234:10,14,19	70:12,16	228:14 229:17	165:19 179:10
132:3,7 133:6	234:22 235:2,6	107:11 133:12	233:22 234:6	181:15 195:20
133:9 134:1,7	235:12,15,18	225:3 281:22	234:11,11,12	198:16 202:13
134:16 135:4	235:22 236:12	350:2 436:4	234:13,21	220:12 237:2
135:10,13	237:1,13,20	<b>Basket</b> 302:12	235:19 391:6	332:6 337:18
136:6 137:4,8	243:6,10,19	<b>Bate</b> 295:8	448:4	340:8,15
137:14 138:4	244:6,12,17,21	<b>bath</b> 345:10	<b>beg</b> 223:9	370:22 372:13
138:22 139:3	246:12 247:5	<b>bathroom</b>	229:20 292:15	381:15 402:19
161:4,5,13	253:5,10,14	448:14,14	360:13 396:22	406:12
163:14 164:15	<b>base</b> 19:17 97:22	<b>battered</b> 50:18	<b>began</b> 342:3	<b>bemoan</b> 131:19
165:12,16	97:22 98:13,14	<b>batteries</b> 390:5	<b>beginning</b> 288:7	<b>benchmark</b>
166:18 167:3	98:16 99:15	<b>battle</b> 186:4	309:9 312:11	112:13,16
167:10,14	112:13,16	284:17 336:16	446:21	<b>beneficial</b> 92:3
168:11 194:21	113:18,19	<b>bear</b> 57:22 79:3	<b>begs</b> 35:8	<b>benefit</b> 37:20
194:22 195:14	125:19 145:11	317:22 320:8	<b>begun</b> 322:3	117:1 271:9,20
195:17,22	147:14 148:16	325:9 373:18	394:21	298:9 301:10
196:14,18,22	155:7 241:20	404:11	<b>behalf</b> 16:13	368:13 370:11
197:4,6,10,16	252:12 372:4	<b>bears</b> 214:21	17:3 31:19	395:21 396:3
197:19,22	373:1 396:12	<b>beautiful</b> 222:13	53:5 75:11	396:10 404:5,8
198:4,13,16	434:8	290:12 444:10	164:20,21	406:8 413:7
199:6,12,21	<b>based</b> 37:6	445:4,10 454:6	172:6,14	459:3
200:5,9,11,17	50:22 72:7	<b>becoming</b> 46:2	173:13 206:1	<b>benefiting</b>
200:21 201:2,7	73:19 74:7,14	127:21 129:7	206:22 247:9	339:12 378:16
201:10,14,18	78:13,16 80:21	377:10 440:1	247:13 248:2,5	423:17 430:6
201:20 202:1,3	106:13 108:22	<b>bed</b> 213:4	248:7 293:13	434:19
202:10,15,21	145:11,13,15	389:13 407:11	327:4 328:9,12	<b>benefits</b> 48:8
203:6,17,20	145:16 208:2	407:17	397:13 402:15	157:2 160:5
219:18 221:17	250:10 254:19	<b>bedroom</b> 106:20	426:12	162:4 174:9,20
221:18 222:3,6	264:21 280:18	216:18 217:1	<b>behave</b> 251:12	333:7 335:9,12
222:11,16,19	287:1 302:2	228:2,21 230:2	434:20	386:17
223:1,9,11,17	322:12 367:12	233:20,21	<b>behavior</b> 250:18	<b>Benny</b> 153:13
223:20 224:8	369:1 403:12	234:6,7,7	445:6	<b>Benoit</b> 5:4 277:1
224:12,15,19	414:19 431:4	257:16 268:18	<b>beige</b> 445:6	278:10
			<b>beings</b> 446:7	

<b>Ben's</b> 222:21	13:19 14:7,9	<b>bills</b> 7:8,14 9:9	<b>blame</b> 251:14	299:5 308:12
<b>Berger</b> 6:17	15:16,18,22	11:10 17:7	<b>blank</b> 387:15	333:9
424:20 425:7,8	16:2,4,14,15	19:21 56:6	<b>blanket</b> 304:2	<b>booklets</b> 284:22
426:3 432:7,9	17:13,15,18	57:7 59:14	<b>blatantly</b> 445:17	<b>books</b> 182:11,13
<b>beseached</b> 215:1	18:8,14,17,19	64:22 65:12	<b>blighted</b> 332:22	184:5 206:20
<b>best</b> 18:6 23:8	18:21 19:1,5	66:9 67:2,5,10	<b>blind</b> 208:13	308:11 324:20
30:18 295:13	19:10,10,12,16	90:4 114:12	335:2	<b>boom</b> 456:9
303:1 311:22	21:6 51:18	120:4 123:2	<b>block</b> 109:1	<b>Borga</b> 236:3
332:17 337:19	59:17 60:10	126:21 142:8	115:13 219:7	<b>Borger</b> 4:11,11
356:15 387:19	61:10 62:3	147:13 151:6	446:21	223:3,3,7,10
387:22 415:3	66:6 69:17,18	174:1,18 179:9	<b>blocks</b> 115:15	223:15,19,22
431:22 456:22	70:9,19,22	217:13,14	218:18 408:2	224:1,1,10,13
<b>bet</b> 130:18 202:4	92:19 117:18	248:17 253:7	<b>blood</b> 407:17	224:16,20,22
250:1 327:10	119:1,1,2,8	260:13 265:11	<b>blow</b> 296:17	225:13,16,19
404:6	126:20 130:9	265:12 279:10	<b>blunt</b> 214:20	225:22 226:4,7
<b>better</b> 18:8,10	141:5 146:16	284:9,19 285:7	<b>board</b> 4:7,8 5:8	226:10,14,17
25:12 29:2	147:1,6 148:1	294:2 298:10	56:2 119:4	226:21 231:10
40:11,13,17	148:1 149:1,10	298:11 324:13	204:9,11,13,14	231:13,22
60:22 72:4	153:17,21	340:4 356:8,11	205:3,4,6,13	232:3,21 233:8
105:8 137:4	154:19 162:10	358:12 372:10	209:22 212:14	236:4,20
143:4 145:13	163:7 175:8,9	395:22 414:17	230:13 281:13	237:12,18
181:19 217:10	177:20 178:5,6	414:17,18	288:15 293:13	240:3,7,9,10
279:17 295:15	178:7,12,21	417:9,9 420:3	301:13 362:1	240:16,19
299:2,22	188:21 189:2	420:3 421:15	367:10 383:14	241:6,7,12,18
361:21 379:4	192:19 194:9	422:10,12	426:16 440:3	241:21 243:5
414:12 415:4	195:6 250:20	427:12,15	<b>boards</b> 16:7	243:17,20
419:21,22	251:4,18 256:3	431:15 433:9	<b>body</b> 87:1 90:3,5	244:6,10,14,20
435:3 437:15	280:9 281:5	433:11 437:2	209:2 215:1	245:4,16 246:3
460:5	283:4,15 285:3	<b>bit</b> 110:6 111:11	249:14	246:10
<b>Betty</b> 3:10	285:12 286:1	126:12 132:8	<b>boiler</b> 313:2	<b>born</b> 184:13
139:15	286:14 289:19	144:5 158:16	<b>Bojan</b> 6:3	<b>borne</b> 78:11
<b>beyond</b> 122:13	357:6,8 364:19	168:9 171:3	291:17,17	<b>borrow</b> 25:17
249:20 251:9	365:10 366:13	172:1 248:22	354:4,8,9,10	144:15 399:7
363:4	367:14,15,18	275:15 301:20	354:11 355:9	400:13 429:14
<b>biannual</b> 310:6	368:12 369:13	304:20 305:2	<b>bold</b> 129:11	429:21 442:15
<b>big</b> 47:17 121:3	369:18,19,22	313:15	142:8	442:16 443:16
157:20 202:15	370:2,9,21	<b>bitter</b> 11:1	<b>bombing</b> 300:14	<b>borrower</b>
203:15 213:4	396:1,7,11	<b>black</b> 96:2	<b>bona</b> 272:12	122:13
289:5 446:16	399:10 400:17	308:20 333:1	<b>bond</b> 198:7	<b>borrowing</b> 122:7
447:6	421:19 427:13	442:18 446:19	306:8,9,12	<b>bother</b> 52:6
<b>bigger</b> 421:22	429:18 434:21	<b>Bladen</b> 5:22	<b>bonding</b> 306:17	260:3
423:1	439:15	327:1,18	<b>bonds</b> 253:8	<b>bottom</b> 215:19
<b>biggest</b> 27:16	<b>billable</b> 439:12	340:21 344:17	<b>bonus</b> 370:14	227:12,19
412:22	<b>billion</b> 215:10	345:3 346:5	<b>book</b> 207:9	259:20 260:16
<b>bill</b> 11:11,12,16	262:9,10,16	384:4	222:7,11 299:4	260:22 261:4

261:11 262:9 262:15 407:16 <b>bought</b> 177:10 259:11 <b>bouncing</b> 66:7 <b>boundary</b> 261:7 <b>bounty</b> 396:13 <b>Bowl</b> 222:22 <b>boxed</b> 315:12 <b>boys</b> 213:4 <b>brace</b> 377:19 450:18 <b>branch</b> 198:18 <b>Brandywine</b> 3:12 139:17 140:12 158:17 <b>Brazil</b> 444:5 <b>Bread</b> 424:19 <b>break</b> 460:18 <b>breakdown</b> 237:6 374:6 <b>breaking</b> 82:10 215:18 329:10 <b>bribery</b> 307:9 <b>brief</b> 10:7 278:9 390:21 391:1 392:2 395:22 <b>briefing</b> 86:22 87:1 308:11,12 <b>briefly</b> 11:10 88:3 233:9 367:8 <b>bright</b> 311:17 312:10 <b>bring</b> 24:1 99:3 113:17 180:22 229:6 254:12 266:2 267:1 280:15 305:8 391:5 397:8 409:15 436:1 449:5,14 <b>bringing</b> 26:5 92:9 285:2 430:10	<b>broad</b> 154:14 420:5,5 <b>broader</b> 39:4 <b>broke</b> 444:7 <b>broken</b> 183:15 447:9 <b>Brookings</b> 5:4 277:1,20 278:1 278:9,10,14 279:4 283:2 300:12 <b>Brother</b> 204:15 204:17,18 209:11,13 218:2 <b>Brothers</b> 392:12 <b>brought</b> 20:15 90:11,12 259:15 272:10 297:11 300:8 305:13 342:5 <b>Brown</b> 2:12 6:20 11:18 15:21 17:15 19:3,15 65:22 66:1,2,4 67:16 76:3 89:7,9 91:6,10 92:18 93:15,18 94:3,8,22 95:4 95:8,15 97:2 121:7 455:12 455:12,14 457:3,7 458:22 459:11,15,20 460:8 <b>Browns</b> 459:22 460:3 <b>Brown's</b> 460:2 <b>brush</b> 420:5,5 <b>buck</b> 217:9 364:2 <b>budget</b> 9:16 100:20 101:13 166:1 168:7 <b>bug</b> 407:11	<b>bugs</b> 407:17 <b>build</b> 208:15 274:20,22 275:10 293:17 435:9 457:12 457:14 <b>building</b> 1:20 3:19 6:13 7:6 11:5 12:10,14 12:21 16:5,21 25:16 28:2 38:7 68:15,15 68:16 71:20 73:2 78:14,17 79:2,5 80:3,6 82:11 88:8,9 121:21,21 123:4 124:3 126:3 143:16 143:19 147:8 152:10,12,15 153:3,18 158:22 159:3,9 170:18,20 172:6 173:14 177:7,11 178:19 182:12 184:22 185:14 190:7,13 192:1 193:22 195:5 200:2,2 203:4 218:21 222:9 225:8 226:12 226:22 230:15 236:7 238:18 245:17 255:18 263:20 264:18 265:4,5,13,14 265:21 266:5,6 266:14,15,16 266:19,20 268:13 274:22 275:1 279:20 285:11,15 289:17,18	290:12 297:6 297:16 300:21 300:22 301:6 302:10,22 304:5 308:4,17 309:18 310:16 310:22 311:6 316:10,19 319:6,7 328:15 329:21 330:7 331:6 334:13 341:17,20 342:2 343:5 344:20 346:7 358:22 359:13 359:18,20 365:21 366:4 369:8 374:15 381:5,13 382:22,22 383:3,3 384:6 387:6,17 389:6 391:4,15 393:9 395:3 398:4,6 398:8,13 399:4 399:12 400:12 402:4,10,22 407:8,19,20 408:1,9,20 409:8,12 411:19 413:5 414:7 423:19 423:19,21 427:9,16 428:13,20 429:3 430:18 432:3 436:1 437:14,17,21 438:6,10,13,17 439:14,17,22 440:15 441:2,7 441:15 444:22 445:3 448:1,20 449:2,11,18,22 450:5,8 451:2	451:3 453:15 453:16,19,22 454:5,8,21 455:1,21 456:8 456:12,14,17 456:18 457:11 458:9,16 459:6 459:10 460:4,6 <b>buildings</b> 13:7 15:9 21:16 23:7,13,15,15 23:16,18 25:14 28:3 38:9 68:17,18 73:12 89:13 104:21 111:21 120:9 120:12 124:19 125:7,9 129:15 130:2 135:18 175:13,15 176:11,13 177:5 178:2 190:2 207:21 216:7,13 220:5 220:6,21,22 224:5,8 236:11 236:21 254:2 260:22 261:4 261:17 264:4 265:21,22 266:11,21 270:11 275:1 290:2 294:8,11 294:15,17 295:11,20 296:7,10,13,17 297:4,19 298:3 300:20 301:2 303:5 319:13 321:15 322:1,8 323:1,8,12,16 324:4,17,18 331:19 333:19 345:1 346:14 350:22 351:5
--	---	--	---	--

364:5,7,8,22	162:7 182:1	<b>calculate</b> 21:1	237:11	240:20 241:3
365:4 366:2,9	184:10,10	134:14 155:1	<b>camera</b> 171:20	241:17,22
366:18,19	191:18 198:14	<b>calculated</b> 9:9	209:17	242:15 247:10
371:4,12	333:4 387:16	78:17	<b>cameras</b> 366:3	250:7 265:2
372:20 373:11	405:10 414:15	<b>calculates</b> 34:19	<b>campaign</b> 210:1	287:2,8 289:9
377:9 378:8,9	447:7	<b>calculating</b>	<b>Campbell</b> 6:6	302:20 321:14
379:1,2,21	<b>businesses</b> 89:12	133:12	292:1 352:17	321:19 322:5
394:6,7 395:14	89:12 95:11	<b>calculation</b> 1:9	352:17 353:13	322:10 324:7,8
401:11,17	176:20	17:14 57:13	354:16 355:15	325:1 326:3
409:19 411:9	<b>businessmen</b>	59:8 61:22	<b>campus</b> 261:7,9	336:5 347:15
413:16 416:10	82:9	66:13 74:9	261:12 263:6	349:12 351:4,7
418:10 423:14	<b>busted</b> 202:20	155:8 310:1,5	274:8,10,15,16	351:19 363:2
423:16 435:5	<b>buy</b> 53:15 82:14	367:15 368:16	274:20	368:1,6,8
441:10 447:7	185:18 261:14	<b>calculations</b>	<b>Canavan</b> 56:10	386:4,6 427:18
455:20 456:22	280:2 283:3	17:21 256:6	94:12,21 102:1	428:14,15,18
457:9 459:16	295:10 306:19	286:1 309:5	312:5	430:21
<b>building's</b> 176:2	307:3 341:17	369:5	<b>Canavan's</b>	<b>capitalistic</b>
371:17 408:12	401:7 454:19	<b>calendar</b> 102:13	133:20	128:22 131:18
<b>built</b> 29:7 44:20	<b>buyer</b> 151:18	271:13	<b>cancer</b> 127:15	164:11
176:13 210:12	153:4 369:8,9	<b>California</b>	<b>cap</b> 134:4	<b>Capitol</b> 222:12
230:15 254:3	439:18 440:4	214:17	187:13 192:1	297:6,15
254:10 275:13	441:12	<b>call</b> 92:13 138:5	193:9 251:22	389:13 448:22
346:10 364:7	<b>buyers</b> 151:11	164:12 212:7	267:19 287:1,3	<b>capitulation</b>
365:1 371:4	337:21 338:5	223:13 229:15	287:5,10	215:12
455:22 456:19	439:16	230:8 239:13	304:14,16	<b>capped</b> 124:2
457:5,9 459:10	<b>buying</b> 89:13	239:17 246:20	363:1 373:17	192:2,15 370:6
459:17	439:13	308:7 326:12	458:1	429:21
<b>bulletin</b> 16:7	<b>buys</b> 185:15	329:13 356:1	<b>capacity</b> 122:12	<b>capriciously</b>
<b>bunch</b> 184:8	<b>buzzing</b> 445:22	360:14 389:22	167:6 321:11	357:15
191:4	<b>bypasses</b> 246:22	399:16 407:6	<b>capita</b> 39:15	<b>Capris</b> 397:3
<b>burden</b> 33:22	<b>Byzantine</b> 252:6	446:11	<b>capital</b> 15:11	<b>caps</b> 11:14 14:8
107:9 154:20	<b>B.S</b> 167:18	<b>called</b> 10:21	25:17,22 29:11	455:18
266:4 428:20		114:20 123:18	71:18 73:17	<b>capture</b> 37:19
<b>burdened</b> 34:4	<b>C</b>	153:20 222:7	74:11 101:7	85:13
220:16	<b>C</b> 4:11 7:1	259:19 273:20	110:16 117:15	<b>captured</b> 122:10
<b>burdens</b> 33:21	<b>Cabanas</b> 352:22	296:16 311:1	120:10 124:12	450:6
64:5 406:14	392:8,8	326:19 328:5	144:9 158:18	<b>card</b> 161:22
<b>burdensome</b>	<b>cabinet</b> 430:9	333:10 408:21	187:10 189:15	331:3
396:7	<b>cabinets</b> 183:15	442:14	193:18,20	<b>care</b> 146:8
<b>burgundy</b> 201:5	202:18 203:8	<b>calling</b> 29:21	213:16,17	147:10 185:14
<b>business</b> 24:19	236:10	389:22	230:17 232:1,8	185:17 204:7
56:11 89:17	<b>Cafritz</b> 5:15	<b>calls</b> 214:4	232:10,12	239:21 262:5
116:21,21	291:11 292:7	342:18	233:6 238:11	282:20 318:14
121:9 130:2,6	292:19 299:15	<b>Cambridge</b>	238:15,20,21	386:22 443:13
135:3 152:8	299:18 300:5,6	226:13 236:21	239:6 240:17	443:15 445:13

<b>career</b> 360:21 412:9	<b>casino</b> 215:17,18	338:14	328:20 334:2,3	266:12 273:5
<b>careful</b> 25:18 53:21 85:5	<b>Cass</b> 153:13	<b>causing</b> 90:17 124:18,21	357:10,14	385:10 409:20
88:14 124:17	<b>casts</b> 24:15	275:18 422:2	367:15,19	436:5
126:9,19 452:4	<b>cat</b> 443:1	<b>caution</b> 60:16 61:6 99:22	368:15 369:5,7	<b>certainly</b> 21:9
<b>carefully</b> 180:11 334:8 372:20	<b>Catania</b> 2:9 11:21 20:6,8	113:16	370:4 374:12	22:3 23:4 53:6
<b>caring</b> 208:20	20:11 27:2	<b>Cavalier</b> 218:22	380:15 381:21	57:6 58:3 62:1
<b>Carlo</b> 215:19	37:3 47:21,22	<b>caved</b> 328:18	391:10 395:4	63:12 75:12
<b>carpet</b> 200:13,20 200:22 203:13	48:10,15,18,21	<b>CDBIA</b> 392:15	451:10	77:10,10,14
245:19 300:14	49:2 50:1,4,7	<b>cease</b> 16:17	<b>ceilings</b> 12:6 13:17 17:21	79:4 84:13,20
<b>carpeting</b> 152:4 201:19	51:9,13,15	<b>ceiling</b> 1:9 11:4 11:13 12:5,8,9	29:7 60:12,16	85:15 93:12
<b>carried</b> 334:6	52:11,14,17	12:13,17,20,21	61:8 65:14	100:10 103:20
<b>carry</b> 280:22	53:2 54:16	13:2,21 14:3	110:17 114:4,9	107:9 113:10
<b>cars</b> 274:3 369:20	56:16 62:1	17:13,21 18:15	144:20 145:15	113:16 114:2
<b>carve</b> 121:15	63:3 66:20	57:13 60:7	154:2 155:5,7	115:3 118:6,16
<b>case</b> 12:14 31:1 77:6 116:10	69:10 77:21,22	61:21 66:12	190:18 215:16	119:7,10,17
123:18,22	78:4,22 79:5	70:11 73:2	249:19,22	122:14 125:15
169:17 260:7	79:13,17,21	110:19 111:2	250:9 251:8	139:5 140:21
261:10 270:1	80:2,5,8,10,16	113:19 114:17	252:10 258:13	156:12 169:18
284:19 287:8	81:1,4 82:4	114:22 115:20	270:6 281:21	195:1 221:21
309:12 311:10	83:11 84:11	128:4 145:5,12	285:5,8 286:5	222:12 229:8
322:7 334:4	85:5 86:18,20	155:1,3,12	289:8 290:8	311:19 325:14
343:16 344:1	87:9,19 90:12	157:15 187:13	294:16 297:19	370:22 396:15
359:4 364:6	91:15 104:7	188:17,18	304:14 305:1,8	417:14
368:21 381:9	147:17 215:20	193:12 216:21	308:13,16	<b>certainty</b> 178:17
382:11 385:10	<b>Catania's</b> 105:17	217:1,6 234:19	310:4 328:15	<b>certified</b> 287:2
388:13,15	<b>catastrophic</b> 129:16	236:3,17	351:12 367:17	<b>cetera</b> 25:5 43:20,20
414:21 429:6	<b>catch</b> 175:21 317:15 320:15	239:10 250:4,8	380:15 381:2,4	120:10 236:10
431:7 434:1,11	365:15 376:18	250:10 251:21	386:16 416:15	<b>CFO's</b> 91:3
436:5 452:14	<b>catching</b> 376:21	252:13,14	422:13 448:6	<b>Chad</b> 392:12
<b>cases</b> 71:10 72:8 102:7 114:11	<b>category</b> 186:20	256:4,13,21	451:9 452:20	<b>chair</b> 1:3 2:3 4:7 6:6,13 56:16
123:21 126:3	<b>caught</b> 299:3	258:3,4,6,8,9	<b>celebrations</b> 214:15	89:10 93:13
126:15 311:5,6	<b>caulk</b> 449:6	264:8,11	<b>census</b> 8:10 51:11 432:14	96:10 133:2
336:1,6 359:1	<b>cause</b> 203:2 272:20 273:13	279:17 280:6	<b>center</b> 184:13 308:19 332:18	139:21 146:11
368:22 388:16	297:11 301:8	281:22 283:17	346:22	167:6 219:18
391:14 428:16	339:15 395:19	286:1,8,9,12	<b>centers</b> 40:15	221:17 277:5
428:22 436:18	<b>caused</b> 11:9 242:21 247:19	286:19,21	<b>central</b> 398:14	291:9 332:2
<b>cash</b> 121:16	332:17 440:18	289:13 308:21	<b>certain</b> 16:3 50:22 70:2	358:6,6,9
	<b>causes</b> 159:14 250:3,21	308:21 309:4,6	120:11 152:19	367:10 392:14
		309:12 316:13	154:8 156:7	405:8
		316:15 319:5	212:9 222:18	<b>chaired</b> 97:11
		319:11,19,22		<b>chairman</b> 7:2 11:18 15:19
		320:5,7 328:17		19:2 21:5 22:5



23:22 24:10	171:14 172:8	272:14 273:2	351:2,4,7,14	432:5 437:5
25:7,16 26:5	172:11,17,21	273:17 275:14	352:3,16,21	441:19,22
26:13,22 27:1	173:2 179:4,7	275:20 276:11	353:5,8,13,16	442:2,5 447:21
30:3,8,10,14	179:17,22	276:13,16,19	353:19,21	449:12,16
32:2,3,8,11,13	180:2,5,7	277:15,19,22	354:2,4,6,8,10	450:2 451:1,7
36:13 37:2	181:4 186:11	278:2,5,7,12	354:12,21	451:13 452:4
42:3,10 44:22	186:19 187:2	278:22 279:3,6	355:2,5,8,11	453:1,14,18
46:5 47:20,22	189:7 190:4,8	281:11 283:21	355:14,19	454:3,8,15
50:8 54:13	190:13,16,18	287:12 288:9	359:19 360:4,7	455:6 457:2,4
55:5,12 56:5	190:21 191:19	288:12 289:5	360:13,16	458:21 459:14
56:22 57:4	192:10,13	291:1,4,6	361:18 364:16	459:21
65:1,6 67:15	194:2,4,7,14	292:12,15,18	367:5,7 372:11	<b>chairmanship</b>
69:14 70:1,4	194:17,18	292:21 293:1,4	372:17 373:3	20:3
70:18,21 72:3	195:1 202:10	293:10 298:15	374:18 375:2	<b>chairperson</b> 7:3
72:13,17 73:21	204:2,6,11,12	298:19,22	375:13,17	27:5 28:14
74:3,15,22	204:18,21	299:5,7,11,14	376:1,4,5,8,20	173:11 406:3
76:17 77:1,19	205:7,10,12,16	299:19 300:1	377:16,17	432:9
77:22 79:10	205:19,21	303:10,13	379:9,11 380:6	<b>chairs</b> 43:8
85:15 87:18,20	206:3,7,10,11	307:16 311:16	380:21 381:17	171:3,19
88:2,20 89:3,5	206:14 209:8	312:8,14,17,20	381:19 382:2,5	<b>challenge</b> 19:16
97:2,7,10	209:10,12,13	313:5,22 314:9	383:3 384:2	58:12 63:18
103:12,18,21	209:16,19	314:15,18,21	387:8 388:2,5	93:6 148:16
104:2 110:3	212:18 213:11	315:2,19 316:2	388:10 389:4	254:16 359:10
111:9 112:4	213:14 216:17	316:8,11,15,22	390:14,18	396:11
113:20 114:2,6	217:18 218:16	317:6 318:17	391:20 392:2	<b>challenged</b>
114:8 115:5,9	218:20 221:7	319:15,17,21	393:1,4,8,11	62:17 64:18,19
115:17 116:8	221:14,19	320:9,22 321:6	393:13,16,18	<b>challenges</b> 93:8
116:18 117:6	235:16 236:14	322:21 323:17	396:20 397:2,5	93:8 121:5
118:21 120:3,7	237:4,21,22	323:20,22	397:8,11 402:1	249:12
124:16 126:6	238:2 239:17	325:12,20	402:6,9 407:1	<b>challenging</b>
126:20 127:2,8	240:6,8,11	326:11,17	410:2,6,21,22	58:15
129:17 138:7	241:6,8,14,19	327:6,12,17,20	411:6 412:3,8	<b>Chamber</b> 1:19
139:2,15	243:2,6,8	328:2,10 330:4	413:10,13	7:6
140:16 141:16	245:6 246:1,4	330:6,9,17,20	414:5,9,10	<b>chance</b> 136:5,17
141:22 142:16	246:11,20	331:1,5,8,10	415:19 416:1,5	167:19 211:14
142:18 146:6	247:12,16,21	331:12 336:20	417:14 418:1	211:14 213:7
149:7 150:8,12	248:2,5,9,21	337:1,8 339:6	418:21 420:1,7	238:7 353:2
150:19 151:1	253:2,5,9,12	339:22 340:13	420:8,12,15,18	358:16 379:5
154:17 155:15	253:16,19	340:20 344:17	421:11,17	438:11,20
157:9 158:3	254:6,8 258:20	345:11 346:4	422:10,17	439:4,20
159:11 161:2,6	259:2,6 263:1	346:10,14	423:3,11 424:1	<b>change</b> 15:6
164:17 166:19	263:4,8,11	347:1,9 348:5	424:4 425:9,12	126:17 155:4
167:13 168:11	268:8,16 269:7	348:7,9,11	425:15,18,21	255:16 303:19
168:21 169:21	269:10,17	349:6 350:15	426:2,6,10,14	358:13 381:8
170:2,11 171:6	270:5,8,14	350:18,21	426:17,19,21	395:6,10

435:14 441:4 <b>changed</b> 29:13 111:20 313:16 341:15 434:16 441:8 459:6 <b>changes</b> 16:11 97:13 123:1 126:13 142:12 174:2 252:20 284:10 370:11 395:6 441:9 <b>changing</b> 41:5 52:20 <b>Channel</b> 232:18 <b>chaos</b> 158:2 <b>characterize</b> 452:12 <b>charade</b> 217:9 <b>charge</b> 17:22 144:14 193:10 207:21 283:18 286:15 365:21 366:12 370:4 <b>charged</b> 14:8 120:21 145:2 145:13,16 189:1 193:13 251:9 285:5,8 286:17,22 287:4 304:17 305:9 308:22 309:4,7 374:12 381:16 <b>charges</b> 144:12 250:1 252:11 252:12 256:12 279:16 289:8 289:22 342:12 369:2,2 <b>charging</b> 368:14 399:3 <b>Charles</b> 95:20 158:22 159:2 <b>Charter</b> 331:17 <b>chase</b> 306:13	<b>cheap</b> 14:14 69:20 156:9 <b>cheaper</b> 267:5 <b>cheapest</b> 201:7 <b>check</b> 202:13 269:6 321:2 <b>checking</b> 355:7 <b>cheek</b> 317:19 <b>Cheryl</b> 2:19 31:12 36:22 37:4 47:17 48:16 <b>chief</b> 3:5 9:14,19 10:1 18:18,20 19:9 56:9 97:15 101:16 168:15 169:1,2 169:4 170:3 250:3,20 312:3 321:9 <b>children</b> 62:14 152:6 208:12 294:22 432:16 454:22 <b>Chili</b> 222:21 <b>chip</b> 446:20 <b>chipped</b> 390:4 <b>chirping</b> 390:5 <b>chloroformed</b> 214:10 <b>Chocolate</b> 442:14 <b>choice</b> 12:4 176:4 365:22 387:5 <b>choices</b> 37:9 39:1 40:6,13 40:18 53:17 58:14 314:2,3 374:9 <b>choose</b> 75:3 88:11 98:19 410:19,19,20 <b>chooses</b> 431:16 <b>chore</b> 106:6	<b>chose</b> 374:2 410:22 457:19 <b>chosen</b> 99:14 313:18 410:17 <b>Chris</b> 4:8 204:13 204:15,18 <b>churn</b> 250:17 251:12 <b>churning</b> 251:19 318:20 <b>Circle</b> 225:17 294:18 427:10 <b>circulate</b> 31:17 <b>circumstance</b> 91:21 121:14 <b>circumstances</b> 118:12 152:19 154:8 193:8 345:2 <b>cite</b> 7:22 333:13 <b>cited</b> 118:11 207:8 329:4,22 <b>cities</b> 332:18 <b>citizen</b> 211:22 442:13 <b>citizenry</b> 208:2 <b>citizens</b> 207:2,4 208:11,16,17 209:3,4 216:9 261:13 262:4 262:19,19 267:9,9 298:9 433:7 <b>city</b> 23:2 28:8 37:17,19 41:22 42:18 53:13 64:6 75:18 99:13 106:9 107:4 108:16 109:14 124:19 125:11 126:10 127:21,21 130:15 132:18 132:18,19 138:9 142:15	152:1 161:7 162:4 163:22 164:1 185:7 206:18 207:16 208:9,20 209:1 210:5,5,10 211:11 213:18 215:16 216:1,4 216:6 254:13 259:11 267:14 267:16,22 271:8,10,11,15 271:17,18 272:13,20 281:14,18 282:9 294:10 294:19 296:21 297:3,14 300:7 300:11,14 303:21 306:13 322:5 332:9 333:5 369:9 399:1 400:6,7 400:9 403:8,18 403:21 405:20 406:20 407:13 412:17 423:2 424:20 432:1 442:14,19 455:18 457:14 <b>city's</b> 41:3,15 174:12 177:2 178:13 208:16 298:13 335:3 366:17 <b>civil</b> 16:17 216:15 342:5 342:13 343:16 344:1 345:18 <b>claim</b> 178:3,16 436:1 <b>claiming</b> 34:2 <b>claims</b> 178:22 436:18 <b>clarification</b>	59:19 94:16 168:12 <b>clarifications</b> 192:7 <b>clarify</b> 169:6,15 238:9 321:21 <b>Clark</b> 341:6,6 <b>class</b> 200:21 216:7,11 279:15 300:14 301:6,7,17 <b>classes</b> 358:16 <b>classic</b> 333:3 <b>classroom</b> 275:2 356:3 <b>clause</b> 178:8 <b>Clayben</b> 3:13 30:15 150:13 150:14,17,22 151:3 154:17 154:19 157:10 157:14 158:14 166:9 392:16 <b>clean</b> 99:3 265:4 408:13 <b>cleaning</b> 430:9 <b>clear</b> 7:16 14:18 21:9 59:8 61:13,18 66:10 78:5 81:21 89:10 110:8 111:22 134:15 135:6 146:2 150:1 208:7 245:12 249:13 256:5 279:7 306:11 353:10 353:21 <b>clearances</b> 347:3 352:8 <b>clearing</b> 249:20 <b>clearly</b> 58:1 59:7 59:16 60:11 61:10,15 66:8 66:21 68:8
---	--	---	--	---

90:6 107:20	252:6 294:15	88:7 91:8	238:10 239:13	418:10 419:16
112:21 113:6	295:1 357:19	95:18 96:20	240:14 246:7	438:16 447:12
122:3 123:12	389:15 407:6	108:5 114:15	246:21 256:8	448:11 458:19
132:14 137:1	408:7 436:16	116:20 120:1	265:7,15,16	459:2
178:4,5 285:13	436:18,19,22	125:3 128:3	268:21 277:2,4	<b>command</b> 110:9
316:16 334:18	<b>coerced</b> 310:22	162:11 246:15	277:8 281:15	285:20
436:21	<b>Cohen</b> 213:17	246:16 247:13	283:22 291:12	<b>commend</b> 28:14
<b>Cleveland</b> 5:17	221:10 267:2	248:18 249:8	291:16 292:3	59:13 127:10
292:2 293:5	268:6 360:2	253:19 254:1	294:2 304:12	141:12 339:6
307:21 380:10	<b>coincide</b> 240:22	257:16 258:11	305:21 310:11	<b>commendable</b>
382:9,10	<b>collapsed</b> 294:16	259:9 261:2,15	326:18,20	231:19
<b>clients</b> 293:13	<b>collapsing</b>	267:3 268:14	327:1,2 329:3	<b>commended</b>
<b>Clipper</b> 6:14	328:15	274:1,7 279:12	329:5,7,13,14	232:16 233:3
392:18,19	<b>collateral</b> 123:8	284:12 293:16	334:7 336:21	<b>commensurate</b>
393:13,15,17	<b>collateralizing</b>	294:18 298:10	343:17 347:22	150:9
393:20 407:3,4	123:14	356:15,22	352:1,16,21	<b>comment</b> 55:17
410:3,5 412:2	<b>colleague</b> 219:18	372:15 387:13	354:12 360:1	156:10 159:7
<b>clock</b> 67:17	<b>colleagues</b> 31:7	402:14 432:11	384:12 389:11	233:8 240:5
141:2 142:1	31:18 177:22	432:13,15,17	392:16 400:2	262:21 303:18
279:2	194:18 278:18	435:5 437:4	409:3 411:15	395:22 439:15
<b>clocks</b> 446:1	<b>collect</b> 51:14	438:21	414:22 417:12	451:18
<b>close</b> 32:9,10,12	208:14 289:11	<b>columns</b> 309:2	420:2 433:15	<b>commenting</b>
32:14 35:1,8	290:21	<b>combination</b>	441:22 454:15	112:14 240:4
40:9,13,14	<b>collecting</b> 225:6	121:12 433:13	455:8 456:21	<b>comments</b> 46:22
128:19 154:15	<b>collection</b>	<b>come</b> 23:22	460:17,19	55:7,11 164:6
181:1 264:5	149:18	25:11 44:10	<b>comes</b> 50:15	166:7,11 224:2
265:7 310:11	<b>collective</b> 337:21	67:3 77:11	100:6 198:19	225:1 278:21
<b>closed</b> 390:10	445:19	81:11 86:12	220:5 265:7	407:5 409:4
<b>closely</b> 17:8	<b>collectively</b> 63:4	92:8,14 96:3	458:2	418:4 444:7
55:22	207:11 277:21	102:8,17 113:2	<b>comfort</b> 49:13	<b>commercial</b>
<b>closer</b> 85:19	<b>college</b> 184:15	117:2 118:7	<b>comfortable</b>	337:4 402:13
176:1 232:6	<b>color</b> 201:5	123:9 131:11	28:18 133:16	<b>commercials</b>
236:6 254:7	<b>colors</b> 311:17	132:12,14,22	230:19	182:5
365:17 397:9	312:10,14	133:22 135:20	<b>comfy</b> 418:13	<b>commission</b> 39:9
<b>closing</b> 64:13	<b>Columbia</b> 1:1	135:21 136:3	<b>coming</b> 29:22	44:15 261:2
148:21 390:21	3:3 4:20,22	138:18 139:20	43:16 92:6	283:9 332:3
<b>clothing</b> 208:14	7:18 8:2,7,12	139:22 149:14	103:10 118:17	355:2 373:6
<b>clue</b> 403:22	9:11,19 10:9	159:4 170:22	123:13 133:14	<b>commissioner</b>
410:15	12:7 22:13	171:1 173:4	154:15 164:14	4:22 6:2
<b>Coalition</b> 5:16	27:11,17 28:21	184:9 186:1	187:19 195:1	247:17,20
291:15 293:2	29:10 32:17	191:16 194:14	196:5 198:22	248:13 259:6,8
303:12	37:22 38:15	203:3,5,19	210:8 215:4	259:9 262:16
<b>code</b> 153:3	43:5,17 44:1	211:22 213:5	268:1 296:13	263:2,5,10
200:5 201:15	44:17 45:14	216:8 217:7	303:17 317:21	270:21 273:19
202:21 203:1,5	58:6,11 72:6	230:12 231:1	366:20 414:16	273:20 275:12

275:16,20	358:6 377:18	409:19	433:13 434:9,9	269:22 328:19
276:3,12,15,17	402:7,10	<b>company</b> 5:15	434:11	333:21 334:1
291:9,10,13,13	404:20 405:8	152:12 243:11	<b>comparables</b>	349:2 403:2
352:18,20,22	405:18 406:3	291:11 292:19	257:15 349:16	<b>complexities</b>
353:10,12	406:11 414:10	299:15,18	<b>comparably</b>	10:6 152:14
354:14,18,19	419:11,12	300:5,6 313:15	11:5	270:22 336:7
355:1,3,7,22	433:8 444:3	341:9 342:6	<b>compared</b>	402:20 406:4
359:21 360:5,9	<b>committee's</b>	361:3 394:5	127:18 318:8	<b>complicated</b>
373:8 374:18	141:12 147:9	408:21 409:10	432:18	81:3 111:10
374:21 375:3	405:2	<b>company's</b>	<b>comparing</b>	161:16 165:2
375:14,15,21	<b>common</b> 16:5	427:11	347:2	175:18 276:14
376:1,2,3,6	59:22 124:5	<b>comparable</b>	<b>compassionate</b>	416:16
380:7 381:12	193:6 323:5	10:22 11:9	211:1	<b>complicating</b>
381:18,20	371:13	12:9,13,21	<b>compelled</b> 452:7	335:13
382:3,5 384:13	<b>commonly</b>	13:2,10 71:1,2	<b>compensatable</b>	<b>complied</b> 257:5
390:21 391:1	249:19	71:4 72:21,22	266:1	285:6
391:21,22	<b>communicate</b>	73:1 75:3,8	<b>compensate</b>	<b>comply</b> 18:14
<b>commissioners</b>	390:6,7	111:17 112:9	266:7	177:8
358:11	<b>communicatio...</b>	117:22 118:2	<b>compensated</b>	<b>component</b>
<b>Commission's</b>	371:18	128:20 132:9	76:15	108:21,22
261:9	<b>communities</b>	134:8 136:2,4	<b>competing</b>	109:2,3,4,6
<b>commitment</b>	2:20 31:14	136:11 144:18	317:20	162:21,22
39:15 40:3	37:1,6,7	156:1 175:20	<b>competition</b>	185:5
138:20 405:19	293:18 340:10	192:18 193:15	318:2	<b>components</b>
<b>committed</b> 9:16	364:21 366:18	193:16 194:5	<b>complained</b>	185:9,10
67:22 68:1	435:9	215:15 217:4	444:2	<b>composed</b> 414:1
93:14	<b>community</b> 4:13	236:16 250:2	<b>complaining</b>	<b>composition</b>
<b>committee</b> 1:2	4:15 23:6	250:21 251:3	329:11	106:19
7:3,9 9:12 20:4	59:21 86:1	257:17,21	<b>complaint</b> 99:9	<b>compositions</b>
20:9 27:6	133:21 135:3	264:1 266:3	364:11	91:17,22
29:16 31:9	184:16 223:4,5	268:17 269:4	<b>complete</b> 101:2	106:18
32:4 55:3	224:3 227:3	269:18 286:7	207:10 216:15	<b>compounded</b>
56:17 66:3,5	233:12 260:22	298:3 305:17	231:18 235:10	334:1
85:15 87:21,21	276:18 280:12	311:10,22,22	263:1 283:21	<b>comprehensive</b>
89:8,11 93:14	293:21 298:4	317:10,13	326:1 330:15	7:15 19:22
95:5 97:5,12	299:8 318:16	319:1,8,9,10	336:20 402:2	39:9 40:7,11
103:13,19	333:1 341:10	320:12,14	428:17	41:1 42:16
105:13 127:8	360:22 361:1	321:3 349:20	<b>completed</b>	43:7 44:14
142:21,22	367:11 424:15	357:16 359:11	100:22 240:16	45:17 55:8
146:15 148:9	458:5	361:14 362:10	348:17	89:10 337:16
173:12 238:4	<b>comp</b> 250:22	365:14 375:10	<b>completely</b> 51:1	339:3,5,9,10
252:8,20	<b>compactors</b>	375:12 383:16	383:21 450:21	339:14 345:6
253:22 279:11	366:4	391:2,12,22	<b>completes</b> 327:3	406:6,16 419:4
290:19 305:21	<b>companies</b>	392:1 399:11	<b>complex</b> 9:5	<b>comprise</b> 337:5
338:5 352:3	95:16 117:2	431:2,13	178:13 224:10	<b>comprised</b> 254:3

402:12 <b>compromise</b> 62:5 113:5 417:12 <b>compromised</b> 61:1 <b>comps</b> 250:7 <b>computers</b> 220:7 <b>conceivable</b> 299:1 <b>concentrate</b> 224:7,22 300:10 <b>concentrated</b> 450:11 <b>concept</b> 69:15 101:9 357:10 414:12 <b>concepts</b> 17:22 105:19,20 107:16,16 403:6 421:11 <b>concern</b> 51:17 52:1,19 161:3 208:20 209:5 230:12,20 236:4 325:13 384:15 388:4,6 407:5 449:3 <b>concerned</b> 21:5 41:16 53:12 96:1 231:2 271:6,19 298:8 367:12 388:10 395:21 419:6 422:19 <b>concerning</b> 453:6 <b>concerns</b> 81:20 92:21 100:1 103:7 161:1 162:17,17 179:16 181:22 208:4 339:18 339:19 340:14	372:8 427:12 440:7 <b>concerted</b> 17:3 <b>concise</b> 61:19 341:3 <b>conclude</b> 63:15 107:15 213:10 390:12 425:2 427:1 460:10 <b>concluded</b> 104:9 105:5 174:8 309:11 336:8 460:21 <b>concludes</b> 64:20 <b>concluding</b> 213:1 <b>conclusion</b> 63:10 208:22 339:22 383:17 383:19 <b>conclusions</b> 383:15 <b>concrete</b> 264:3 419:4,9 <b>concur</b> 166:7 <b>condition</b> 51:1 121:17 <b>conditioning</b> 398:15 <b>conditions</b> 62:14 163:6 177:20 203:11 295:15 295:20 336:5 441:16 <b>condo</b> 52:20 68:20 82:12 117:8 163:1 177:13 184:11 218:20 266:17 266:20,22 339:16 377:2 379:2 <b>condominium</b> 61:17 175:1 177:10 178:1	294:14 295:12 366:19 <b>condominiums</b> 38:10 175:15 267:5 <b>condoning</b> 84:21 <b>condos</b> 117:8 252:22 340:5 340:18 388:8 <b>conducive</b> 81:13 83:13 <b>conduct</b> 7:7 8:22 <b>conducted</b> 106:14 <b>conductors</b> 139:4 <b>Conference</b> 45:18 <b>confidence</b> 96:4 96:4 296:18 <b>confident</b> 283:8 283:9 <b>confidential</b> 152:13 <b>confirm</b> 154:6 <b>confirmed</b> 9:22 168:6 170:4 372:22 <b>confirming</b> 369:6 <b>confused</b> 110:6 <b>confusing</b> 168:15 315:15 <b>confusion</b> 256:9 316:7 <b>congratulate</b> 141:7 213:15 <b>Congress</b> 294:19 <b>congressional</b> 445:8 <b>Connecticut</b> 225:17 303:5 394:12,22 414:6 449:20 <b>connection</b>	258:15 <b>connects</b> 403:15 <b>conscience</b> 445:19 <b>conscientiously</b> 439:1 <b>consecutive</b> 232:10 <b>consent</b> 170:5 <b>consequence</b> 123:6 <b>consequences</b> 160:20 175:19 178:5 332:15 333:3,10,15 335:17 340:4 <b>Consequently</b> 177:5 <b>conservative</b> 250:13 <b>consider</b> 7:13 14:16 40:21 45:15 46:21 113:18 119:7 141:6 154:21 163:9 174:16 252:9 272:16 281:5 307:8 384:10 433:5 457:8 <b>considerable</b> 199:17 270:2 321:17 <b>considerably</b> 123:22 316:4 362:6 365:10 <b>consideration</b> 108:12 141:12 156:11 204:7 208:5 273:10 <b>considerations</b> 15:11 <b>considered</b> 39:8 44:14 80:14 159:21 160:4	208:6 284:9 287:3 361:4 404:14 457:10 <b>considering</b> 44:5 47:2 50:2 78:17 429:9 <b>considers</b> 207:18 289:12 <b>consist</b> 227:7,21 231:3 <b>consisted</b> 181:8 <b>consistent</b> 154:16 <b>consists</b> 104:21 <b>conspicuous</b> 153:10 442:17 443:19 <b>constant</b> 328:14 <b>constantly</b> 207:12 329:6 449:8 <b>constituency</b> 373:15 404:9 <b>constituents</b> 27:21 131:8 373:12 <b>constitutes</b> 120:14,16 122:17 <b>Constitution</b> 178:8 <b>constitutional</b> 178:10 371:8 435:18 <b>constrain</b> 252:1 <b>constraints</b> 255:6 <b>constructed</b> 45:3 333:2 346:14 427:9 <b>constructing</b> 53:21 <b>construction</b> 45:6 80:5 338:14 395:2
--	--	--	---	---

<b>consulted</b> 17:9	204:4 314:13	84:20 86:6	351:2 356:20	428:12 429:5
<b>consumer</b> 1:2	<b>continuous</b>	98:2 99:6	357:1 361:7	432:4 446:14
3:6 7:3 29:16	106:15	100:9 104:12	364:19 367:16	<b>controls</b> 14:9
56:9,17 57:16	<b>continuously</b>	104:15,18	367:21 369:9	60:4 456:22
85:15 101:20	329:20 394:8	105:1 108:8	369:22 372:19	<b>convene</b> 84:16
142:20 168:16	<b>contract</b> 242:11	109:12 112:2	378:7,12,13,15	<b>convened</b> 43:11
169:8 278:16	243:22 244:1	125:3,20	379:17 383:14	<b>convening</b> 16:9
305:21 342:7	306:5,8,11,16	127:20 129:13	383:18,20,22	81:10
358:6 402:7	395:3,7 439:19	130:9 142:10	384:5,9 395:12	<b>conversation</b>
<b>consumers</b>	440:6	142:12 152:16	397:17,19,20	8:21 25:9
59:11 283:13	<b>contractors</b> 25:4	153:1 157:2,4	401:17 402:17	36:15 53:13
293:18	<b>contracts</b> 153:10	158:13 159:9	403:2,8,10,13	81:13 177:14
<b>contact</b> 103:3,4	<b>contradictory</b>	164:2 174:4,7	403:17,20	<b>conversations</b>
297:4 328:14	333:21	174:7,9,10,11	404:3,6,22	36:18
<b>contacted</b> 43:8	<b>contrary</b> 238:19	174:13,19	405:7,12,21	<b>conversion</b>
186:7	387:6	175:8,18	406:18 411:10	68:20 82:12
<b>contemplated</b>	<b>contrast</b> 407:12	176:14 178:6	412:22 415:16	175:1,14 178:1
245:15	<b>contribute</b> 56:2	183:8 190:19	415:18 416:7	294:14 295:13
<b>contemplating</b>	<b>contribution</b>	207:3,17 209:2	416:13,16,18	306:20 307:10
335:18	141:4,11,13	209:6 211:19	416:19 419:2,5	<b>conversions</b>
<b>context</b> 7:14	392:3,4	212:4 214:7,12	420:14,19	52:20 105:10
39:3,4 63:17	<b>control</b> 1:7,13	214:15 216:19	422:3,4 423:10	163:1
83:21 147:17	5:16 7:12 8:5	216:20,22	423:14,16,21	<b>convert</b> 61:17
163:3 224:6	8:14 9:1,2 10:7	217:2,8 248:20	424:7 427:12	252:22
<b>continue</b> 58:15	10:11,12,14	249:21 252:5	427:14 428:13	<b>converted</b> 38:4,9
58:16 81:17	11:8,11 12:3	252:21 260:18	429:4 430:6,22	366:19
83:14 84:7	13:15,16,20	260:21 261:17	431:11,15	<b>converters</b>
85:18 96:11,15	14:17 17:20	261:21 267:11	432:10 433:5,9	177:11
102:5 119:17	18:10 19:11	267:13,15	433:14 434:7	<b>convoluted</b> 9:6
139:9 140:17	20:1 21:16	271:9,21	434:18 447:6	<b>cool</b> 204:1
142:13 209:3	22:7,8,17	280:17,17,18	451:1,3 455:20	<b>cooperative</b>
252:2 290:13	23:14 27:9	281:5 284:4,13	455:21 456:18	336:10
295:14 297:2	28:6,19,21	286:10 288:14	457:6,10 459:3	<b>coops</b> 252:22
301:19 358:3	30:20 39:4	291:15 293:2	459:7,16,18	<b>coordinating</b>
368:13 374:2	41:10 43:3,4,6	297:1,18	460:6	440:9
378:22 392:5	43:21 44:6	300:11,15	<b>controlled</b> 21:12	<b>cop</b> 412:17
417:13 421:13	45:10,20 46:21	303:12 308:13	21:18,22 22:10	<b>copies</b> 444:8
438:12	47:13,16 48:13	333:14 334:5,6	45:7 48:3 49:9	<b>copy</b> 262:7,7
<b>continued</b> 83:12	51:18 55:7	335:7 337:18	51:5,7,10	333:12 334:8
207:19 264:11	57:9,12 58:21	338:12,15,20	158:10 175:6	356:7
315:6 408:10	59:22 65:19	339:8,10,12,13	207:14 216:10	<b>corporation</b>
<b>continues</b> 38:1	66:11,14 67:20	340:11 343:16	267:17 271:7	4:12 5:20 6:3,9
58:12 132:18	67:22 68:3,10	344:20 345:1	297:3 298:3	223:3 291:18
207:17	68:11 69:16	346:8,15 347:2	343:4 415:11	306:7,14
<b>continuing</b>	81:22 83:1	349:21 350:5	427:8,16,22	327:10 331:14

361:1 392:11	232:9 238:15	232:1	<b>Councilman</b>	109:10 110:1,3
394:2,4	264:16 265:14	<b>council</b> 1:1,19	142:5 201:17	112:22 114:20
<b>correct</b> 45:19	265:15 284:21	7:5 9:22 10:12	<b>councilmember</b>	120:7 121:7,19
70:20 72:2,7	310:4 325:10	10:17 11:1	1:3 2:4 7:2	122:14,17,20
74:21 79:20	334:15,16	17:6 20:2 28:8	15:19 17:15	122:22 123:17
82:3 90:17	341:18 357:20	39:5,19 42:15	18:22 19:1,12	124:4,6,11,15
91:4,8,9 92:20	385:19 395:17	45:1 55:20	19:13 20:6,7,8	125:14 126:2,6
93:1 95:3,14	405:16 408:2	56:15 59:1	20:9,11,11	127:3,4,4,7
112:3 114:1	429:11 430:11	61:2 62:8	27:3,4 31:8	132:3,7 133:6
117:5 138:2,3	430:15,17,20	63:10 68:1	37:3,3,11 42:4	133:9 134:1,7
138:3 161:10	431:1 456:1	92:4 93:13	42:5,7 47:22	134:16 135:2,4
163:13 173:1	<b>Costello</b> 161:12	96:6 101:8	48:10,15,18,21	135:10,13
180:6 198:10	161:13	106:14 114:6	49:2 50:1,4,7	136:6 137:4,8
198:11 217:13	<b>costing</b> 33:13	118:5 119:22	50:16 51:9,13	137:14 138:4
223:19 226:17	35:19 129:8	120:3 128:11	51:15 52:11,14	138:22 139:3
232:21 247:15	151:20 334:12	128:17 134:20	52:17 53:2	141:15 161:5
261:12 312:22	<b>costly</b> 152:7	146:15 149:13	54:13,14 55:14	161:13 162:2
314:11,17,20	176:14 235:11	153:19 162:3,4	56:16,16 62:1	163:14 164:7
319:20 327:11	242:17 365:1	164:18 165:19	63:3 65:22	165:12,15
434:17	<b>costs</b> 24:18,20	165:22 168:7	66:1,2,4,20	166:3,12,18,21
<b>corrected</b>	25:2,3 34:1,5	170:5 174:4,10	67:16,21 76:3	167:3,3,10,14
280:16 390:13	35:12 36:6	174:15,17	77:22 78:4,22	167:16 175:2
<b>correcting</b> 390:6	73:15 78:19	175:14 176:7	79:5,13,17,21	177:12,22
434:16	79:22 80:1	176:15,22	80:2,5,8,10,16	192:4 194:22
<b>correctly</b> 55:9	88:21 122:5	177:3,6,15	81:1,4 82:4	195:14,17,22
143:11 144:9	152:3,4 176:19	178:9 181:6	83:11 84:11,13	196:14,18,22
144:16,19	176:21 182:9	213:2,4,15,18	84:15 85:5	197:4,6,10,16
268:11 321:5	183:13 191:7	214:2,21	86:18,20 87:9	197:19,22
321:12 354:6	191:11 196:6	229:10 238:6	87:20,22 88:2	198:4,13,16
388:12	196:10 199:19	249:8 262:1	89:6,7,9 90:11	199:6,12,21
<b>corridor</b> 218:17	208:2 225:8	287:20 288:5	91:6,10,14	200:5,9,11,17
<b>corridors</b> 40:14	236:7 251:10	288:16 290:15	92:18 93:13,15	200:21 201:2,7
<b>Cort</b> 2:19 31:12	251:11 264:20	300:19 303:19	93:18 94:3,8	201:10,14,18
36:22 37:2,4	264:22 265:20	303:19 331:16	94:22 95:4,8	201:20 202:1,3
45:10,15 48:7	301:9 333:19	335:1 341:2	95:15 97:1,3,4	202:10,15,21
48:13,14 50:4	361:17 362:8	346:21 357:9	97:5,8,10 98:6	203:6,17,20
50:6 52:17,19	363:10 365:3,6	358:2 366:15	98:15,17,19	221:18 222:6
55:21 56:4	366:10 372:3	393:22 405:18	99:8,18 100:10	222:11,16,19
<b>cost</b> 8:4 33:11,12	385:13 386:10	418:6,10,17	100:14,18	223:1,9,11,17
34:5,9,18 73:5	395:10,12	419:13,17	101:4,22	223:20,22
79:9 120:19	404:11 438:17	427:13 431:16	102:10,14,22	224:8,12,15,19
124:9 125:13	<b>cot</b> 430:7	432:1 433:8	103:5,12,22	224:21 225:11
144:13 152:1,5	<b>couldn't</b> 262:12	443:21 444:9	104:3,4,5,16	225:14,18,20
200:14 201:21	350:1	446:19 455:15	105:2,12	226:2,6,8,12
202:4 203:10	<b>could've</b> 218:20	455:18	107:14 108:1	226:15,19

227:1,11,13,16 228:1,4,11,16 228:18 229:1,5 229:9,15,21 230:1,3,10 231:16,21 232:16,22 233:3,10 234:10,14,19 234:22 235:2,6 235:12,15,18 235:22 236:4 236:12,21 237:1,13,19,20 243:6,10,18,19 244:6,12,17,21 246:10 248:15 253:5,10,14,21 323:16 340:22 354:20 360:1 377:1 381:12 383:12 455:14 456:17 458:7 <b>councilmembers</b> 2:8 11:18,20 11:22 15:20 17:16 19:3,14 119:4,5 140:18 140:20 142:7 143:13 181:21 184:17 247:4 248:16 252:8 287:19,22 288:2,14 304:1 335:21 397:17 398:1 <b>Council's</b> 262:4 <b>counsel</b> 3:18 171:8 <b>Counseling</b> 5:13 291:8 292:10 292:12 293:12 298:16 <b>count</b> 208:22 <b>counted</b> 210:10	<b>counter</b> 436:18 441:11 <b>countering</b> 439:10 <b>counties</b> 417:4 <b>counting</b> 255:11 <b>country</b> 27:12 38:16 129:21 174:4 214:16 267:15 403:10 408:12 412:22 446:6 <b>County</b> 35:2,2 129:6 443:4 <b>couple</b> 8:9 22:6 28:7 75:15 83:19 110:5 133:3,19 237:14 238:10 308:19 385:18 386:17 409:13 422:22 445:6 <b>courageousness</b> 63:11 <b>course</b> 8:15 27:11 71:5 113:21 140:19 141:10 151:6 235:2 238:5 259:17 269:11 272:7 314:4 315:15 359:22 369:15 380:7 400:2 404:19 405:5 415:21 <b>courses</b> 258:18 <b>court</b> 148:3,3 256:16,18 260:6,9 283:10 334:4 344:4,8 439:3 <b>courts</b> 212:21 261:8,16 276:5 282:18 <b>cover</b> 225:7	238:14 264:16 308:12 <b>covered</b> 144:14 241:19 305:12 343:16 407:17 <b>covering</b> 265:8 <b>covers</b> 151:18 202:18 225:7 <b>co-introduced</b> 15:19 19:13 29:14 <b>co-introducer</b> 17:15 66:10 <b>co-introducers</b> 11:17 <b>co-sponsor</b> 66:13,15,16 <b>co-sponsored</b> 15:21 17:17 19:4,15 29:14 44:22 248:17 <b>co-sponsors</b> 11:20 19:1 <b>co-writers</b> 207:10 <b>CPI</b> 145:1,4 157:15,19,21 158:2 182:17 232:13 250:9 286:18 304:21 305:2,3 310:9 363:4 372:5 373:1 385:18 438:1 <b>CPIs</b> 386:17 <b>CPIW</b> 357:21 <b>CPTA</b> 254:15,17 260:6 <b>crack</b> 175:6 <b>cracks</b> 328:20 <b>Craft</b> 4:5 204:9 204:12 205:9 205:11 206:5,6 206:12,15,17 209:8,9 218:2	218:6 222:2 <b>cranking</b> 307:15 <b>crazy</b> 281:21,21 400:16 <b>create</b> 25:20 26:7 47:8 60:17 64:17 67:3 76:2 81:12 82:16 83:16 85:7 88:14 112:13 123:6 215:2 298:13 395:8 396:1 428:6 444:19 <b>created</b> 18:20 45:5 156:9 333:6 395:16 <b>creates</b> 107:9 396:9 404:9 <b>creating</b> 90:1 96:13 <b>creation</b> 9:13 47:5 412:9 <b>creative</b> 64:16 <b>credit</b> 44:4 109:4 122:12 151:11 253:7 287:7 <b>credits</b> 107:13 <b>Creek</b> 130:22 <b>Crestview</b> 233:12 <b>crime</b> 333:4 <b>crimes</b> 332:20 <b>criminal</b> 210:18 289:22 <b>crises</b> 27:16 <b>crisis</b> 35:17 47:17 432:20 <b>crisscrossed</b> 262:12 <b>criteria</b> 22:19 <b>critical</b> 58:5 84:5,10 122:16	122:19,21 127:17 367:22 368:11,18 436:17 437:3 <b>crocodile</b> 215:21 <b>Cropp</b> 11:18 15:19 19:2 45:1 213:3 <b>cross</b> 155:20 <b>crossroads</b> 441:3 <b>Crowder</b> 4:8 204:13,14,15 204:18,20 205:21 206:8 209:11,13,15 209:16,18,20 212:18,20 213:12 218:3 218:15,16,19 222:3,7,14,18 222:21 <b>crown</b> 259:18 <b>crucial</b> 59:9 296:9 <b>culpability</b> 214:22 <b>culture</b> 208:16 <b>cumbersome</b> 51:20 324:21 428:19 <b>cure</b> 47:16 <b>curious</b> 12:6 <b>current</b> 12:2 13:12 20:19 21:20 22:6,22 39:7 68:11 70:13 109:21 114:3 147:6 175:11,13,20 177:17 179:2 187:9 189:20 220:11 242:21 249:18,18 251:18 252:11
--	--	---	--	--



252:12,13,14 260:18 262:8 280:1,16,17 286:15 294:7 297:10 305:9 307:6 308:17 308:21,22 324:11 336:10 341:8 342:6,11 343:15 366:1,6 366:15 367:20 368:16 379:20 384:9 387:8 396:13,15,16 396:17 405:8 428:13 430:6 430:22 431:3,8 431:10 433:5 433:12 434:1,4 <b>currently</b> 9:15 21:11 39:8 48:5 49:9,14 49:16 71:16 189:21 219:9 239:11 280:4 313:19 398:11 429:9 <b>Customarily</b> 432:22 <b>cut</b> 10:5 137:10 143:14 391:20 454:21 <b>cute</b> 259:12 <b>cutoff</b> 429:3 <b>cutting</b> 53:3 <b>CVS</b> 210:8 <b>cycle</b> 232:14	251:19 256:15 333:6 335:2 <b>damages</b> 16:18 19:19 290:18 290:21 371:22 372:2 <b>Damocles</b> 115:21 <b>Danesh</b> 341:8 <b>danger</b> 438:22 <b>dangerous</b> 338:12 <b>dark</b> 115:3 <b>darn</b> 310:11 <b>Darrow</b> 3:22 171:7,10,12 173:13 <b>data</b> 51:11 61:7 83:19 100:8 105:9 106:5,7 106:10 132:13 132:20 133:7,9 134:8,10 135:8 135:9,11,12 136:19,20 137:21 149:18 308:11,18 309:7 311:5,10 432:14 <b>date</b> 94:9 98:17 98:20 112:15 112:19 113:15 <b>dated</b> 312:21 341:22 <b>dates</b> 368:1 <b>daughter</b> 438:14 <b>daunting</b> 190:22 255:10 325:16 428:19 <b>David</b> 2:9 3:11 3:22 139:16 141:21 171:3 173:12 255:8 424:1 <b>day</b> 17:1 67:9	92:15 94:20 116:13 129:6 142:12 148:22 148:22 149:3 263:18 271:12 271:13 274:11 282:14,15 318:11 343:1 356:2 387:16 408:5 421:21 425:21 427:17 427:17 437:21 449:9,13 <b>days</b> 94:10 102:12 122:2 144:7 152:21 169:6 241:11 242:7 243:13 243:21 244:7 244:18 257:13 286:4 326:1 334:5 348:17 418:9 <b>DCBIA</b> 402:11 402:16 <b>DCFPI</b> 32:15,20 36:5 <b>DCRA</b> 8:10,13 8:22 9:14,21 15:10 55:1 95:9,19 97:12 97:16 100:1,6 104:20 132:22 147:16 148:10 160:15 165:4,8 165:8,10,11 167:17 168:1 169:4 214:10 239:13,14 260:7 312:3 315:17 328:14 328:19 329:1,2 329:6,13,15,20 358:21 364:11 369:1 375:8	389:7,9,12 390:7 401:16 401:16 407:18 433:18 449:16 <b>DCRA's</b> 255:9 <b>de</b> 130:22 399:16 <b>dead</b> 82:19 114:4 <b>deaf</b> 165:4 <b>deal</b> 23:16 44:20 160:10 282:16 325:18 338:6 389:12 395:18 411:7 454:11 <b>dealer's</b> 454:20 <b>dealing</b> 115:18 <b>dealt</b> 323:8 418:20 <b>dear</b> 127:9 131:22 <b>debate</b> 96:11 129:13 <b>DEBORAH</b> 6:2 <b>Debra</b> 291:12 <b>debt</b> 121:16 122:7 191:12 225:5 428:7 429:15 <b>decades</b> 11:6 20:2 28:8 37:17 403:6 <b>decay</b> 449:1 <b>December</b> 258:12 <b>decent</b> 76:13 126:1 181:15 182:19 183:22 184:10 203:2 294:22 <b>decide</b> 23:6 53:17 283:10 <b>decided</b> 69:18 128:18 276:5 384:6	<b>decides</b> 153:7 210:21 <b>decision</b> 148:2 241:11,15 242:7 261:9 313:4 325:22 363:16 <b>decisions</b> 107:3 127:11 282:17 283:9 <b>declared</b> 249:8 <b>decline</b> 37:17 85:8 177:21 <b>deco</b> 300:22 <b>decontrol</b> 123:17,18 <b>decontrols</b> 416:14 <b>decreases</b> 60:13 <b>decreasing</b> 339:1 <b>dedicated</b> 38:22 39:14,18 340:6 340:7 412:9 <b>dedication</b> 405:19 <b>deduced</b> 322:11 <b>deductions</b> 91:17 <b>deemed</b> 84:1 143:20 <b>deep</b> 91:16 422:4 <b>defective</b> 374:8 <b>defects</b> 151:18 153:8 <b>defense</b> 260:9 <b>defenses</b> 436:19 <b>defensible</b> 87:10 93:10 <b>defensive</b> 303:20 <b>defer</b> 79:19 141:21 160:15 <b>deferred</b> 120:18 121:20 124:18
<b>D</b>				
<b>D</b> 7:1 <b>dad</b> 121:1 <b>dais</b> 128:8 <b>Dalton</b> 291:21 291:21 <b>damage</b> 202:8				

124:20 244:4	280:5	106:1 107:19	427:15	<b>development</b>
280:12	<b>demographica...</b>	108:15 109:17	<b>destroyed</b>	5:15 39:13
<b>deficiencies</b>	108:5	112:3,21 114:1	276:17	43:16 44:10,16
421:19	<b>demonstrated</b>	114:5,7 115:1	<b>destroying</b>	45:4 46:8
<b>define</b> 32:21	83:8	115:7,14,16	307:4	56:19 95:21
33:12 77:13	<b>demonstration</b>	116:7,17 117:5	<b>destruction</b>	128:14 211:16
157:7 159:19	332:8	118:5 120:2,15	178:18	254:4 293:21
271:2,3 275:21	<b>denied</b> 260:7	122:1,16,19,21	<b>destructive</b>	300:4 341:10
276:1	371:20	123:5 131:22	390:1	360:22 361:1
<b>defines</b> 297:22	<b>Denise</b> 4:13	132:2,5,10	<b>detail</b> 75:13 92:2	412:15
<b>defining</b> 314:13	223:4,17 224:4	133:8,11 134:5	146:8 178:11	<b>device</b> 12:6
<b>definite</b> 132:13	225:9 226:22	134:12,20	<b>detailed</b> 76:11	<b>devil's</b> 51:15
<b>definitely</b> 27:18	227:2	135:6,14,20	94:11	444:17
49:21 52:9	<b>deny</b> 369:17	136:22 137:5	<b>details</b> 113:22	<b>devote</b> 81:4
125:15 182:20	<b>denying</b> 23:2	137:11 138:2	229:10 414:18	148:12
183:20 196:8	<b>department</b> 3:6	138:20 139:1	420:2 421:16	<b>devoted</b> 148:15
229:4 230:9	56:9 57:16	139:14 146:19	<b>detector</b> 390:5	332:14
<b>definition</b> 23:15	293:20 325:3	147:4 331:22	<b>detectors</b> 275:7	<b>de-control</b>
40:11 160:9,17	331:21 342:7	<b>describe</b> 193:1	<b>deteriorate</b>	399:17
271:11	449:13	423:3	175:12	<b>de-populated</b>
<b>definitions</b>	<b>depending</b>	<b>described</b> 192:6	<b>deteriorating</b>	130:21
156:15	194:12 321:8	300:12 325:7	177:19	<b>dialogue</b> 24:2
<b>definitive</b> 76:11	<b>depends</b> 102:7	<b>deserve</b> 360:2	<b>determine</b> 87:11	28:17 54:5
133:1	102:16 113:21	<b>deserves</b> 360:2	122:6 295:12	194:16 358:3
<b>degree</b> 26:1	192:18	<b>deserving</b>	<b>determined</b>	382:19 417:13
413:9	<b>deposit</b> 341:14	333:15	218:22 302:11	<b>didn't</b> 129:16
<b>delayed</b> 120:18	<b>deprive</b> 333:17	<b>design</b> 336:12	<b>determines</b>	<b>died</b> 333:11
288:1	434:7	<b>designed</b> 151:10	44:18 153:7	381:20
<b>delaying</b> 440:17	<b>deprived</b> 436:2	294:4 406:13	<b>determining</b>	<b>difference</b>
<b>deliberately</b>	<b>depriving</b>	<b>designees</b> 358:8	258:18	202:15 271:10
203:8,9 258:3	193:10	<b>designer</b> 445:11	<b>detriment</b> 10:19	276:4 301:8
<b>delighted</b> 20:13	<b>Deputy</b> 3:2,4,5	<b>desirable</b> 40:18	<b>devastating</b>	302:9,17,22
<b>delineated</b> 148:3	56:7,14,15,19	453:18	444:18	<b>different</b> 40:20
<b>delinquent</b>	57:3,5,15 65:1	<b>desire</b> 337:11	<b>develop</b> 121:14	98:17 106:17
208:14	65:10 69:13,22	340:8	125:18 185:2	107:11 108:4
<b>deliver</b> 409:22	70:3,8,14,20	<b>desist</b> 16:17	406:19	196:9 205:14
<b>delivering</b>	75:10 76:21	<b>desk</b> 73:15	<b>developed</b> 12:7	211:5 245:21
172:10	77:9 82:3	110:22 409:15	62:20	257:21,21
<b>DeLorme</b> 4:2	83:10 85:4,14	<b>desperately</b>	<b>developer</b> 306:9	259:10 271:16
6:12 173:19	86:17,19 87:8	303:2 383:22	341:10,17	271:22 289:9
186:17,22	87:17 91:5,9	<b>despite</b> 28:5	342:4	296:3 344:7
402:9	91:12 93:2,17	368:6 401:4	<b>developers</b> 38:6	375:12 386:14
<b>demand</b> 38:1,8	94:2,5,10 95:3	439:14	51:21 128:22	408:18,21
106:21 295:14	95:7,14 96:22	<b>destroy</b> 262:20	130:1 134:17	435:12
<b>demanding</b>	99:21 101:3	300:13 301:17	164:4 295:4	<b>differential</b>

232:3	4:5 9:20 31:13	356:16 370:12	<b>dismiss</b> 340:13	35:3,19 36:7
<b>differently</b> 53:9	36:22 37:4	<b>discourages</b>	436:5	37:6,20,22
117:3 313:15	56:10 57:15	296:18 338:13	<b>dismisses</b> 34:2	38:15 39:14
<b>differs</b> 259:21	101:22 168:6	<b>discover</b> 285:10	<b>displace</b> 41:2	40:1 43:5 44:1
<b>difficult</b> 25:21	169:3 333:9	308:3	298:12 370:9	44:16 45:13
50:19 51:20	<b>Directors</b> 204:10	<b>discovered</b>	<b>displaced</b> 46:4	50:2 51:20
88:20 91:20	426:16	308:1	174:22	58:6,10 72:6
101:5 106:2	<b>dirty</b> 457:21	<b>discrepancy</b>	<b>displacement</b>	81:18 83:21
128:3 137:20	<b>disability</b> 158:21	309:3	41:6,14 178:2	87:6 88:7 91:8
160:15 161:11	<b>disabled</b> 287:3	<b>discriminating</b>	293:22 296:5	95:17 96:20
165:3 177:3	289:15	393:21	367:12	108:5 116:20
264:2 273:7	<b>disadvantage</b>	<b>discriminatory</b>	<b>displacing</b> 45:21	119:22 125:3
285:10 349:15	113:4	345:17	<b>disproportion...</b>	128:3 148:2
350:6,7 363:21	<b>disadvantaged</b>	<b>discuss</b> 70:6	62:15	149:3 151:11
395:8	89:11 95:16	81:5 103:8	<b>dispute</b> 269:5	162:11,12
<b>difficulty</b> 160:6	162:6 447:12	136:17 189:11	<b>disputing</b> 369:6	173:22 174:17
166:8	<b>disadvantages</b>	224:5 246:6	<b>dissatisfied</b>	175:5 176:19
<b>dilemma</b> 376:9	178:21	295:20 410:8	419:2	199:2 210:3
376:12	<b>disagree</b> 338:8	<b>discussed</b> 29:5	<b>distinctive</b> 44:11	211:10 222:8
<b>dilemmas</b>	<b>disappearing</b>	69:16 141:5	203:6	226:18 248:18
452:11	7:19 8:7 13:18	232:14 258:2	<b>distinguished</b>	249:8 262:20
<b>diligence</b> 358:3	88:6 106:21	<b>discusses</b> 178:10	219:17	267:3,9 274:1
369:10	<b>disappointing</b>	<b>discussing</b> 9:10	<b>distortion</b>	276:8 279:12
<b>diligent</b> 390:6	22:1	29:15 39:3	275:18	280:22 284:11
<b>diligently</b> 373:9	<b>disarray</b> 255:10	119:15 158:19	<b>distracting</b>	293:15 294:5
<b>diminish</b> 372:5	<b>disaster</b> 333:8	240:7 249:14	36:20	296:3 298:9
<b>diminished</b>	<b>discern</b> 91:20	<b>discussion</b>	<b>distress</b> 422:2	302:1,7,19,20
207:3	<b>disclaim</b> 153:8	113:14 146:20	<b>distribute</b>	303:2 335:7
<b>Dinwillow</b>	<b>disclaimer</b>	180:16 219:22	208:14 285:16	337:6,14,22
130:22	153:12	382:14 409:17	422:11	338:10 339:21
<b>dipping</b> 359:1	<b>disclosed</b> 153:9	<b>discussions</b>	<b>distributing</b>	340:8,15,15,16
375:5	407:11	119:18,19	16:4	343:2 355:4
<b>direct</b> 300:15	<b>disclosure</b> 1:9	120:5 129:14	<b>distribution</b>	356:15,18,22
302:19 330:18	17:13 18:7	139:9 204:4	158:20 371:18	364:22 366:22
335:12 339:2	57:13 60:7,10	392:5	<b>distributions</b>	371:3 372:15
339:12 413:6	65:14 66:12	<b>disenfranchised</b>	106:9	373:10 383:16
415:8 431:14	151:9,10,12	371:7	<b>district</b> 1:1 3:2	387:13 402:14
<b>direction</b> 107:17	153:6,8,11,14	<b>disincentive</b>	7:18 8:2,7,12	405:22 419:15
217:15 237:5	153:17 154:16	51:21	9:11,19 10:8	419:15 432:11
406:12	166:10 367:14	<b>disincentives</b>	12:7 22:9,13	432:12,15,16
<b>directly</b> 57:1	436:16	88:15	22:18 24:21	432:17 435:5
150:21 330:14	<b>discount</b> 250:13	<b>dislocation</b>	27:10,16 28:21	437:4 438:20
332:9 361:19	250:14	175:17	29:10 32:17,19	441:6
448:14	<b>discourage</b> 52:4	<b>dismembered</b>	33:7,9,10,13	<b>District's</b> 33:17
<b>director</b> 2:19 3:5	297:17 338:2	214:20	33:20 34:10	35:6 174:2

175:12 176:12 177:8,21 293:20 337:11 340:10 <b>distrust</b> 54:9 <b>disturb</b> 71:17 73:10 75:1,2 <b>disturbing</b> 33:4 96:8 110:10 111:15 187:15 187:20 189:20 <b>disturbs</b> 182:3 <b>diversion</b> 440:17 <b>diversity</b> 15:2 41:15 109:11 109:12,16,20 138:10 383:5 <b>diverted</b> 439:13 <b>divide</b> 250:5 <b>dividing</b> 205:4,7 <b>diving</b> 91:16 <b>division</b> 8:22 138:14 <b>divisions</b> 138:13 <b>dizzying</b> 296:6 <b>Doctor</b> 204:19 <b>document</b> 36:4 <b>documentable</b> 269:7 <b>documentation</b> 72:10 <b>documented</b> 32:21 315:17 <b>documents</b> 179:1 375:7,22 436:14 <b>doesn't</b> 215:14 272:21 <b>dog</b> 443:1 <b>doing</b> 24:18 28:13 52:4 82:12 146:4 163:12 205:2 217:10 218:9 232:17 233:4	240:13 244:12 274:17 275:9 279:7 281:4 301:19 304:1 327:7 328:19 329:8 345:14 352:10 358:20 379:6 380:1 398:1 418:6,6 437:8 438:8 448:15 452:1 459:1 <b>Dolan</b> 6:15 424:17 425:6 425:22 426:1,5 427:3,4,5 452:9,22 453:13,17 454:2,7,17 <b>dollar</b> 79:15 80:18 215:10 220:8 391:4 <b>dollars</b> 39:16 79:6 82:9 109:2 143:17 143:20 144:21 151:21 152:1,2 212:13 216:18 216:19,21 217:1 237:1 264:16 286:6 300:18 334:12 343:19 386:22 405:3 408:8 419:15,16,17 <b>domestic</b> 50:17 <b>domicile</b> 271:16 276:4,5,10 281:6 289:16 <b>domiciled</b> 271:17 276:12 <b>domiciliaries</b> 107:7 <b>domiciliary</b> 271:19	<b>Donna</b> 5:19 291:12,12,16 326:19,20 327:4 <b>don't</b> 106:18 114:11 136:13 245:11 399:4 411:2 413:5 440:5 <b>door</b> 119:11 221:20 285:16 285:17 374:22 378:18 436:8 448:19 <b>doors</b> 16:6 183:15 202:20 203:15,15 448:18 <b>Dorchester</b> 5:4,6 5:8 6:7 247:1 277:1,3 278:8 278:11,14 279:14,19 281:13 283:2,3 289:2,3,6 290:9 355:17 355:19 367:9 368:7 370:16 <b>dormitories</b> 275:3,5,9 <b>dormitory</b> 261:3 275:12 <b>Dorothy</b> 4:22 246:15 247:16 259:8 444:5 <b>double</b> 82:11 250:4,8 359:1 375:5 <b>doubled</b> 33:11 297:9 438:12 <b>doubling</b> 212:16 250:6 <b>doubt</b> 70:17 83:11 251:21 <b>Douglass</b> 131:1	<b>downstairs</b> 66:7 66:8,19 <b>downtown</b> 40:14 400:2 <b>dozen</b> 314:3 380:14,16 <b>Dr</b> 4:5 94:12,20 102:1 133:20 204:9,11,13,14 205:9,11 206:5 206:6,12,15 209:8,9 218:2 218:5 222:2 312:5 449:19 <b>draft</b> 42:19 <b>drafted</b> 18:19 69:17 147:1 165:16 178:7 303:16 <b>dramatic</b> 252:2 296:4 411:1 <b>dramatically</b> 176:21 205:14 <b>draperies</b> 152:4 <b>draw</b> 254:6 <b>drawn</b> 308:19 313:12 346:20 383:19 <b>dreaded</b> 339:16 <b>dream</b> 337:15 438:11 <b>Drell</b> 449:19 <b>drill</b> 107:1 <b>drive</b> 126:10 129:18 374:15 440:16 450:11 <b>driven</b> 107:20 107:21 <b>driver's</b> 161:19 267:10 <b>driving</b> 129:19 391:12 <b>dropout</b> 127:15 <b>dropping</b> 105:3 444:16	<b>droves</b> 85:12 <b>drowning</b> 447:10 <b>drug</b> 333:4 <b>drugs</b> 210:22 332:20 456:13 <b>dryer</b> 116:11 <b>dryers</b> 116:15 <b>DTA</b> 280:11 <b>due</b> 13:16 178:8 255:14 257:4 296:5 322:9 323:4 334:22 358:2 369:10 <b>dump</b> 216:20 <b>dumping</b> 66:6 <b>Dupont</b> 225:16 341:9 427:10 <b>durable</b> 313:18 <b>duty</b> 59:9 267:11 <b>Dwayne</b> 6:20 455:12 <b>dwindling</b> 306:22 <b>dying</b> 443:15,16 446:4 447:10 <b>dyke</b> 384:11 <b>dysfunction</b> 214:11 <b>dyslexic</b> 208:13 <b>D's</b> 138:15 <b>D.C</b> 1:19,22 2:17 3:20 5:16 6:13 7:20 10:10 22:17 31:12,20,20 32:6 34:17 41:12 42:17 48:11,12 55:17 68:7 89:15 129:20 131:4 148:3 152:3 159:16 162:8 170:21 173:17
---	---	---	--	---

174:13,21 181:7 184:13 184:14 214:17 233:13 271:14 272:4 280:19 291:15 293:2 294:1 295:1,3 296:8,9 303:11 331:17,19 332:13 337:3 337:20 357:18 357:21 366:21 393:9 399:20 399:22 400:5,6 400:20 401:3,5 402:4,10 408:1 408:5 427:13 431:16,20 445:9 447:20 455:13	334:22 365:1 405:1 438:14 444:4,7 <b>earn</b> 34:20 164:10 <b>earned</b> 145:20 <b>earners</b> 298:5 <b>earning</b> 33:2 34:13 35:21 82:10 297:21 405:10 <b>earns</b> 297:22 <b>easier</b> 52:7 98:8 98:10 101:16 131:16 147:21 <b>easily</b> 14:20 60:8 72:21 154:22 302:7 335:2 <b>east</b> 138:14 <b>Eastern</b> 224:16 233:14 <b>easy</b> 86:6 106:6 143:13 147:16 147:20,21 150:1 175:19 182:13 319:12 347:20 <b>eat</b> 164:13 <b>economic</b> 15:2 17:5 32:16 46:12 56:19 149:6 290:7 340:10 395:6 412:15 427:15 <b>economics</b> 99:12 99:16 <b>economist</b> 4:19 246:13,14 247:9 248:19 263:16 300:13 <b>economy</b> 207:15 290:3 <b>Ed</b> 5:21 55:16 326:22 327:14 336:22 337:2	<b>editor</b> 206:19 <b>educate</b> 294:21 <b>educated</b> 295:21 298:8 <b>educating</b> 440:13 <b>education</b> 32:16 55:15 148:12 148:15 166:2 168:18 169:10 169:12 424:15 <b>effect</b> 165:20 193:9,10 251:2 276:9 280:19 318:1 416:13 439:10 <b>effective</b> 59:4 96:7 153:6 179:13 249:7 249:12 334:20 363:18 439:21 440:14 <b>effectively</b> 125:21 369:21 <b>effectiveness</b> 9:1 <b>effects</b> 310:3 403:5 <b>efficiencies</b> 448:3 <b>efficiency</b> 114:16,22 144:21 216:19 216:21 257:18 257:19,20 268:17 269:3 269:18 270:2 305:17 311:21 319:9 398:12 <b>efficient</b> 96:8 363:18 376:15 395:20 403:11 <b>efficiently</b> 363:13 <b>effort</b> 24:11 100:2 107:5	111:12 150:6,9 150:9 439:3 440:12 450:11 <b>efforts</b> 16:8 59:1 280:21 439:9 <b>egg</b> 25:20 <b>egregious</b> 370:8 <b>eight</b> 73:8 158:2 255:20 273:20 290:11 358:10 438:3 <b>eighty</b> 264:15 <b>Eight-year</b> 144:12 <b>either</b> 12:8 29:14 67:22 86:9 87:15 111:5 174:6 266:15 286:7 334:18 381:5 <b>elderly</b> 158:21 335:9 359:5 370:17 381:20 <b>elders</b> 207:16 216:16 <b>Eleanor</b> 5:6 277:12 278:18 278:21 <b>elected</b> 232:1 323:6 <b>election</b> 294:14 301:14 <b>elections</b> 306:20 323:5 <b>electric</b> 395:13 431:22 <b>electrical</b> 448:11 <b>element</b> 8:6 40:6 153:15 371:14 <b>elements</b> 45:11 45:16 453:21 <b>elevator</b> 176:17 188:7 231:17 242:10 290:11 445:12 458:11	<b>elevators</b> 73:12 408:6 <b>eligibility</b> 21:13 21:18 26:18 156:8 <b>eligible</b> 22:16,20 49:11 <b>eliminate</b> 98:3 250:20 251:4 263:22 266:3 416:18 <b>eliminated</b> 29:3 29:4 69:4 142:22 <b>eliminates</b> 318:2 <b>eliminating</b> 70:12 <b>elimination</b> 136:2 <b>Elizabeth</b> 424:20 425:9 <b>embraces</b> 64:14 <b>emergency</b> 249:9 <b>emotional</b> 446:2 <b>emphasis</b> 32:17 53:7,10 <b>emphasize</b> 46:18 155:19 163:15 301:7 380:18 410:7 <b>empirical</b> 106:7 <b>employed</b> 97:18 <b>employee</b> 159:2 439:19 <b>employees</b> 25:4 80:3,4 162:8 440:7 <b>employing</b> 296:6 <b>empower</b> 294:21 <b>Empowered</b> 298:7 <b>empowering</b> 435:13 <b>empowers</b> 9:10
<b>E</b> e 5:20 7:1,1 159:1,2 241:10 241:10 291:18 326:21 331:13 <b>eager</b> 20:15,17 42:20 <b>eagerly</b> 44:6,7 <b>ear</b> 165:4 213:7 213:8 <b>earlier</b> 9:13 29:4 66:5,21 91:15 104:8 110:6 140:2 164:10 242:19 285:7 334:21 351:15 351:16 352:13 352:18 360:8 378:12 416:12 444:2 <b>earliest</b> 404:22 <b>early</b> 9:4 84:2 118:6 134:21 283:5 303:8				

296:8 <b>empties</b> 441:2 <b>empty</b> 261:21 297:16 <b>emulated</b> 214:16 <b>enable</b> 18:8 <b>enables</b> 236:5 <b>enacted</b> 10:12 298:11 403:3 430:13 441:9 <b>enactment</b> 149:12 <b>encourage</b> 60:4 62:19,21 84:7 185:17 254:4 277:8 337:16 381:3 <b>encumbrance</b> 143:18 <b>endeavor</b> 58:16 298:17 <b>ended</b> 215:8 232:10 270:15 <b>endorse</b> 166:16 182:20 370:22 <b>endorsed</b> 39:5 149:10 155:22 <b>endorsing</b> 167:10 <b>ends</b> 38:8 416:20 <b>endure</b> 177:19 <b>energy</b> 394:20 395:20 <b>enforce</b> 18:8 263:6 274:8 <b>enforceability</b> 389:16 <b>enforced</b> 261:10 <b>enforcement</b> 17:18 18:6 214:10 261:12 <b>enforcing</b> 175:17 <b>engage</b> 85:16	<b>engaged</b> 210:1 402:13 <b>engages</b> 32:15 <b>engaging</b> 17:4 <b>engineer</b> 50:21 <b>English</b> 135:12 208:10 285:20 <b>enhance</b> 108:13 375:18 433:9 <b>enjoy</b> 17:2 21:12 364:1 431:5 <b>enjoying</b> 174:13 <b>enormous</b> 352:4 396:9 428:19 <b>enrollment</b> 261:6 <b>ensure</b> 39:20 152:8 156:7 174:19 175:2 297:1 298:4 <b>ensuring</b> 59:10 175:16 176:22 366:15 <b>enter</b> 61:20 <b>entered</b> 116:13 <b>entering</b> 48:3 <b>entertain</b> 64:21 179:16 <b>entire</b> 43:1 180:17 345:10 <b>entirely</b> 421:4 <b>entirety</b> 192:19 194:10 357:7 <b>entitle</b> 19:5 <b>entitled</b> 15:5,6 42:16 79:7 183:13 278:18 278:19,20 320:3 347:12 396:14,15 <b>entitlement</b> 413:15 <b>entrance</b> 220:21 366:3 <b>environment</b>	53:22 63:6 64:17 76:2 83:13 84:19 290:6,6,7 298:6 336:11 408:13 443:2 <b>equal</b> 150:8 332:1 357:20 <b>equally</b> 178:4 <b>equation</b> 85:21 86:4 <b>equity</b> 73:10 110:14 129:22 185:20 187:22 207:19 <b>ergo</b> 280:7 <b>erodes</b> 433:14 <b>escalating</b> 35:11 41:12 252:1 <b>escalation</b> 252:2 407:10 <b>escaped</b> 25:1,2 <b>escrow</b> 342:3 <b>especially</b> 135:16 256:6 285:19 391:13 454:22 <b>Esquire</b> 3:17 4:1 5:4 6:12 170:17,19 277:1 <b>essence</b> 434:3 <b>essential</b> 40:22 41:3 176:9 284:19 304:10 366:8 367:15 367:18 369:18 <b>essentially</b> 126:16 149:10 270:11 335:1 433:22 <b>establish</b> 23:8 26:1 107:6 109:8 112:15 148:17 155:7	286:9 357:14 <b>established</b> 9:15 13:4 42:15 112:17 125:16 148:8 150:17 216:9 219:9 424:12 <b>establishing</b> 99:15 106:5 113:19 156:4 <b>establishment</b> 60:16 <b>establishments</b> 61:8 <b>estate</b> 58:11 63:19 84:1 115:12 117:8 153:15 182:7 184:16 198:14 219:6 265:1 303:1 322:11 337:6 360:21 361:3 378:5,20 382:16 395:12 402:14 428:1 431:20 447:15 456:9 <b>estimate</b> 429:10 430:10 <b>estimation</b> 267:21 <b>et</b> 25:4 43:20,20 120:10 236:10 <b>evaluate</b> 167:15 <b>Evans</b> 11:18 15:21 19:3 <b>evening</b> 427:4 455:13 <b>event</b> 362:11 <b>events</b> 254:19 <b>eventually</b> 167:20 236:16 446:22 <b>everybody</b> 28:20 32:14 92:10	196:11 212:1 232:9 243:3 353:2 355:21 360:3 440:2 449:21 <b>everybody's</b> 247:3 276:21 392:4 444:13 <b>everyday</b> 342:10 <b>evict</b> 202:7 <b>evicted</b> 273:12 385:4 441:1 <b>evicting</b> 443:18 <b>eviction</b> 272:19 285:18 <b>evictions</b> 159:14 272:18 282:14 384:20 <b>evidence</b> 145:22 <b>evil</b> 339:16 <b>eviscerated</b> 421:6,7 <b>evisceration</b> 11:7 13:16 349:21 <b>evolution</b> 63:19 75:16 <b>exacerbates</b> 338:15 <b>exact</b> 410:21 <b>exactly</b> 67:9 73:18 78:5,22 80:9 91:13 92:15 94:17 99:5 100:17 126:5 159:19 176:6 190:20 221:1 228:7 230:6 319:16 320:17 405:11 450:1 <b>examine</b> 75:21 307:8 <b>example</b> 12:19 98:12 110:21
---	--	---	--	--

115:9 116:10 130:12 152:10 182:2 183:2,3 191:2,6 195:4 199:13 208:9 250:11 256:12 257:3,15 264:2 264:3 265:8 271:2 302:15 313:2 315:8 319:3 324:6 325:15 333:3 342:19 343:2 347:1 363:9 414:15 439:17 451:20 <b>examples</b> 40:16 43:16 116:19 177:13 310:20 450:16,17 <b>exceeds</b> 309:7 <b>excellent</b> 304:8 322:16 <b>exception</b> 192:22 193:3 <b>exceptional</b> 193:6 <b>exceptions</b> 214:21 357:9 <b>excess</b> 424:8 457:13 <b>excessive</b> 359:9 <b>exchange</b> 24:7,8 269:15 347:20 <b>exchanged</b> 352:6 <b>excited</b> 101:15 <b>exciting</b> 148:22 148:22 149:3 303:16 <b>excluded</b> 271:4 <b>excuse</b> 15:9 83:6 153:7 226:4 238:21 240:10 289:7 338:19	411:3 417:20 446:10 459:22 <b>executive</b> 2:19 5:14 31:13 36:22 37:4 57:21 171:7 173:12 194:15 198:18 299:17 300:4 <b>exemption</b> 158:21 <b>exempts</b> 280:17 <b>exercise</b> 285:22 296:1,11 298:7 <b>exist</b> 70:13 164:9 179:1 281:18 338:13 401:20 <b>existence</b> 437:12 <b>existent</b> 334:10 <b>existing</b> 15:5 38:9 40:21 58:4 59:1 84:21 86:5 151:13 175:10 175:13 176:2,5 176:6 177:16 193:22 301:5,9 320:2 325:8 335:19 338:15 338:17 365:19 394:14 410:11 428:7 429:18 431:11,14 <b>exists</b> 211:5 <b>exiting</b> 175:15 <b>expand</b> 58:19 106:12 294:4 <b>expanded</b> 142:15 371:11 <b>expansion</b> 85:20 <b>expect</b> 153:4 169:9 212:9 307:10 414:20 <b>expectations</b> 60:17	<b>expecting</b> 9:3 <b>expendable</b> 412:5 <b>expenditures</b> 74:7 <b>expense</b> 129:2 151:22 256:19 369:16 394:19 428:14 <b>expenses</b> 72:10 78:18 80:10,14 80:22 143:22 144:1,4 225:3 264:22 372:3 427:20 <b>expensive</b> 35:3 314:4 428:19 <b>experience</b> 39:17 83:16 117:4 118:20 126:14 133:13 162:22 213:22 218:6,10 226:20 236:13 255:11 <b>experienced</b> 165:3 256:14 389:9 <b>experiences</b> 62:16 114:14 130:13 257:4 <b>experiencing</b> 365:6 <b>expert</b> 112:1 269:1 <b>expertly</b> 357:2 <b>experts</b> 9:6 62:2 63:5 81:14 92:9 133:4,21 <b>expire</b> 451:5 <b>expired</b> 154:18 159:12 194:7 314:7,8 442:3 <b>expires</b> 451:5,6 <b>explain</b> 78:5	79:17 92:14 240:19 <b>explained</b> 256:5 <b>explanation</b> 18:5 114:21 154:9 <b>explode</b> 63:19 <b>exploding</b> 84:4 <b>exploration</b> 368:5 <b>explore</b> 147:19 <b>expose</b> 452:7 <b>exposed</b> 62:14 <b>exposing</b> 178:22 <b>express</b> 284:3 402:16 447:19 <b>expressly</b> 174:7 <b>extend</b> 459:16 <b>extended</b> 68:2,5 140:22 181:17 186:5 <b>extending</b> 329:20 <b>extensive</b> 236:7 319:6 430:19 <b>extent</b> 167:22 <b>extermination</b> 407:21 408:22 <b>exterminators</b> 308:7 <b>extra</b> 343:19 344:12 426:18 <b>extracted</b> 80:12 <b>extraneous</b> 409:4 <b>extreme</b> 116:19 202:7 347:3 438:6,15 <b>extremely</b> 31:3 58:11 77:16 101:15 117:2 141:10 239:18 242:17 318:8 333:21 358:14 376:17	<b>extricate</b> 80:11 <b>eyebrow</b> 311:21 <b>e-mail</b> 330:18 448:8 <hr/> <b>F</b> <hr/> <b>f</b> 309:18 <b>face</b> 24:19 63:18 87:11 176:18 370:8 446:12 <b>faced</b> 151:19 361:16,22 362:3 363:5 373:19 374:9 387:5 <b>face-to-face</b> 81:13 <b>facilitate</b> 83:5 85:20 <b>facilitates</b> 82:17 <b>facilitating</b> 16:7 <b>facilities</b> 16:12 111:5 187:14 189:17 239:10 304:5 324:10 348:1 <b>facility</b> 162:13 446:20 447:17 <b>facing</b> 338:10 369:16 452:12 <b>fact</b> 28:5 36:3 43:13 45:2 46:7,9,15 65:22 68:10 69:6 71:21 73:6 74:15 78:10 87:12 97:19 104:14 107:1,3 110:12 111:10 112:6,8 123:2,3,10 125:4 140:17 155:21 163:8 169:3 225:5 227:5 230:16
--	--	---	--	--

231:11 233:4	101:21 283:10	385:9 389:7	<b>fell</b> 251:7	110:13,15,17
234:3 239:12	<b>fairness</b> 59:10	396:9 400:1	<b>fellow</b> 16:6	111:1 144:5
242:7 258:5	178:15 453:2	406:16 409:1	114:15 207:16	238:21 240:20
266:2 271:8	<b>Faith</b> 424:21	<b>farce</b> 217:11	208:8	242:3,15
301:14 307:2	425:15,16,20	<b>fast</b> 106:21	<b>felt</b> 169:18	271:14 272:4
309:8 341:2	426:10,13,15	113:2 127:21	242:20 421:19	325:1 326:7
342:15 343:6	426:18,20	129:7	440:6	334:8 350:20
344:5 345:13	442:7,8 447:20	<b>faster</b> 259:22	<b>Femi</b> 392:9	375:8 381:3
345:18 348:20	447:21 454:18	300:14 395:11	<b>Fenty</b> 2:10	428:15
349:2 350:20	<b>fall</b> 100:15 144:4	<b>fat</b> 250:15	11:19 15:20	<b>filed</b> 15:10 19:17
362:21 377:5	377:2 449:8,9	<b>fault</b> 274:13	17:16 19:3,13	55:7 71:22
378:4 381:6	<b>fallen</b> 110:14	<b>favor</b> 15:22	20:7 27:3,4	72:14 74:19
383:20 389:10	<b>falling</b> 23:19	177:16 261:8	30:3 31:9 37:3	101:1 190:8
411:17 417:19	74:17 275:8	284:9 370:2	53:4 67:21	242:1,4 280:3
451:18 456:1	<b>false</b> 195:15	420:15	<b>ferret</b> 118:14	283:5 322:4
<b>facto</b> 399:17	<b>familiar</b> 164:3	<b>façade</b> 430:20	<b>fewer</b> 63:20,20	347:14 348:13
<b>factor</b> 121:11	192:5 300:6,21	<b>fear</b> 51:16,19	297:12,13	350:15,18
309:20 310:7,8	453:15 456:1	52:7,9,18	<b>FHA</b> 254:11	351:7,20
310:9	<b>familiarity</b>	81:16 82:15	<b>fiasco</b> 214:9	<b>files</b> 358:22
<b>factors</b> 15:12	346:2	83:3,7 84:18	<b>fide</b> 272:12	<b>filing</b> 19:20
120:17 121:12	<b>families</b> 34:10	126:11 157:20	<b>Fifteen</b> 190:16	232:10 240:18
122:11	34:20 35:7,9	285:18 295:21	216:17,20	243:21 321:19
<b>facts</b> 96:6,15	35:11,13 38:19	296:10 323:4	<b>Fifty-two</b> 228:16	<b>filings</b> 8:21
105:15 115:2	41:3 46:3,3	<b>feasible</b> 395:5	<b>fight</b> 24:14	305:14 322:19
121:13 152:9	53:14 131:3,6	<b>February</b> 7:13	282:18 295:16	<b>fill</b> 190:6 191:3
456:15	294:22 295:16	19:2 341:16	434:14	191:15 387:14
<b>factual</b> 380:9	332:12 439:6	451:6	<b>fighting</b> 95:22	<b>filled</b> 260:10
<b>fail</b> 195:7	<b>family</b> 34:19	<b>Federal</b> 41:7	158:18 211:14	<b>fills</b> 220:6
<b>failed</b> 280:7	106:19 152:7	164:22 212:2	211:14,19	<b>final</b> 19:10
<b>failing</b> 175:1	219:7 394:5,7	302:7,11,18	343:8	188:16 267:1
<b>fails</b> 326:2	442:21 443:3	405:21 412:21	<b>figh</b> 215:22	273:3 371:10
<b>failure</b> 241:14	<b>family's</b> 332:19	419:16	<b>Figueroa</b> 424:21	<b>finally</b> 19:10
390:11,11	<b>fancy</b> 211:16	<b>feel</b> 77:8 165:6	425:9	20:14 130:21
407:21	<b>far</b> 7:19 12:12	258:3 270:16	<b>figure</b> 162:16	131:10 149:1
<b>fair</b> 13:19 71:12	27:15 61:7	285:21 301:13	190:10,11	256:15 274:5
81:10 117:15	97:21 140:3	400:4,6 401:4	198:19 217:3,5	282:21
135:19 143:9	141:8 142:10	419:1 421:22	235:20 258:5	<b>finance</b> 178:19
166:16 194:17	143:7 149:14	422:17 445:15	309:15 324:14	253:6 332:5
194:18,20	162:14 178:19	450:1 456:5	335:17 347:17	<b>financial</b> 125:18
208:2 244:22	228:7,20,22	458:4,12	350:1 391:4	220:11 323:1
245:1 255:21	246:12 273:15	<b>feeling</b> 149:9	392:6	339:2,12
256:1 264:10	274:19 276:19	352:6	<b>figured</b> 184:3	<b>financially</b>
302:12 415:7	281:2 305:4	<b>feels</b> 74:16	<b>figures</b> 303:6	324:22 325:7
<b>Fairfax</b> 35:2	306:2 333:7	<b>fees</b> 16:18	<b>figuring</b> 309:6	422:7
<b>fairly</b> 100:12	357:13 358:22	<b>feet</b> 200:16	<b>file</b> 100:16	<b>financing</b> 123:4



254:11	128:1	98:2 105:4	426:10 440:21	205:15 368:5
<b>find</b> 14:11	<b>firm</b> 4:1 133:1	136:1	446:2	<b>focused</b> 440:12
118:13 128:2	171:11 173:18	<b>fit</b> 140:10	<b>five-minute</b>	<b>focusing</b> 10:21
134:18 135:10	215:9,9 242:11	172:18	42:11,12 47:21	363:11 433:11
135:15 136:19	402:8	<b>Fitzgerald</b> 4:19	155:16	<b>Foggy</b> 259:19
140:2 190:22	<b>firms</b> 402:12	246:13,14	<b>fix</b> 251:18 409:1	260:16,22
238:2,2 249:21	<b>first</b> 9:18 10:12	247:8,10	412:18 449:4	261:4,11 262:9
265:19 305:10	11:10 17:7	248:14,15,21	<b>fixed</b> 29:9	<b>folks</b> 316:18
306:14 321:4	20:8 22:14	249:4	220:15 362:22	<b>follow</b> 113:8
321:15 324:2	27:6 30:4,10	<b>five</b> 7:8 9:9	416:8 422:1	162:8 248:10
349:8,11	31:11 34:8	19:21 27:21	<b>fixes</b> 406:7	331:5
356:19 359:12	43:10,16 48:11	28:11 31:22	<b>flag</b> 308:6,12	<b>followed</b> 185:1
380:5 412:6	65:15,16 82:13	57:7 66:9	<b>flat</b> 91:21	292:6
418:7,11,12,14	107:5 114:14	83:22 130:11	<b>flawed</b> 432:2	<b>following</b> 11:17
418:14	126:13,15	140:5 141:17	459:3 460:5	24:8 59:14
<b>finding</b> 26:9	139:17 141:14	142:1,1 143:4	<b>flee</b> 356:18	162:2 254:20
76:3 80:21	148:11,14	145:1,4,4,7	<b>flesh</b> 221:5	316:12 357:9
83:15 340:7	157:15 158:16	150:20 157:3	<b>flexible</b> 311:1	<b>follow-on</b> 368:22
348:11 349:14	162:7 164:2	158:2 161:4	313:8 357:16	<b>food</b> 24:14
<b>findings</b> 369:1	166:22 167:15	162:13 166:19	373:20 374:3	208:15 215:22
<b>finds</b> 12:12	171:6 173:7	172:11,13,17	391:13	<b>force</b> 42:15 43:9
322:20	175:5 179:18	173:5,7,8	<b>flip</b> 184:18 385:1	44:8 45:19
<b>fine</b> 18:16 55:22	206:11,14	174:1 180:20	435:15	46:22 47:4
135:21 148:13	207:5 213:19	182:15 187:7	<b>flipped</b> 314:9	55:8 62:2 63:4
206:2 229:10	230:13 240:19	194:19 197:13	319:17	90:8 165:18
278:12 279:6	252:4 258:2	205:7,16 206:4	<b>flips</b> 289:17	184:12 337:16
372:4 373:1	259:3 261:17	206:7,16	<b>floating</b> 92:22	339:6,15 350:8
453:16 454:10	268:10 272:15	217:12 225:18	<b>flooding</b> 275:8	365:11
<b>finer</b> 16:17	279:9 292:5	225:20 232:10	448:9	<b>forced</b> 129:5
329:16 389:7	303:14 315:6	236:1 247:12	<b>flood's</b> 447:11	256:16 315:7
407:21 408:8	315:11 321:21	247:16 248:6	<b>floor</b> 257:22	399:22 400:11
<b>finger</b> 376:9	324:15 328:6	248:11,11,11	430:8 441:2	442:22
<b>fingers</b> 309:1	332:6 346:6	248:17 249:22	<b>floors</b> 406:17	<b>forces</b> 58:15
<b>finish</b> 185:13	348:7,9 354:15	254:2 259:6	455:1	296:6 298:12
218:16 263:9	367:17 371:2	264:13 277:20	<b>flow</b> 121:16	405:12
<b>finished</b> 202:4	393:19 397:19	278:5,13 284:9	<b>flyers</b> 285:16	<b>forcing</b> 175:9
330:4 418:13	435:22 436:15	292:16,21	<b>flying</b> 335:1	181:22
<b>fire</b> 251:3 408:7	436:20 439:9	293:4,6,7	<b>Flynn</b> 5:9 30:7,9	<b>foreclosure</b>
440:9,10	439:12 441:18	294:2 327:12	30:12,13 140:7	428:9
449:13 450:7	444:22	327:17 328:2,4	204:22 277:3	<b>foremost</b> 22:15
451:20,21	<b>first-year</b> 9:16	355:11,14,21	278:3,4,6	<b>foresee</b> 441:4
456:13	<b>fiscal</b> 2:17 7:21	356:8,13 393:4	284:1,2,7	<b>forever</b> 165:11
<b>firefighter</b>	31:12,20 32:7	393:8,11,19	287:12	177:11 320:1
174:21	32:16 55:18	402:16 420:3,3	<b>focus</b> 65:18	322:17
<b>firefighters</b>	60:19 68:7	421:15 426:3,6	67:19 169:9	<b>forfeit</b> 155:6

<p><b>forget</b> 171:11 284:5</p> <p><b>forgone</b> 215:11</p> <p><b>forgot</b> 188:3 449:5</p> <p><b>form</b> 41:21 68:3 81:12 151:10 208:20 302:6 436:3</p> <p><b>formal</b> 86:22 204:6</p> <p><b>formality</b> 73:4</p> <p><b>formally</b> 172:22 217:21 343:9</p> <p><b>former</b> 87:20 278:17 341:6 341:12,21 342:5,5</p> <p><b>forms</b> 272:5</p> <p><b>formula</b> 13:20 78:17 80:20 98:15 143:13 349:2</p> <p><b>formulating</b> 16:10 179:12</p> <p><b>forth</b> 24:16 59:12 66:7,18 187:15 306:15 314:3 342:22</p> <p><b>fortunate</b> 209:1</p> <p><b>fortunately</b> 219:17 398:21</p> <p><b>Forty-six</b> 174:6</p> <p><b>forum</b> 446:17</p> <p><b>forward</b> 20:15 21:9 22:4,14 22:17,21 24:12 26:9,14,17,19 27:7 29:16 48:4,5 49:7,7 49:20 50:11 61:19 67:6,7,8 69:18 71:7 85:6 93:12 99:19 105:13</p>	<p>113:8,19 118:18,19 120:4 132:22 134:14 138:19 139:20,22 158:12 170:22 218:1 246:22 273:9 277:2 291:12,16 292:3 305:9 326:20 327:1,2 352:17,21 354:12 379:14 392:16 418:16 454:15 455:7 460:17</p> <p><b>fossicle</b> 215:16</p> <p><b>found</b> 12:11 33:4 116:13 145:19 157:3 255:1 259:1,12 260:2,5 262:5 273:21 347:1 359:1 444:8 457:11</p> <p><b>founded</b> 293:14</p> <p><b>founding</b> 332:4</p> <p><b>four</b> 33:20 38:20 45:11,16 106:19 144:15 144:21 171:3 171:19 205:19 260:4 264:15 428:2 456:3</p> <p><b>Fourteen</b> 131:10</p> <p><b>fourth</b> 246:21</p> <p><b>fox</b> 95:20 167:21</p> <p><b>fragile</b> 126:8</p> <p><b>frame</b> 99:14</p> <p><b>Frank</b> 444:11</p> <p><b>frankly</b> 23:6 68:13 161:22 370:15 459:7</p> <p><b>Fred</b> 6:3 291:17 355:8</p>	<p><b>Frederick</b> 131:1 354:3</p> <p><b>free</b> 162:10 219:13 404:5 407:13 431:17</p> <p><b>freelance</b> 206:19</p> <p><b>freeways</b> 443:6</p> <p><b>freeze</b> 114:3</p> <p><b>freezes</b> 154:6</p> <p><b>frequent</b> 257:19</p> <p><b>frequently</b> 27:15 102:17 192:21 193:2 207:7</p> <p><b>Freudian</b> 353:8</p> <p><b>Friday</b> 119:11 131:11 364:5</p> <p><b>friend</b> 131:22</p> <p><b>friendly</b> 357:17</p> <p><b>friends</b> 264:5 267:6 360:14</p> <p><b>front</b> 166:2,2,3 230:12 268:12 323:2 366:3 448:18,19</p> <p><b>fronts</b> 447:6</p> <p><b>fudge</b> 310:7,8</p> <p><b>fuel</b> 182:4 264:22</p> <p><b>fulfill</b> 60:18</p> <p><b>full</b> 39:20 43:14 98:1 101:12 136:9 139:5 169:2 170:8 293:15 297:22</p> <p><b>fully</b> 70:15 99:22 100:2 357:4</p> <p><b>functioning</b> 333:1</p> <p><b>fund</b> 39:16,21 43:15 46:9,13 46:16 53:6 107:13 108:21 232:4 388:14 419:14</p> <p><b>fundamental</b></p>	<p>137:12 252:4</p> <p><b>funded</b> 165:7 166:20 258:17 258:21 293:20</p> <p><b>funding</b> 38:22 39:14,18,20 43:14 108:19 419:14</p> <p><b>funds</b> 40:4 41:20 333:18 379:22</p> <p><b>furniture</b> 152:2 375:1</p> <p><b>further</b> 66:1 85:8 111:4 120:5 152:4 180:16 221:6 252:9 257:10 298:10 315:13 316:6 357:8,22 358:3,5 375:18 405:6 428:3 431:16</p> <p><b>Furthermore</b> 242:13</p> <p><b>future</b> 21:15 86:16 229:6 258:5,7 290:16 306:17 307:4,7 350:7 365:5 374:7 378:10 378:11 429:21 430:1 441:10 441:10</p>	<p>335:19</p> <p><b>games</b> 85:2</p> <p><b>gamuts</b> 202:18</p> <p><b>gang</b> 333:4</p> <p><b>gap</b> 258:8 428:6</p> <p><b>Gardens</b> 300:16</p> <p><b>gas</b> 362:4,4 386:21 395:13 431:21 450:9</p> <p><b>gather</b> 295:20</p> <p><b>Gaylen</b> 295:9</p> <p><b>gearing</b> 413:2</p> <p><b>geeze</b> 52:5</p> <p><b>Gehlmann</b> 6:12 392:14,15 393:9,10,12 402:4,6,8 407:2 410:14 410:15 412:8 413:10,12 414:4,6 415:22 418:21 420:1,7 420:10,13,17 421:2,10,12,17 422:17 423:21</p> <p><b>general</b> 3:18 8:19,20 76:12 91:7 224:13 340:11 402:18 422:1</p> <p><b>generally</b> 8:22 49:12 117:4 145:20 181:10 203:15 207:6 313:3 325:10 422:21</p> <p><b>General's</b> 9:3</p> <p><b>generate</b> 37:14</p> <p><b>generated</b> 412:14</p> <p><b>generates</b> 77:17</p> <p><b>generating</b> 123:14</p> <p><b>generous</b> 87:4,5</p> <p><b>genocide</b> 444:20</p>
---	---	--	---	--

**G**

<b>gentleman</b> 269:8	157:12,12	392:2 419:12	289:11 292:1	30:20 31:6,21
<b>gentrification</b>	162:5,10 182:2	420:2 421:16	299:14 305:9	34:4 35:9
382:12 444:19	183:2 190:7	<b>glad</b> 29:3 128:11	312:16,18	44:13 48:4,5
447:4	191:2,6 206:3	128:12 150:14	313:10 316:6	49:7,7,19
<b>gentrified</b>	209:7 225:9	221:14 238:8	317:20 320:3	50:11 64:2
444:19	226:22 230:1,3	262:6 269:14	330:14 339:16	67:11,19 69:1
<b>genuinely</b> 49:12	263:19 264:2	303:22 309:14	344:11 346:7	69:14,19 70:4
<b>George</b> 258:10	267:6 279:3	321:13 322:15	346:22 347:10	70:5 71:2,13
<b>Georges</b> 35:2	305:3 309:9	382:6 414:9	359:10 360:10	73:22 82:6,12
129:6 443:4	313:3 330:17	<b>glance</b> 65:16	362:9,17 363:4	83:4 84:12,14
<b>Georgia</b> 224:18	335:22 337:22	<b>glanced</b> 150:4	363:17 364:17	84:18 85:6,22
227:15	341:2,4 353:2	<b>glaring</b> 22:6	370:17 372:12	88:19 92:6
<b>getting</b> 55:1	360:5 379:3	<b>glimpse</b> 384:5	379:2 381:5,6	93:10 96:15,17
77:7 93:19	382:22 387:4	<b>go</b> 15:13 25:16	387:11 394:1	96:18 99:5
96:7 103:1	409:9 414:18	25:21 27:22	399:13,22	100:11,14
121:8 134:11	419:10 420:22	31:4 35:10	400:20 408:10	105:13 112:10
135:1 157:2	426:17,18	36:15,19 48:19	416:10 424:13	113:8,19 114:3
173:2 175:6	437:11 439:6	49:3 52:6 60:2	437:7 443:3	115:4 116:2
182:14,15,16	450:16 455:9	61:15,19 65:22	454:19 457:10	118:1 119:2,3
183:16,17	459:17	69:18 71:17	<b>goal</b> 60:8 69:20	119:21 120:1,3
185:20 191:9	<b>giveaway</b> 261:15	73:1,3,19 77:5	293:17,19	129:14,18
196:16 212:10	306:1	81:15 84:3	297:18 337:16	130:21 131:2
217:16 219:21	<b>given</b> 18:4 44:13	90:8 94:18	337:22 340:12	134:14,17,18
226:3 235:5	77:14 78:8	96:2 97:4,21	362:21 440:17	136:9,19,20,21
240:13 299:21	99:12 122:6	98:22 99:9	440:19	137:21 139:4
306:17,22	147:15 152:9	110:5 113:6	<b>goals</b> 58:1 59:2	139:19,21
329:21 335:11	154:3,7,9	118:19 121:6	59:12 337:19	140:16 141:1
351:10,11,21	173:3 211:18	124:21 126:21	<b>god</b> 55:17	141:16,17,19
356:2 359:15	212:5 231:13	138:19 141:1	129:14 212:5	141:20,21,22
386:13 401:20	257:18 261:17	180:17 183:5	<b>goes</b> 26:20 32:13	148:14,14
423:13 457:16	285:8 311:2	184:11 185:14	55:21 126:21	149:17,17,19
<b>giant</b> 217:15	329:5 340:3	187:14 190:6	159:7 187:6	150:5,8,19
<b>gist</b> 421:8	374:4 384:21	193:15 194:18	207:13 227:9	158:1 159:14
<b>give</b> 8:9 25:9	419:4,9	197:18 209:12	231:9 260:1	162:3 164:4,9
39:2 40:11,17	<b>givers</b> 208:9	212:14 216:2	321:2,4 322:11	165:10 166:8
52:2 53:14	<b>gives</b> 86:10	219:8,15 221:9	344:15 368:22	167:11 168:14
71:7 75:21	100:8 101:21	222:21 225:11	386:21 415:17	169:4,20,21
78:1,20 79:20	121:15 250:16	228:7 231:9,12	<b>going</b> 7:22 10:14	170:2,13,13
83:6 101:18	250:17 251:14	231:14 233:7	10:20 12:5	171:2,16,21
106:7 113:1	299:8 314:18	235:7 237:18	14:5 15:3,13	179:4 180:14
115:2,9 116:6	314:21 320:2	237:20 253:3,6	20:5 21:8 22:4	182:9 183:2,16
116:9 117:14	<b>giving</b> 135:4	255:2,3 264:11	22:14,17,21	185:5,7 186:20
128:16 133:17	142:6 211:17	265:5,12	26:2,18 28:19	187:3 189:7
134:15 136:15	225:15 313:9	266:20 272:2	28:22 29:20	191:19 193:7
139:5 141:16	335:9 386:5,6	275:6,7 276:22	30:10,11,18,19	193:17 202:4

204:3 209:20	377:2,11,13	217:14 218:19	405:1,2,9,14	142:5,16 146:6
210:2,21,22	378:2,19,21	221:13 248:15	405:22 406:1	149:7 150:8,12
211:9 212:20	381:5,6 382:17	259:8 263:12	408:1 443:8	150:19 151:1
213:3,5,10	384:7 386:2	284:2 285:20	446:10,11,15	154:17 155:15
216:2,3,13	387:12,20	286:10 293:9	457:14	157:9 158:3
217:7,12	388:7,16	299:16 300:1	<b>governments</b>	159:11 161:2
220:12,18,19	390:15 391:20	303:13,15	165:1 444:6	162:2,20
220:20,22	392:6 400:2,8	304:8,11	<b>government's</b>	164:17 166:3
221:16,16,17	401:9 410:10	307:15 318:9	30:21 31:2	166:12,21
222:9 223:12	411:14,14,20	318:14 326:20	208:1	167:3,13,16
223:16 224:2,2	411:20 412:18	331:2 336:17	<b>graduates</b> 89:15	168:11,21
224:6,22	413:14 415:8,9	339:7 340:22	<b>Graham</b> 1:3 2:4	169:21 170:2
230:22 235:16	415:11 417:7	353:13,19	7:2,3 20:12	170:11 171:6
237:15 238:12	417:16,17	380:4,19 383:8	27:1,5 28:14	171:14 172:8
242:11 245:2	418:16 421:21	392:19 409:20	30:3,8,10,14	172:11,17,21
246:20 252:9	432:21 437:7	410:6 425:6	32:2,3,8,11,13	173:2,11 175:2
253:3 255:15	443:5,6 445:1	427:4,17 429:8	36:13 37:2	177:12,22
260:13 264:7	445:3,17	437:8 439:6,10	42:3,10 46:5	179:4,7,17,22
265:12,15	446:22 449:3,4	441:6 449:2	47:20 53:4,7	180:2,5,7
266:13,20	450:15 452:2	455:13 458:12	53:11,19 54:12	181:4 186:11
267:17 268:3	453:6,9,11	<b>goodness</b> 356:4	54:13 55:5,12	186:19 187:2
268:11 269:12	456:12,15	<b>goods</b> 117:19	56:5,22 57:4	188:12 189:7
269:13,14	459:12 460:18	<b>goose</b> 25:19	65:1,6 66:4	190:4,8,13,16
272:16 273:15	<b>gold</b> 216:4 360:2	<b>gorilla</b> 261:1	67:11,14,15	190:18,21
273:17 276:6	360:2,4,6	<b>gotten</b> 39:20	69:14 70:1,4	191:19 192:10
276:20,22	<b>golden</b> 25:20	141:8 211:17	70:18,21 72:3	192:13 194:2,3
277:11 278:9	<b>good</b> 7:2 23:16	236:18 239:3	72:13,17 73:21	194:4,7,14,17
281:17 282:11	32:3,13 48:7	<b>gouge</b> 89:17	74:3,15,22	204:2,6,18,21
282:15 299:19	48:17 50:9	<b>gouging</b> 99:2	76:17 77:1,19	205:7,10,12,16
299:20 304:22	54:18 56:15	<b>governing</b> 209:1	78:6 79:10	205:21 206:3,7
305:9 306:16	57:4,5 61:10	<b>government</b>	81:2 84:13,15	206:11,14
306:17 308:9	65:5,7 72:5	3:18 28:8,18	87:2,16,18	209:8,10,13,16
311:16 320:10	82:18 87:11	30:22 56:6	89:5,9 93:13	209:19 210:7
321:7,8,10,22	92:11,12 97:15	106:14 143:15	97:2,7 103:18	212:18 213:11
328:6 329:6,10	104:11 106:10	145:10 147:12	103:21 104:2,6	217:18 218:16
329:22 331:6	107:21 125:18	162:5 170:17	110:2,3 111:9	218:20 221:7
341:3 343:17	131:1 135:13	170:19 173:17	112:4 113:20	221:14 237:22
343:22 347:6,9	139:1 142:18	181:11 185:10	114:2,6,8	238:2 239:17
349:8,9,17	149:9 150:19	207:17 212:3	115:5,9,15,17	240:6,8,11
350:6,8 355:5	163:5 166:20	244:18 268:22	116:8,18 117:6	241:6,8,14,19
362:5,16 363:6	168:8 170:1,10	288:8 295:3	118:21 120:3	243:2,8 245:6
363:7,8,20,21	172:2 173:11	302:7,11 336:3	127:2 135:2	246:1,4,11,20
367:2 372:12	179:6 187:18	355:4 356:16	139:2,15	247:12,16,21
375:13,19	195:1 196:1,3	378:6 404:7,11	140:16 141:15	248:2,5,9,21
376:13 377:1,2	214:1 215:7,15	404:14,16	141:16,22	253:2,9,12,16

253:19,21	340:20,22	420:7,8,12,15	19:3,14 140:9	<b>groundbreaking</b>
254:6,8 258:20	344:17 345:11	420:18 421:11	272:6 278:3	185:6
259:2,6 263:1	345:22 346:4	421:17 422:10	284:1,7,8	<b>Grounds</b> 80:8
263:4,8,11,12	346:10,14	422:17 423:3	<b>great</b> 10:10 62:2	<b>group</b> 81:10
268:8,16 269:7	347:1,9 348:5	423:11 424:1,4	69:16 89:16	95:19 278:15
269:10,17	348:7,9,11	425:9,12,15,18	120:2 135:22	280:2 287:13
270:5,8,14	349:6 350:15	425:21 426:2,6	148:9 181:3	287:14 294:6
272:14 273:2	350:18,21	426:10,14,17	197:21 204:7	361:22 373:13
273:17 275:14	351:2,4,7,14	426:19,21	213:20 311:14	406:9
275:20 276:11	352:16,21	432:5,9 437:5	318:18 345:1	<b>groupies</b> 445:9
276:13,16,19	353:5,8,13,16	441:19,22	384:13 403:16	<b>groups</b> 99:13
277:15,19,22	353:19,21	442:2,4,5	411:7 412:13	102:3,3 103:2
278:2,5,7,12	354:2,4,6,8,10	443:7 447:21	435:16 451:15	211:22 213:7
278:22 279:3,6	354:12,21	449:12,16	454:11	216:12 284:21
281:11 283:2	355:2,5,8,11	450:2 451:1,7	<b>greater</b> 23:20,21	287:4 336:12
283:21 287:12	355:14,19	451:13 452:4	40:18 81:5	399:15 401:14
288:9,12 289:5	359:19 360:1,4	453:1,14,18	178:10 236:13	<b>growing</b> 37:18
291:1,4,6	360:7,13,16,19	454:3,8,14,15	284:14 296:5	268:4 311:13
292:12,15,18	361:18 364:16	455:6 456:17	324:6 337:4	<b>grows</b> 37:22
292:21 293:1,4	367:5,8 372:11	457:2,4 458:7	413:6,7 419:7	<b>growth</b> 37:7,20
293:10 298:15	372:17 373:3	458:21 459:14	433:19	428:4 429:21
298:19,22	374:18 375:2	459:21	<b>greatest</b> 121:4	456:10
299:5,7,11,14	375:13,17	<b>Graham's</b> 82:19	195:21 369:16	<b>guarantee</b> 63:5
299:19 300:1,9	376:1,4,8,20	<b>grand</b> 130:22	<b>greatly</b> 161:1	306:12 348:22
303:10,14	377:16 379:9	309:10	207:2	<b>guaranteed</b>
307:16 311:16	379:11 380:6	<b>grandfathered</b>	<b>greedy</b> 129:1	76:18 77:1,1
312:8,14,17,20	380:21 381:17	290:20	131:20 164:12	77:20 78:7
313:5,22 314:9	381:19 382:2,5	<b>grandson</b> 121:2	443:18	79:14 91:1,2
314:15,18,21	383:3,12 384:2	<b>grant</b> 457:14	<b>green</b> 161:21	91:11 143:12
315:2,19 316:2	387:8 388:2,5	<b>granted</b> 144:6	312:13,16,17	143:21 245:20
316:8,11,15,22	388:10 389:4	344:8	<b>Greenstein</b> 4:2	347:13 349:1
317:6 318:17	390:14,18	<b>grants</b> 109:1	6:12 173:19	<b>guaranteeing</b>
319:15,17,21	391:20 392:2	188:20	186:17,22	62:5 249:10
320:9,21,22	393:1,4,8,11	<b>graphically</b>	402:9	<b>guarantees</b> 73:7
321:6 322:21	393:13,16,18	310:2	<b>Greetings</b>	74:18 187:22
323:17,20,22	396:20 397:2,5	<b>grasp</b> 367:3	209:15,20	<b>guard</b> 208:1
325:12,20	397:8,11,16	<b>grass</b> 213:6	<b>GREGORY</b>	<b>guess</b> 79:13
326:11,17	398:19 401:15	<b>grateful</b> 337:6	79:10	102:22 124:15
327:6,12,17,20	402:1,6 407:1	<b>grave</b> 214:21	<b>grew</b> 438:14	136:13 187:18
328:2,10 330:4	410:2,6,21,22	427:11	<b>grief</b> 214:3	268:10 344:14
330:6,9,17,20	411:6 412:3,8	<b>gravely</b> 432:16	272:20	401:21
331:1,5,8,10	413:10,13	<b>graveyard</b>	<b>gross</b> 32:22	<b>guessing</b> 98:4
331:12,15	414:5,9 415:19	142:22	80:15 192:7	<b>guidance</b> 154:14
335:1 336:20	416:1,5 417:14	<b>gray</b> 5:9 11:19	<b>ground</b> 43:17	<b>guidelines</b> 59:8
337:1 339:6	418:1,21 420:1	15:20 17:16	85:14	379:14